
 

Democratic Services ◦ Chief Executive’s Department ◦ Leicestershire County Council ◦ County Hall  

Glenfield ◦ Leicestershire ◦ LE3 8RA ◦ Tel: 0116 232 3232 ◦ Email: democracy@leics.gov.uk 
 

 

www.twitter.com/leicsdemocracy  

  
www.http://www.leicestershire.gov.uk 

 

 

 

 
  

 

Meeting: Environment and Transport Overview and Scrutiny Committee  
 
 

 

Date/Time: Thursday, 28 June 2018 at 2.00 pm 

Location: Sparkenhoe Committee Room, County Hall, Glenfield 

Contact: Miss C Tuohy (0116 305 5483). 

Email: cat.tuohy@leics.gov.uk 

 
Membership 

 
Mr. A. E. Pearson CC (Chairman) 

 
Mr. D. C. Bill MBE CC  

Mr. G. A. Boulter CC  
Dr. P. Bremner CC  

Mr. Max Hunt CC  

Mr. J. Morgan CC  
Mr J. Poland CC  
Mrs. J. Richards CC  
Mrs B. Seaton CC  
 
 

 
Please note: this meeting will be filmed for live or subsequent broadcast via the 

Council’s web site at http://www.leicestershire.gov.uk 
– Notices will be on display at the meeting explaining the arrangements. 

 
AGENDA 

 
Item   Report by   

 
 
 

1.  
  

Minutes of the meeting held on 31 May 2018.  
 

 
 

(Pages 5 - 10) 

2.  
  

Question Time.  
 

 
 

 

3.  
  

Questions asked by members under Standing 
Order 7(3) and 7(5).  
 

 
 

 

4.  
  

To advise of any other items which the 
Chairman has decided to take as urgent 
elsewhere on the agenda.  
 

 
 

 

5.  
  

Declarations of interest in respect of items on 
the agenda.  
 

 
 

 

mailto:democracy@leics.gov.uk
http://www.twitter.com/leicsdemocracy
http://www.leics.gov.uk/local_democracy
http://www.leics.gov.uk/local_democracy
http://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/about-the-council/how-the-council-works/public-involvement/watch-council-meetings-online


 
 
 
 

6.  
  

Declarations of the Party Whip in accordance 
with Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rule 
16.  
 

 
 

 

7.  
  

Presentation of Petitions under Standing Order 
36.  
 

 
 

 

8.  
  

Response to Petition: Request to Improve 
Road Safety at Moira School.  
 

Director of 
Environment and 
Transport, 
Leicestershire 
County Council 
 

(Pages 11 - 20) 

9.  
  

Additional Highways Maintenance Funding.  
 

Director of 
Environment and 
Transport, 
Leicestershire 
County Council 
 

(Pages 21 - 26) 

10.  
  

Melton Mowbray Distributor Road.  
 

Director of 
Environment and 
Transport, 
Leicestershire 
County Council 
 

(Pages 27 - 84) 

11.  
  

Ash Dieback Action Plan.  
 

Director of 
Environment and 
Transport, 
Leicestershire 
County Council 
 

(Pages 85 - 110) 

12.  
  

Environment Strategy 2018-2030.  
 

Director of 
Environment and 
Transport, 
Leicestershire 
County Council 
 

(Pages 111 - 
166) 

13.  
  

Date of next meeting.  
 

 
 

 

 The next meeting of the Committee is scheduled to take place on 6 
September 2018. 
 
 

 

14.  
  

Any other items which the Chairman has 
decided to take as urgent.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 



 
 
 
 

 
QUESTIONING BY MEMBERS OF OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 

 
The ability to ask good, pertinent questions lies at the heart of successful and effective 
scrutiny.  To support members with this, a range of resources, including guides to 
questioning, are available via the Centre for Public Scrutiny website www.cfps.org.uk.  The 
following questions have been agreed by Scrutiny members as a good starting point for 
developing questions:- 
 

 Who was consulted and what were they consulted on? What is the process for and 
quality of the consultation? 

 How have the voices of local people and frontline staff been heard? 

 What does success look like? 

 What is the history of the service and what will be different this time? 

 What happens once the money is spent? 

 If the service model is changing, has the previous service model been evaluated? 

 What evaluation arrangements are in place – will there be an annual review? 
 
 
 

http://www.cfps.org.uk/


This page is intentionally left blank



 

  

 
 

Minutes of a meeting of the Environment and Transport Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee held at County Hall, Glenfield on Thursday, 31 May 2018.  
 

PRESENT 
 

 
 

Mr. D. C. Bill MBE CC 
Mr. G. A. Boulter CC 
Dr. P. Bremner CC 
Mr. Max Hunt CC 
 

Mr. J. Morgan CC 
Mr. A. E. Pearson CC 
Mr J. Poland CC 
Mrs. J. Richards CC 
Mr. W. Liquorish CC 
 

 
 
Webcast. 
 
A webcast of the meeting can be viewed at 
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=3bbT4loiEc8 
 
In attendance. 
 
Mr. B. Pain CC, Cabinet Lead Member for Environment and Highways. 
Mrs. C. Radford CC, Cabinet Support for Environment and Highways. 
 

78. Appointment of Chairman.  
 
RESOLVED:  
 
That Mr. A. E. Pearson CC be elected as Chairman of the Environment and Transport 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee for the period ending with the Annual Meeting of the 
County Council in 2019. 
 

Mr. A. E. Pearson CC – in the Chair. 
 

79. Election of Vice Chairman.  
 
RESOLVED:  
 
That  Dr. P. Bremner CC be elected Deputy Chairman of the Environment and Transport 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee for the period ending with the Annual Meeting of the 
County Council in 2019.  
 

80. Minutes of the meeting held on 6 April, 2018.  
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 6 April were taken as read, confirmed and signed.  
 

81. Question Time.  
 

5 Agenda Item 1

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=3bbT4loiEc8


 
 

 

2 

The Chief Executive reported that no questions had been received under Standing Order 
35. 
 

82. Questions asked by members.  
 
Mr Hunt CC asked the following questions of the Chairman: 
 

(a) Would the Chair agree with me that he or she who pays the piper should call the 
tune and residents who live in a Residence Preference Parking Zone pay 
handsomely for the service and as such their views should be given a higher 
priority? 
 

(b) Would he agree that where minor changes to a Residence Preference Parking 

Zone scheme are overwhelmingly requested by residents this should be 

considered? 

(c) We know that highway improvements are heavily restricted by policy recently 

outlined in an excellent paper on road casualty reduction, so what is the current 

policy when residents require modest changes in hours or lining?” 

The Chairman replied as follows: 
 

(a) Residents are paying the County Council to take measures to reduce the amount 

of unwanted parking outside their house by implementing restrictions for non-

residents. Prior to any scheme being implemented residents are informally 

consulted on the proposals and have the opportunity to express their views at this 

time. As with all schemes that involve a large number of households there will be 

differing opinions and a compromise needs to be reached. Once reached a 

residents parking scheme is then formally processed through a Traffic Regulation 

Order that is subject to a public consultation. This entitles any member of the 

public, including residents, to comment.  Any changes to a residents parking 

scheme following implementation would automatically be subject to a public 

consultation. 

(b) If a significant number of residents asked for the scheme to be amended, then the 
Council  would consider amending it.  However, any amendment regardless of 
how minor does need to be processed through the Statutory TRO process which is 
subject to public consultation without any guarantee of a positive outcome.    
 

 
(c) Any requests from members of the public are considered on their own merit.  A 

number of variables will be considered depending on the enquiry.  These include, 
but are not limited to, the following: 
 
Number of accidents 
Mean speed 
Type of road   
Duration of the issue 
Impact on emergency vehicles 
Whether schemes support the local economy 
Level of Member/community support 
Number of separate related enquiries in the previous years 

6



 
 

 

3 

Cost of scheme 
Whether there are other works/schemes/projects/developments that include this 
scheme. 
 
To make minor amendments to hours or lining still requires the Traffic Regulation 
Order to be amended, which will be subject to a public consultation with no 
guarantee of a positive outcome. The cost of implementing a new scheme and the 
cost to amend an existing is broadly similar, therefore any amendment to a 
scheme would need to be prioritised within the Traffic & Signals programme of 
schemes.” 

 
83. Urgent Items.  

 
There were no urgent items for consideration. 
 

84. Declarations of interest.  
 
The Chairman invited members who wished to do so to declare any interest in respect of 
items on the agenda for the meeting no declarations were made. 
 

85. Declarations of the Party Whip.  
 
There were no declarations of the party whip. 
 

86. Presentation of Petitions under Standing Order 36.  
 
Mrs Smith, a governor of Moira School and Mr Sheahan the local member for Forest and 
Measham presented a petition, signed by 529 local residents in the following terms:- 
 
“We the undersigned petition the Council to in conjunction with other 
relevant agencies, to urgently address our concerns about road 
safety at Moira School. The school has grown in size from an infant 
to a primary school in recent years and the school run has become 
much busier. There are repeated occurrences of inconsiderate 
driver behaviour and potentially illegal parking, which the school has 
documented and drivers have been spoken to. In the worst example, 
a car was written off outside the school due to double parking and 
we believe action needs to be taken before there is a serious 
accident involving a child. The risks are compounded by restricted 
visibility at the school entrance looking towards Blackfordby and the 
close proximity of the speed limit of 60mph for vehicles entering the 
school’s 20mph zone. 
The school and the local community are working together to reduce 
the likelihood of accident or injury to our pupils, parents or local 
residents. As a matter of urgency we feel that the council should 
carefully analyse and audit the current risks and consider making 
the appropriate adjustments to minimalize these.” 
 
The Chairman thanked Mrs Smith and Mr Sheahan for their comments and attendance at 
the meeting. 
 
 
RESOLVED: 

7



 
 

 

4 

 
That the petition be received and that the Director of Environment and Transport be 
requested to submit a response to the petition at the next meeting of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee. 
 

87. Draft Passenger Transport Policy and Strategy.  
 
The Committee considered a report of the Director of Environment and Transport 
concerning the draft passenger transport policy and strategy. A copy of the report marked 
‘Agenda Item10’ is filed with these minutes.  
 
Arising from discussion, the following points were raised: 
 

i) Alternatives to Direct Responsive Transport (DRT) elsewhere had been looked 
into; however, services such as ‘Arriva Click’ were expensive to set up and not 
currently feasible. If a similar cost effective service were available, in the future it 
would be looked into. 

 
ii) There had been confusion between commercial services and what the County 

Council could offer or subsidise and limited awareness around DRT. The County 
Council was putting on DRT trials to raise awareness in communities.  

 
iii) It was noted Community Transport projects provide accessible public transport 

services and were delivered in partnership with voluntary sector providers and are 
available to all in the community, not just the elderly. 

 
iv) Decisions have to be made by the Council in the short to medium term to deal with 

the immediate challenges facing transport. If the Strategic Growth Plan is agreed 
and finalised it would be accompanied by a Strategic Transport Plan. Until further 
detail is known then the Council cannot start formulating detailed plans to 
accommodate the vision. 

 
v) The unused bus passes given back from Section 106 money were not a loss of 

money to the Council. The Council received money from the developer to mitigate 
any severe impact, if households decided not to use them then they are given 
back. 

 
vi) The cost to residents of DRT would be equivalent to a bus ticket and Bus Passes 

would still be valid, so users would see no difference in cost. 
 

vii) Concerns were raised over the lack of a same day DRT service. Whilst this was 
the rule, some operators would take on the day bookings. The County Council 
would not make decisions on where the DRT service would take users, the 
decision would be made in conjunction with the community in terms of assessing 
shopping, primary healthcare and employment. Schoolchildren would not be 
stopped from using DRT but it would not be designed around the school that 
already have its own home to school transport policy. 

 
Mr Pain CC, Lead member for Highways and Waste thanked the members for their 
comments for the consultation that would end on the 13 June. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 

8



 
 

 

5 

  
That the Director of Environment and Transport be requested to include the  views of 
this Committee in the final report presented to Cabinet.  

88. Performance Report Quarter 4.  
 
The Committee considered a report of the Director of Environment and Transport the 
purpose of which provided an update on departmental performance at the end of quarter 
4 of 2017/18. A copy of the report marked ‘Agenda Item 11’ is filed with these minutes. 
 
Arising from discussion, the following points were raised: 
 

i) The percentage of municipal waste sent to landfill had increased from quarter 3  to 
quarter 4 due to the loss of alternative (non-landfill) disposal points, which is 
outside of the authority’s control. However, the County Council was in the process 
of negotiating an increase in alternative disposal points, which would reduce the 
amount of waste sent to landfill in the future , which would be reported back to the 
committee at a future meeting. 

 
ii) The percentage of waste sent by Leicestershire local authorities  for reuse, 

recycling and composting declined to 47.4% slightly off-track for the interim target 
of 50% due to loss of alternative (non-landfill) disposal points and other influencing 
factors. Members were advised a future report would be brought to committee 
regarding causes. 

 
iii) The percentage of waste recycled from LCC sites’ fell slightly to 54% due to the 

community-based buildings recycling performance being lower. The new 
Environment Strategy would include revised targets for recycling rates across the 
Council. This would be brought to the Committee for consideration on 28 June 
2018. 

 
iv) Five million pounds of extra funding had been granted to the department for 

highways maintenance to deal with the effects of the long winter.  A report would 
be going to the Committee 28 June 2018 going into further detail on how the 
money would be spent. 

 
v) The Department has multiple contracts for waste disposal. It was expected use of 

the Energy from Waste site in Coventry would reduce costs compared to landfill.  It 
is planned that from April 2020 waste tonnages would increase into the Coventry 
site. 

 
vi) The Department clarified it was currently looking into how more waste could be 

reused. The majority of recycling and household waste sites were brought back 
under the Council’s control in July 2017.  Re-use levels were 15% higher in 
2017/18 compared to 2016/17. 

 
vii) New developments and air quality were the statutory duties of the districts, but the 

County Council was working with colleagues from Public Health to look at the 
impact on air quality of schemes designed to help with congestion.  
 

RESOLVED: 
 
That the report be noted. 

9



 
 

 

6 

 
89. Date of next meeting.  

 
It was noted that the next meeting of the Committee would be held on Thursday 28 June 
at 2.00pm 
 
 

 CHAIRMAN 
31 May 2018 

 

10



   

 
 
 

ENVIRONMENT AND TRANSPORT OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE – 28 JUNE 2018 

 
RESPONSE TO PETITION: REQUEST TO IMPROVE ROAD SAFETY AT 

MOIRA SCHOOL 
 

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF ENVIRONMENT AND TRANSPORT 
 

Purpose of the Report 
 
1. The purpose of this report is to advise on the outcome of investigations following the 

presentation of a petition voicing concerns about road safety outside Moira Primary 
School, in Blackfordby Lane. 

 
Background 
 
2. The petition, received by the County Council on 13 April 2018 and presented to the 

Committee 31 May contained 529 signatures.  The terms of the petition are:- 

‘We the undersigned petition the Council to in conjunction with other relevant 
agencies, to urgently address our concerns about road safety at Moira School.  The 
school has grown in size from an infant to a primary school in recent years and the 
school run has become much busier.  There are repeated occurrences of 
inconsiderate driver behavior and potentially illegal parking, which the school has 
documented and drivers have been spoken to.  In the worst example, a car was 
written off outside the school due to double parking and we believe action needs to 
be taken before there is a serious accident involving a child.  The risks are 
compounded by restricted visibility at the school entrance looking towards 
Blackfordby and the close proximity of the speed limit of 60mph for vehicles entering 
the school’s 20mph zone.” 

3. Moira Primary School is located in Blackfordby Lane, Norris Hill just west of Ashby de 
la Zouch and north east of Moira village.  Blackfordby Lane is a route between Ashby 
Road and the village of Blackfordby.  Moira Primary School is on the northern edge 
of the residential area of Norris Hill. (See Fig 1 below). 
 

4. Whilst the main vehicular entrance to the school along with one pedestrian entrance 
to the school grounds is on Blackfordby Lane, the entrance that parents and children 
are encouraged by the school to use when arriving at or departing from the school is 
via Hazel Grove. 
 

5. Blackfordby Lane is the only road specifically referred to in the petition.  However, as 
the main pedestrian entrance used is via Hazel Grove, the investigation undertaken 
following the submission of the petition has also covered the adjacent roads of Hazel 
Grove, Woodlands Way and Ashfield Drive.    

 
 
 
 

11 Agenda Item 8



   

 

 
 

Figure 1 – Location of Moira Primary School 

 
6. The following are present in Blackfordby Lane:-   
 

i. Advisory yellow School Keep Clear markings on the east side of the 
carriageway for a distance of approximately 30 m around the vehicular entrance 
to the school; 

ii. The pedestrian entrance to the school off Blackfordby Lane, is approximately 
40m south of the vehicle entrance; 

iii. The school entrances on Blackfordby Lane are encompassed by a 30 mph 
speed limit. The commencement of the national speed limit is approximately 
100m north of the vehicle entrance; 

iv. There is an advisory 20 mph speed limit in the vicinity of the school entrance 
during school hours (with complementary warning signs and flashing amber 
lights at school entry and exit times- shown in figure 1). This serves the purpose 
of alerting drivers to the presence of the school, especially at times when 
children are likely to be arriving at or departing from school; and,  

v. The whole of Blackfordby Lane is street lit.  
 
Data - Road Accidents, vehicle speed and traffic volumes 
 

Accidents 

7. With regard to accidents occurring at school drop off and pick up times, within 
Leicestershire in the last six years there have been 31 of these that have involved 
casualties under the age of 18, within 100m of a school premises.  This shows that, 

12



   

on a county wide basis, the incidence of children being injured in road accidents is 
relatively low. 

 
8. Records show that in the last five years in Norris Hill, there have been three recorded 

slight injury accidents and one fatal accident. These all occurred outside of school 
times and did not include pedestrian injury. None of these recorded accidents are 
related to speed (two involved right turn manoeuvres, the other two were non-traffic 
related).  All of the recorded accidents are not in the vicinity of the school and no 
causation pattern can be linked to them.  

 

Speeds 

9. Speed information surveys were undertaken from 4 May 2018 for 7 days in 
Blackfordby Lane adjacent to the Primary School in both directions (see Figure 1).  
The investigation focussed on speed information gathered during school days only 
during that period. 

 

10. The surveys showed that on school days, the 85th% (the speeds at which 85% of 
drivers are travelling at or below) and the average speed for the whole day in both 
directions were measured at 35.0 mph and 28.6 mph respectively. The figures for the 
hours during school drop off and pick up times (08.00 – 09.00 and 15.00 – 16.00) 
were slightly lower, at 33 mph and 25.4 mph respectively. The 85th% and the average 
speed for vehicles traveling in the Northwest bound lane were measured at 34mph 
and 28.5mph and on the Southeast bound lane 35.0mph and 26.5mph. 

 

Traffic volumes 

11. The surveys in May 2018 also showed current traffic volume levels along Blackfordby 
Lane outside the school.  The average school day volume total for a 24 hour period 
was 2516 vehicles (1353 southbound and 1163 northbound).  There were 
pronounced am and pm peak flows at 8-9 am (a maximum of 242 vehicles two way) 
and 4-5pm (265 vehicles two way).  

 

12. The maximum two way capacity for this road, as contained within Design Manual for 
Roads and Bridges (DMRB), is 900 vehicles per hour.  

  

Data - Parking Surveys  
 
13. Parking surveys were undertaken over three consecutive days in May 2018 (8 May to 

10 May) to gauge first-hand the extent of the parking issues around Moira School. 
 

14. These surveys were undertaken on Blackfordby Lane (between the point where the 
30 mph limit commences by the entrance to the Drift Side property to the junction 
with Woodlands Way).  These were covered by cameras in Zones 1, 2 and 3 (see Fig 
2. below). 
 

15. Further surveys were undertaken between 15 May and 17 May 2018 on other roads 
near the entrance used for arriving and departing children, covering parts of 
Woodlands Way (between its junctions with Blackfordby Lane and Ashfield Drive), 
Hazel Grove and Ashfield Drive (by its junction with Woodlands Way).  These were 
covered by cameras in Zones 4, 5 and 6. See Figure 2 below showing a plan of the 
survey zones. 

13



   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Figure 2 – Plan of Parking Survey locations around Moira Primary School 

 
 
16. Both sets of surveys covered the periods 7-10 am and 2.30-5 pm to cover the main 

school drop off and pick up times and either side of these times. The primary school 
start time is 8.55am and the finish time is 3.10pm. Whilst the surveys did not 
specifically identify the difference between resident and temporary parking for school 
purposes, the survey times enabled assessors to judge the latter based on the 
amount of vehicles parked well outside the very well defined peak times.  For all 
roads, photographs taken during the survey were then analysed to estimate the 
number of parked vehicles.  

 
Blackfordby Lane 
 
17. The results for Blackfordby Lane (Zones 1, 2 and 3) showed that at both school drop 

off and pick up times, parking levels on the whole length of Blackfordby Lane 
surveyed only rose by up to a maximum of 5 vehicles at any one time (as shown in 
figure 3).  A small number of these vehicles parked partly on the footway, albeit for 
short periods of up to 15 minutes.  The surveys showed that residents of Blackfordby 
Lane also park partly on the footway.   
 
 
 
 

 

14



   

 
 

Figure 3 – Maximum parking in Blackfordby Lane (15.16hrs Wednesday 9th May) 

 
Woodlands Way, Hazel Grove and Ashfield Drive  
 
18. For the section of Woodlands Way (Zones 4 and 6) surveyed, parking occupancy 

showed a short but very distinct peak in numbers, for around 30 minutes each, 
typically between 8.30-9am and 3-3.30pm.  The maximum additional vehicles parked 
associated with the school amounted to 8 in the morning peak and 10 in the 
afternoon.  Very few of these vehicles were recorded as parking partly on the 
footway.  Where this did occur, it was for a very short duration.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Figure 4 - Parking in Woodlands Way (08.57hrs Wednesday 15 May) 

 
 

 

15



   

19. There are more residents that regularly park on the carriageway in Hazel Grove 
(Zone 5), but nonetheless, additional parking associated with the school also shows 
similar short term peak occupancy.  Up to 6 additional vehicles were surveyed at 
these times.  All vehicles parked in Hazel Grove did so exclusively wholly on the 
carriageway. 
 

20. The only part of Ashfield Drive (Zone 6) that was surveyed was the section nearest 
the junction with Woodlands Way.  Additional school related parking was low in the 
morning (up to 2 vehicles) but slightly higher (up to 3 vehicles) in the afternoon.  
Again, there were a very low number of times where vehicles were recorded as being 
parked partly on the footway.  

 
Assessment 
 
Accidents 
 
21. The Council has to manage limited funds for road safety measures and taking into 

account the large number of requests it receives for highway improvements annually, 
current practice is to consider essential safety works only.  The assessment process 
is data led and includes an evidence based assessment with set criteria focussing on 
the number of recorded injury accidents, along with records of excessive speed.  
 

22. With regards to road safety priorities, as described in paragraphs 7-8 above, 
Blackfordby Lane has a good safety record compared to other roads in the County.  
On this basis, the County Council would be unable to justify any further investment in 
road safety measures.  

 

Speeds 

 

23. The speed information detailed above shows that the current level of speeds in 
Blackfordby Lane by the school is higher than the Council would like.  The petition 
noted the proximity of the main vehicle entrance to school and the bend to the north 
with  the commencement of the national speed limit (60 mph), just over 100m away.  
The available visibility from the entrance to approaching vehicles from the right is 
approximately 70m. Measures are already in place to highlight the school and the 
bend; signing of the ‘School Safety Zone’, temporary 20 mph signs and flashers at 
school times, bend ahead warning signing, and SLOW carriageway markings.  
 

24. Whilst the Council is unable to recommend any major traffic calming or safety 
scheme for the reasons noted above, we will provide further encouragement to 
drivers in the national speed limit section of Blackfordby Lane to slow down when 
approaching the 30 mph limit ahead. It is therefore proposed to implement a gateway 
treatment by way of ‘dragons teeth’ marking and 30 mph roundel.  
 

25. At locations such as this, where the Council is currently unable to justify major 
expenditure, local residents can be supported by the Council in taking an active role 
in discouraging excess speed through the Community Speed Watch programme. The 
scheme enables volunteers to work within their community to raise awareness of the 
dangers of speeding and to help control the problem locally and is a partnership 
initiative supported by the Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland Road Safety 
Partnership.  Details of the initiative can be found at: http://www.bealocalhero.com/. 

16

http://www.bealocalhero.com/


   

Parking 
 
26. The surveys show that additional parking taking place on Blackfordby Lane itself as a 

direct result of school drop off and pick up activity, is at a low level and for very 
limited times during days when the school is open.  Parking activity is at a higher 
level on nearby roads; Woodands Way and Hazel Grove in particular.  This is largely 
due to the fact that the main pedestrian entrance is via Hazel Grove.  
 

27. The additional numbers of vehicles parked as a result of children being dropped off 
or picked up from school in these roads occurs for a short time in a well defined 30 
minute window, normally between the hours of 8.30-9am and 3-3.30pm.  The 
surveys have not identified that these levels of parking are causing any specific 
issues of congestion in these streets at these times. 

 
Other feedback  
  
28. Where vehicles are parked in an obstructive manner on footways or across 

driveways and accesses, Leicestershire Police are able to take enforcement action.  
The Local Beat team for the vicinity around Moira School have been contacted and 
they have advised that they are unaware of any specific parking related issues at this 
location. They have asked that they be made aware of any such issues so that they 
can build any enforcement requirements into their patrol plan.   
 

29. The County Councils parking enforcement team observations are that no issues 
relating to parking in the Blackfordby Lane area have been raised with them and they 
have not issued any penalties relating to parking in this location.  
 

30. The investigation also sought opinion of the bus company Arriva to gauge if any 
issues have arisen in Blackfordby Lane that may have affected the operation of their 
bus services. The feedback received confirmed that they had canvassed all drivers 
who drive the route that includes Blackfordby Lane and they not experienced any 
specific issue or concern regarding the parking in Blackfordby Lane. 

 

Other Initiatives 
 
31. There are other initiatives that the school, parents and children attending the school 

and local residents should be aware of that could help address local concern about 
road safety in the vicinity of the school.  These are detailed below.    

 
School Travel Plan 
 
32. The Council has been operating a school travel plan programme since 2000 and 

support is available for introducing a travel plan for any school expressing an interest.  
The School needs to take the lead with such initiatives but the Council will work with 
them to reduce the number of cars arriving at the school gate, by supporting 
sustainable travel initiatives that improve the safety, attractiveness and convenience 
of non-car travel.  More information concerning school travel plans and support 
available can be found at: http://www.choosehowyoumove.co.uk/advice/travelplans/. 
 

33. The school has requested for the Council to assist them with Travel Plan initiatives.  
However whilst the Council’s Safe and Sustainable team have contacted the school 
on three separate occasions,  no response from the school at the time of writing has 
been made to discuss any assistance that the school may require for a Travel Plan.  

17

http://www.choosehowyoumove.co.uk/advice/travelplans/


   

In addition, the Council has not received any requests for a School Crossing Patrol 
for Moira School.  
 

34. It is positive that the school does encourage drivers parking on roads in the vicinity of 
the school, to park considerately in respect of dropped kerbs, accesses and street 
corners by way of large banners at both the vehicular and pedestrian entrance on 
Blackfordby Lane as well as a notice at the pedestrian access to the school grounds 
in Hazel Grove. However, the school is encouraged to engage with the County 
Council to discuss the adoption of a School Travel plan to further encourage safe and 
sustainable travel to the school.   

 

Waiting restrictions 
 
35. Implementing a single yellow line waiting restriction would not necessarily solve any 

parking issues at peak times in Blackfordby Lane, as there is an exemption from 
enforcement that applies when boarding and alighting at school locations, i.e. this 
includes a ‘grace period’ when children are being escorted to or from adjacent school 
premises.  Wardens therefore have difficulty in undertaking any effective 
enforcement action.  
 

36. Notwithstanding the comment above, and the fact that our surveys have not 
highlighted a particular parking issue, if the parish council thought that such a 
measure would be needed at other times of the day and were prepared to fund, the 
County Council would work with the parish and local residents to secure such 
changes.  

 
School ‘Keep Clear’ Markings 
 
37. These markings have been laid in Blackfordby Lane outside the school to try and 

keep an area clear of stationary vehicles to provide a safe area for pedestrians to 
cross.  These are advisory only, but are normally respected by the majority of drivers.  
At some sites, where there have been regular and flagrant disregard for the markings 
by parents, the Council has converted the markings to mandatory.  This involves 
making a Traffic Regulation Order in order to be able to enforce the restrictions.  This 
is an expensive process and in isolation is not something that the Council is able to 
fund as it brings with it an expectation of regular enforcement that is not realistic or 
achievable.  Figure 5 below shows a ‘Keep School Entrances Clear’ information 
poster. 
 
The surveys undertaken in May 2018 have not shown that parking on the zig zag 
markings in Blackfordby Lane is a regular occurrence.   

18



   

 
Figure 5 – Parking on zig zags Information poster 

 
 
38. The Council has recognised community concerns regarding enforcement around 

schools and has agreed a pilot scheme of the ‘Camera Enforcement of School Keep 
Clear Project’, whereby mandatory zig zags markings will be subject to additional 
camera car enforcement.  
 

39. This process will involve, on a case by case basis, reviewing all advisory markings 
and making some of these mandatory and including them within the camera car 
enforcement regime.  This scheme is currently expected to commence in September 
2018.  Moira School had been invited to take part in the trial; however, the Council 
has not received a response from the school on this matter to date.  

 
School Clear Zone Trial 

 
40. The County Council started a trial in April 2018, whereby it introduced an 

experimental Traffic Regulation Order (TRO) in roads around Millfield Academy in 
Braunstone, to implement no waiting restrictions for limited times (weekdays, 8-9am 
and 2-4pm).  This is being done to address safety concerns about congestion at 
school drop off and pick up times.  Civil Enforcement Officers will include the Clear 
Zone area as part of their regular patrols. 
 

41. The trial is currently running for six months to test whether the restrictions are 
suitable and effective.  Monitoring will take place, with views from members of the 
public about the trial taken into account.  Following the end of the trial, a decision will 
be made on the future of the scheme and to consider whether it should be applied in 
other areas of the County.  

 
 
 
 

19



   

Resource Implications 
 
42. The estimated cost of preparing this report, including undertaking the surveys is 

£1,300. 
 

43. The estimated total cost of the proposed carriageway marking entry treatment is 
£1,500 and would be funded from the 2018/19 Traffic Management (Minor Schemes) 
budget.    

 
Conclusion 
 
44. The Council accepts that parking issues in the vicinity of school gates do occur on 

occasions, but that they are unfortunately not easy to govern during these short but 
busy periods of schools opening and closing times. 
 

45. Having considered the accident, speeds and parking data collected, the Council is 
proposing to install an ‘entry treatment’ in Blackfordby Lane. In addition, as noted in 
paragraphs 36-37 above, the Council would be prepared to assist with exploring a 
single yellow line waiting restriction, if funded by the parish or community funded 
scheme.  
 

46. Moira Primary School, along with all other schools in Leicestershire, is encouraged to 
consider adopting a School Travel plan and to encourage safe and sustainable 
travel.  
 

47. The lead petitioner will be sent a copy of the report. 
 

Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure 
 
48. None. 
 
Officer to Contact 
 
Ian Vears – Assistant Director, Environment and Transport   
Tel. (0116) 305 7966 
Email: Ian.Vears@leics.gov.uk 
 
Equality and Human Rights Implications 
 
49. There are no specific equal opportunities implications to note as part of this report. 
 
Background Papers 
 
22 November 2017 – Environment and Transport Overview and Scrutiny Committee – 
‘Parking near schools’ 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=1044&MId=5168&Ver=4 

20

mailto:Ian.Vears@leics.gov.uk
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=1044&MId=5168&Ver=4


 

 
 
 
 

ENVIRONMENT AND TRANSPORT OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE – 28 JUNE 2018 

 
ADDITIONAL HIGHWAYS MAINTENANCE FUNDING  

 
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF ENVIRONMENT AND TRANSPORT 

 
 
Purpose of the Report 
 
1. The purpose of this report is to update the Environment and Transport Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee on the additional Highways Maintenance Funding allocated from 
the 2017/18 corporate underspend by Cabinet on the 22nd May 2018. 
 

Funding Pressures 
 

2. Funding levels for highways maintenance have reduced significantly in recent years 
in line with the Council’s overall financial position. Overall funding across all 
highways maintenance services (including both revenue and capital) has fallen from 
£32m in 2009/10 to £25m in 2017/18. 
 

3. The Department has managed the service demands within the context of reducing 
resources, and overall satisfaction levels with the road network have remained high 
relative to other local authorities over the period. The table below demonstrates this. 

 
 

Overall satisfaction with the condition of roads 2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18

Rank vs County Councils 1 1 1 1 1 1 2 1 1

       Number in County Council Comparator Group* 24 24 22 22 25 24 29 28 31

Rank vs All Participating Authorities 4 9 2 7 11 14 17 21 11

       Number of Participating Authorities 76 95 70 75 70 78 100 106 112

* includes authorities who request inclusion in County Council comparator group  
 
 
4. It is inevitable that there would be pressure points that would emerge. The following 

graph shows how it has become increasingly difficult to maintain the overall network 
condition, and it is the unclassified network where this is manifesting itself most. 

 

21 Agenda Item 9



 

% of network requiring maintenance 

 
 
 
5. Nonetheless, the table below still shows that the relative condition of our network 

compared to other local authorities is still very good. Particular points to draw out are 
that:- 
 

 no authority in England had better road condition across all three classifications 
in 2016/17; 

 all authorities with better Non-Principal road conditions in 2016/17 have 
significantly smaller networks; 

 Cornwall is the only authority with a longer unclassified road network in better 
condition than Leicestershire. The remainder are predominantly smaller unitaries 
with considerably smaller unclassified road networks; and, 

 no County Council had a better road condition in any classification in 2016/17 
than Leicestershire. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

22



 

Local Authorities with better carriageway conditions than Leicestershire County Council (LCC) 

 

 
 
 

6. As at the end of the last financial year there were 1,760 identified areas where 
patching works was required (covering multiple potholes and other related defects), 
and this was continuing to increase by around 20 per week. To address this backlog, 
it is estimated that £5m additional funding would be required over the next two years.   
 

7. In addition, there are also remaining elements of other additional funding (both one-
off and on-going) that have been identified for highways maintenance from previous 
underspends and reassessment of the authority’s overall funding position.  

 
8. In summary, the additional funding is:- 

 The £5m one-off from the 2017/18 asset investment fund to address the 
backlog which will be used to undertake additional patching, pre surface 
dressing patching, surface dressing and resurfacing activity; 

 £3.3m one-off remaining from 2016/17 corporate underspend allocations to 
cover additional highway maintenance activity (including flood alleviation, 
safety works, crash barriers and street lighting columns) as well as to 
respond more quickly (within 14 days) to customer notified potholes; and, 

 £0.6m per annum additional growth for Highways Maintenance for 
potholes/patching, drainage/gullies and signing and lining. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

23



 

9. The following graph shows the historical funding levels by year along with the 
projected funding up to 2020/21. The graph shows what the position would be both 
with and without this additional allocated resource. 
 

 
Additional funding included in profile from 2018/19:  Previous funding indicated by green line              

 
Conclusion 
 
10. The future funding position for highway maintenance still shows a significant 

reduction from historical values, even with the additional funding allocated.  
Maintaining the network therefore will continue to be challenging.  However, this 
additional funding should positively contribute to helping the Council retain its current 
performance by allowing some of the immediate pressures points to be addressed 
and reduce the level of potholes and other defects that will emerge on the network in 
the medium term, especially as the Council increasingly moves towards using more 
preventative type treatments. 

 
Background Papers 
 
22 May 2018 – Cabinet - 2017/18 Provisional Revenue and Capital Outturn 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=5402&Ver=4 
 
21 February 2018 - County Council – Medium Term Financial Strategy 2018/19 to 
2021/22 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=134&MId=5105&Ver=4 
 
Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure 
 
None. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

24

http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=5402&Ver=4
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=134&MId=5105&Ver=4


 

Officers to Contact 
 
Ann Carruthers 
Director of Environment and Transport 
Tel:   (0116) 305 7000  
Email:  Ann.Carruthers@leics.gov.uk  
 
Ian Vears 
Assistant Director of Environment and Transport 
Tel:   (0116) 305 7966  
Email:    Ian.Vears@leics.gov.uk  
 
 
Equality and Human Rights Implications 
 
There are no direct implications arising from this report. 

 
 
 

25

mailto:Ann.Carruthers@leics.gov.uk
mailto:Ian.Vears@leics.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 
CABINET – 6 JULY 2018 

 

NORTH AND EAST SECTIONS OF THE MELTON MOWBRAY 
DISTRIBUTOR ROAD PROPOSALS 

 

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF ENVIRONMENT AND TRANSPORT 
 

PART A 
 

Purpose of the Report 
 
1. The purpose of this report is to advise the Cabinet of progress with the delivery 

of the north and east sections of the Melton Mowbray Distributor Road (MMDR), 
notably the success of the bid to the Department for Transport’s (DfT) Large 
Local Majors Fund, and to seek approval to submit a planning application for 
the north and east section of the MMDR, in accordance with the Preferred 
Route.  

 
2. As part of this process, the report also seeks approval for the Director to make 

and implement Compulsory Purchase Orders (CPOs) and Side Roads Orders 
(SROs) which will be necessary to develop the route. 

 
3. This report also sets out issues to be considered further during the next stage of 

work on the project, notably the funding arrangements and the assessment and 
mitigation of environmental impacts arising from construction of the road.  

 

Recommendations 
 
4. It is recommended that: 

 
(a) The progress with regard to the MMDR scheme development be noted, in 

particular:- 
 

(i) Agreement of the Preferred Route by the Director of Environment 
and Transport, following consultation with the Lead Member, which 
will be used as the basis for continuing work;  

   
(ii) The award of £49.5m from the DfT Large Local Majors Fund; and, 
 
(iii) The latest cost estimate of £63.5m for the scheme, which will form 

the basis for the planning application; 
 

(b) The Director of Environment and Transport be authorised to submit a 
planning application for the north and east section of the MMDR in 
accordance with the Preferred Route; 
 

27 Agenda Item 10



 

(c) That the  Director of Environment and Transport and Director of Corporate 
Resources be authorised, in consultation with the Director of Law and 
Governance and following consultation with the relevant Cabinet Lead 
Members, to:- 

 
(i)  Agree minor alterations to the scheme that may arise as a 

consequence of detailed design work; 
 
(ii)  Continue discussions with landowners and other stakeholders, with a 

view to reaching voluntary agreement over the purchase and/or 
reservation of land for the northern and eastern sections of the 
MMDR where possible and, 

 
(iii)  Take all necessary steps to make, confirm and implement 

Compulsory Purchase Orders and Side Roads Orders associated 
with the scheme pursuant to the Highways Act 1980 and the 
Acquisition of Land Act 1981; 

 
(d) That it be noted that further reports will be submitted to the Cabinet on 

progress with the scheme, including following the consideration of the 
planning application (expected early 2019).   
 

(e) That the Director of Corporate Resources be authorised to sign the 
Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) between the County Council and 
Melton Borough Council (MBC), which sets out the financial arrangement 
for funding the local contribution to the scheme.  
 

Reason for Recommendations  
 
5. Submission of a planning application in the summer/autumn of 2018 will allow 

the scheme to progress to the deadlines indicated by the DfT, with a 
construction start date of summer 2020. 

 
6. The MMDR alignment is now fixed as the Preferred Route but minor alterations 

to the scheme may be required through the detailed design and planning 
process. 

 
7. Wherever possible, the acquisition of land and rights will be conducted by 

negotiation and agreement with landowners.  However it is likely that the 
Compulsory Purchase process will be critical to acquiring land for the scheme 
delivery, and Side Roads Orders will enable the Authority to make alterations to 
roads or rights of way which would otherwise affect the route. 

 

8. Authorising chief officers to proceed with the various actions set out in 
recommendation (c) will enable the work to progress in accordance with the DfT 
timetable, with construction commencing 2020.  Notwithstanding this, any 
significant changes or issues would be the subject of reports to Members. 

 

28



 

Timetable for Decisions (including Scrutiny) 
 
9. The Environment and Transport Overview and Scrutiny Committee will consider 

this report on 28th June 2018 and its comments will be reported to the Cabinet. 
 
10. Submission of the planning application is expected to take place in September.  

The planning determination period is 16 weeks, so a decision would be 
expected by late December 2018/early January 2019.  

 
11. Preparation of Statutory Orders - Compulsory Purchase and Side Roads - is 

planned to take place between August and October of 2018, with the Orders 
being made in early 2019.  

 
Policy Framework and Previous Decisions 
 
12. The Cabinet has received a number of reports in recent years on the transport 

strategy for Melton Mowbray and development of a distributor road.  In May 
2016, it was agreed to undertake the necessary consultation and negotiations 
to enable a preferred route to be identified.   
 

13. At its meeting on 12 December 2017, the Cabinet noted the outcome of 
consultation on the proposed northern and eastern route of the MMDR and 
further work that had been undertaken to develop the Outline Business Case 
(OBC).  The Cabinet reaffirmed its earlier decision to prioritise the northern and 
eastern sections of the MMDR, approved the ‘recommended route’ for further 
development and consultation, and agreed to commit funding to submit the 
planning application and to carry out all further necessary work to prepare the 
scheme for construction - subject to the necessary processes being completed.  
The Cabinet authorised officers to carry out various activities including 
continued dialogue with landowners and other stakeholders, acquiring land by 
agreement, and preparatory work for use of CPOs.   

 
14. In view of the extremely tight timescale, the Cabinet authorised the Chief 

Executive to approve and submit the OBC to the DfT by 22 December 2017.  
The Director of Environment and Transport was authorised to undertake further 
engagement and consultation arising from any changes/ improvements to the 
recommended route arising from detailed design work and feedback and to 
agree the ‘Preferred Route’ for planning and acquisition purposes.   

 
15. It was noted that a further report would be submitted to the Cabinet prior to the 

submission of the planning application. 
 
16. Pursuant to the above Cabinet decision, the ‘Preferred Route’ for the north and 

east section of the MMDR was agreed by the Director on 8th May, following 
consultation with the Cabinet Lead Member.  Following development of a route 
plan suitable for release and announcement of the success of our Large Local 
Majors Funding, landowners directly affected by the route were informed by 
letter or email on the 8th June and County Councillors were advised via a 
“Members News in Brief” item.   

29



 

17. As detailed in previous reports on the matter, the development of the MMDR is 
consistent with a number of the Council’s plans and policies.  This includes - 
  

 The third Leicestershire Local Transport Plan (LTP3), which contains six 
strategic transport goals, of which Goal 1 is to have a transport system 
that supports a prosperous economy and provides successfully for 
population growth. 

 

 The Council’s Enabling Growth Action Plan, which supports the 
development of market towns for employment land as a priority, and 
refers specifically to working with MBC to plan for Melton Mowbray’s 
growth. 

 

 The Melton Mowbray Transport Strategy (MMTS), which recognises the 
need to support the town’s strategic growth through transport investment. 

 
Resource Implications 
 
18. The total cost of the north and east section of the MMDR scheme is currently 

estimated to be around £63.5m, including further development costs and project 
development and construction risk, of which £49.5m has now been awarded by 
the DfT from the Large Local Majors Fund. 

 
19. In broad terms, the financial exposure for the County Council is in the region of 

£14m.  It is expected that this will be recouped in later years through developer 
contributions.  However, given the demands on the Authority’s finances, an 
initial agreement has been reached with MBC to develop a mechanism for cash 
flowing the investment, initially through a process of tax increment financing 
from the growth in business rates, council tax and new homes bonus received 
by the County Council and MBC as a result of investment in the new road.  A 
draft Memorandum of Understanding has been developed and similarly the 
exact nature of the financial agreement, in terms of how the level of contribution 
from each party will be decided, is being progressed. 

 
20. The estimated cost to take the scheme through design to the point of being able 

to commence construction work is £4.2m.  The risk element of this cost is in the 
region of £670,000.and includes project design and construction risks. 

 
21. As with all major schemes there is a likelihood of cost overruns.  Although the 

work completed to date seeks to estimate as accurately as possible the scheme 
cost, the funding agreement with MBC will also need to address this (see 
paragraphs 125 to 126 of Part B below for more detail).  It should be noted that 
no additional funding will be available from the DfT over and above the £49.5m. 

 
22. The Director of Corporate Resources has been consulted on the content of this 

report. 
 
 

30



 

 
Legal Implications 
 
23. Wherever possible, the acquisition of land and rights will be conducted by 

negotiation and agreement with landowners but it is expected that the 
Compulsory Purchase process pursuant to the Highways Act 1980 and the 
Acquisition of Land Act 1981 will be critical for timely procurement of the land 
and rights along the route. 

 
24. The Director of Law and Governance has been consulted on the content of this 

report. 
 

Circulation under Local Issues Alert Procedures 
 

25. A copy of this report has been circulated to Members representing the electoral 
divisions in the Melton area - Mr. J. T. Orson CC, Mr. A. E. Pearson CC, Mrs P. 
Posnett CC, and Mr. J. B. Rhodes CC. 
 

Officers to Contact 
 
Ann Carruthers 
Director, Environment and Transport 
Tel: (0116) 305 7000 
Email: Ann.Caruthers@leics.gov.uk 
 
Ian Vears 
Assistant Director, Environment and Transport 
Tel: (0116) 305 7966 
Email: Ian.Vears@leics.gov.uk 
 

 

31

mailto:Ann.Caruthers@leics.gov.uk
mailto:Ian.Vears@leics.gov.uk


 

PART B 
 

Background  
 

26. This report follows on from the paper that was considered by the Cabinet on 12 
December 2017.  The development of a Transport Strategy for Melton Mowbray 
(MMTS) and investment in this was agreed by the Cabinet in 2015, since when 
members have received several reports on the development of an outer relief 
road (now termed distributor road) for the town. 

 
27. Transport assessments for Melton Mowbray indicated the following problems, 

that could potentially be addressed by a strategic highway intervention:- 
 

 Highly significant levels of congestion; 

 High levels of Cross-Town and through traffic with very limited route 
options; 

 HGV movements through the town centre; 

 Limited opportunity to enhance public transport and walking/cycling; and, 

 Constraints to jobs, housing delivery and economic growth. 
 
28. The emerging MMTS indicated that low-cost measures would not be sufficient 

to manage Melton’s planned growth and that major transport infrastructure was 
required.  In May 2016 the Cabinet agreed to undertake the necessary 
consultation and negotiations to identify the route for an outer relief road. This is 
one element of the MMTS which continues to be developed. 

 
29. Recognising that it would not be possible for the County Council to fund such a 

scheme, discussions took place with the DfT in early 2017 regarding the 
likelihood of funding being available from the Large Local Majors Fund.  It was 
indicated that schemes demonstrating an effort to accelerate delivery with a 
likely construction start date of early-mid 2020 would be looked upon favourably 
by the DfT.  In March 2017, in order to progress the scheme within the 
suggested timescales, the Cabinet authorised the Director of Environment and 
Transport to undertake necessary work on the Outline Business Case, and in 
December  to take various actions to progress the scheme. 

 
Melton Local Plan  
 
30. The MMDR is a key component of MBC’s emerging Local Plan.  The Plan 

expresses the importance of an “Eastern Distributor Road” as “essential 
infrastructure”.  Following the Plan’s Examination in Public in February of this 
year, the independent planning inspector appointed to consider the Plan’s 
‘soundness’ has proposed a number of modifications, but none of the 
modifications have any apparent implications for the delivery of the north and 
east sections of the MMDR.  Whilst the Inspector has yet to issue the final 
report MBC has advised that it is confident that the Plan could be adopted later 
this year.  This would be another important step in securing the delivery of 
Melton Mowbray’s future growth. 

 

32



 

DfT Large Local Majors Fund Bid 
 
31. As indicated previously, the Council has been working to a very tight timescale 

set by the DfT in order to maximise the chances of receiving Large Local Majors 
funding.  This has required significant financing from the Council’s capital 
programme in the meantime, aided by a commitment from MBC to help mitigate 
the risk to the Authority.  The County Council was therefore extremely pleased 
with the announcement by the DfT on 17 May of the £49.5m towards the 
construction of the northern and eastern section of the MMDR. 

 
32. The news is a very significant step forward for the delivery of the north and east 

sections of the MMDR.  However, there is still substantial work required in 2018 
in order to secure planning permission and, in all likelihood, to make and 
implement the necessary statutory orders. 

 
The MMDR 
 
33. The following paragraphs summarise the work which has been undertaken on 

the development of the route up to 8 May when the Preferred Route was 
agreed. 

 

34. The MMTS includes the overarching concept of an MMDR comprising:- 
 

(a) A northern section from the A606 Nottingham Road to Melton Spinney 
Road; 

(b) An eastern section from Melton Spinney Road to the A606 Burton Road; 
and, 

(c) A southern section from the A606 Burton Road to the A607 Leicester 
Road. 
 

35. This report covers only the northern and eastern sections, and it is only these 
sections that were included in the Large Local Majors funding bid.  (A business 
case is being prepared for the southern section as part of a bid to the 
Government’s ‘Housing and Infrastructure Fund’). 

 
36. Collectively, the three sections of the MMDR effectively form an inverse ‘C’ 

shape around Melton Mowbray, as illustrated in Figure 1 below. 
 

33



 

 

 

 
 
The Preferred Route 
 
37. Following the Cabinet’s decision in May 2016 to proceed with an outer relief 

road a ‘recommended route’ for the north and east sections was developed.  
This was included in the Outline Business Case submitted to the DfT 
(December 2017).  It was noted that this might be modified following detailed 
design work and further consultation and, given the tight timescale, the 
Cabinet agreed that the Director of Environment and Transport would approve 
the ‘Preferred Route’ for planning and land acquisition purposes (paragraph 14 
above refers). 

 

Fig. 1 Development of the MMDR overarching concept 

34



 

38. Figure 2 below shows the Preferred Route (shown in black), much of which is 
unchanged from the ‘recommended route’ (shown in green).  Detailed sections 
of the proposed route and typical cross-sections are illustrated in Appendix A. 

 

 

39. The Preferred Route remains a 4.3 mile single carriageway which passes to the 
north and east of Melton Mowbray.  The design includes a 3m wide 
cycle/footway along the route positioned on the side nearest to the town.  The 
proposed route begins on the A606 Nottingham Road to the north of the town, 
crossing Scalford Road, Melton Spinney Road, the A607 Thorpe Road and 
B676 Saxby Road, before re-joining the A606 Burton Road to the south of the 
town. Speed limits would be 40mph between the A606 Nottingham Road and 
Melton Spinney Road and 60mph between Melton Spinney Road and A606 
Burton Road.  

 
Changes to the route since December 2017 

 
40. The Authority carried out further engagement and consultation on the 

‘recommended route’ in late 2017/early 2018, with:- 
 

 Natural England and Environment Agency, regarding the crossing of the 
River Eye Site of Special Scientific Interest; 

Fig. 2 The Preferred Route (black) over recommended route (green) 

Approx. extent of Fig. 4 

Approx. extent of Fig. 3 

NOTES 
DRAWING NOT TO SCALE 
 
    NOVEMBER 2017 ALIGNMENT 

 
PRELIMINARY DESIGN ALIGNMNENT  
APRIL 2018 
 
EXISTING RIVER ALIGNMENT 
 
INDICATIVE REVISED RIVER ALIGNMENT 

35



 

 Developers of the NSN, regarding land between Scalford Road and Melton 
Spinney Road; and, 

 Landowners and farmers, concerning access and farm business. 
 

41. As a result of this, the Preferred Route and design has been amended at two 
locations, detailed below. 

 
(1)  Crossing of the River Eye Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI). 

 
42. The River Eye is a 6 hectare (15 acre) biological SSSI covering a stretch of the 

River Eye between Ham Bridge, north-west of Stapleford, and the eastern 
outskirts of Melton Mowbray.  The importance of this statutorily protected site 
for conservation means that careful consideration has been given to reduce the 
impact of the road.  

 
43. The Council has worked with Natural England and the Environment Agency to 

agree an approach to the crossing and the proposals have been discussed with 
neighbouring landowners and Historic England.  In addition to the presence of 
the River Eye, options for the road design around Saxby Road have been 
particularly constrained by the presence of two sets of overhead power cables, 
nearby dwellings and a brook. 

 

44. As shown in Figure 3 below, the road alignment and roundabout have not 
substantively changed from the recommended route; the alignment has moved 
approximately 15 metres to the west at the location near to Saxby Road in order 
to reduce the impact on nearby properties to the east of the proposed route.  
Moving the alignment further west than this would increase the proximity to 
Thorpe Arnold.  Moreover, the alignment is currently in a cutting; moving the 
Preferred Route further west would result in the road being on embankment 
with resulting potential noise and landscape impacts on nearby properties.  

 

45. The main change at this location has been in the approach to bridging the 
River.  Construction costs set out in the Outline Business Case included an 
element for the moving of overhead powerlines in order to allow construction of 
the bridge.  It is now proposed to realign the River Eye, negating the need to 
move the powerlines.  This will be subject to further discussion with Natural 
England and the relevant landowners A Natural England public consultation 
would be required as part of any scheme proposing modifications to the SSSI.  

 
46. The change was made on the basis that:- 
 

a) The roundabout would be further from the River, lessening the effect of the 
associated lighting and road disturbance on the ecology of the SSSI. In 
addition, from an ecological perspective, the diversion presents 
opportunities for mitigation and enhancement that the other options may 
not.  This has been acknowledged by Natural England and the 
Environment Agency supports this option in principle. 
 

36



 

b) It enables the construction of the new bridge away from the overhead 
power lines, presenting significantly lower health and safety risk than other 
options considered at this location; and, 
 

c) Not having to move the power lines significantly reduces cost, as 
highlighted in the technical report. 

 

 

             

 

(2)  Alignment between Scalford Road and Melton Spinney Road 
 

47. As stated previously, the MMDR scheme is a key element of the MMTS and 
Melton Local Plan, with associated developments contributing to funding of the 
Melton Mowbray Distributor Road.  It is therefore critical that the design of the 
road does not hinder the achievement of housing growth set out in the Local 
Plan. 
 

48. Concerns were raised by the developers of the NSN about the impact of the 
recommended route alignment and the position of the Melton Spinney Road 
and Scalford Road roundabouts on the housing allocation presented in the 
Melton Local Plan.  Following dialogue with the developers, the route has been 

Fig. 3 Option C (black) over recommended route (green) and indicative realignment of River Eye SSSI 

NOTES 
DRAWING NOT TO SCALE 
 
    NOVEMBER 2017 ALIGNMENT 

 
PRELIMINARY DESIGN ALIGNMNENT  
APRIL 2018 
 
INDICATIVE REVISED RIVER ALIGNMENT 
 
EXISTING RIVER ALIGNMENT 
 

Bridge 

37



 

amended as illustrated in Figure 4 below, with the proposed road alignment 
between the roundabouts at Scalford Road and Melton Spinney Road moved 
approximately 150m to the north.  
 

49. As well as minimising the impact on the NSN, this change moves the road 
further away from existing properties at the edge of the town and Melton 
Country Park. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

50. The position of the Scalford Road roundabout (green) has moved north (black) 
and to the east of Scalford Road, reducing the effect on the masterplan for 
development to the west of Scalford Road.  The roundabout at Melton Spinney 
Road has been moved to the east of Melton Spinney Road (outside the area 
identified for housing development).  

51. The developers of the NSN have expressed a preference for a route that follows 
the line of the Local Plan allocation, as shown in Figure 5 below (orange 
alignment).  However, this would require the route to cut through a large 
proportion of the Twinlakes theme park, leading to significant adverse impacts 
and probable substantial CPO costs. The location of the indicative Distributor 
Road for the NSN can be found on page 41 of the Melton Local Plan at 
https://www.meltonplan.co.uk/ 

 

SCALFORD BROOK 

GAS MAIN 

SCALFORD ROAD 

Fig. 4 Realignment and repositioning of roundabouts at Scalford and Melton Spinney Road 

NOTES 
DRAWING NOT TO SCALE 

 
    NOVEMBER 2017 ALIGNMENT 

 
PREFERRED ROUTE ALIGNMNENT  
APRIL 2018 

38



 

 

 

 
Other Issues 
 
52. The line of the disused Oakham Canal closely follows Saxby Road at its 

intersection with the proposed route of the MMDR, before heading south, 
mirroring the line of the River Eye.  The Canal was constructed in 1802 but was 
closed after only 45 years, in part due to an inadequate water supply.  The line 
of the Canal is now severed at a number of locations, making restoration of the 
entire route unlikely. 
 

53. The Melton and Oakham Waterways Society wish the road proposals to include 
a bridging of the line of the Canal in order to accommodate any future plans for 
restoration.  It has not been possible to accommodate this due to other 
constraints, including the presence of powerlines, increased adverse impact on 
the River Eye SSSI, and disturbance of potential archaeological deposits in the 
floodplain. 

 
Cost Implications of the Changes 
 
54. The effect of the above changes on construction costs is estimated as follows:- 

 Increased length of the road (60m), with an estimated cost of £220,000. 

 Reduced River Eye bridge span than was costed for the OBC, giving an 
estimated saving of between £200,000 and £400,000. 

 Removal of the need to divert power lines, saving an estimated £2m. 
 
55. The overall saving on the costs outlined in the Business Case is thus potentially 

in the order of £2.2-£2.4m. 
 

Fig. 5 Developer proposed realignment (orange route) and impact on Twinlakes 

39



 

Next Stages in the Project 
 
56. Subject to the Cabinet’s approval, the next steps will include the submission of 

the planning application and the acquisition of land necessary for the new route. 
This is outlined below, as are associated issues of blight notices, procurement, 
design work and funding arrangements.    

 
Planning Application 

 
57. To date, the scheme has undergone the preliminary design process.  The next 

stage will be to progress detailed design and alignment.  The final detailed route 
will only be confirmed via the planning application process.  It should be noted 
that this may result in minor changes to the scheme’s design. 

 
58. Under Regulation 3 of the Town and Country Planning Act the planning 

application for the Preferred Route will be considered by the County Council’s 
Development Control and Regulatory Board.  As indicated in Part A of the 
report, it is intended that the application will be submitted in September.  In 
accordance with the usual planning process the application would be subject to 
further public consultation as well as being submitted (by officers from the 
County Planning Authority) to statutory consultees such as the Environment 
Agency, utility companies, and MBC.   

 
59. As part of the application, a full package of documents will be submitted to the 

County Planning Authority, including:- 
 

(a) Location plan; 
(b) Site Plans/ General Arrangement drawings; 
(c) Typical Cross Sections; 
(d) Landscaping Plans; 
(e) Statement of Community Engagement; 
(f) Flood Risk Assessment; 
(g) Human Rights and Equality Impact Assessment; and, 
(h) Construction Traffic Management Plan. 

 
60. All of the planning documents will be available on the County Council’s website 

at http://leicestershire.planning-register.co.uk when the application is submitted.  
 
Land Acquisition 
 
61. The northern and eastern sections of the MMDR will require the acquisition of 

third party land, the costs associated with which are accounted for in the latest 
scheme estimate. 

 
62. All efforts will continue to be made to acquire land by negotiation but where 

necessary, preparations will be made for use of appropriate statutory processes 
including the use of CPOs.  CPOs are used when land cannot be purchased by 
agreement, to enable acquiring authorities to carry out a function/actions which 
is in the public interest.  

 

40

http://leicestershire.planning-register.co.uk/Disclaimer?returnUrl=%2F


 

63. Any necessary CPOs and Side Road Orders would be implemented following 
approval of the planning permission.  If objections were raised by the 
landowners, the Secretary of State would decide if a Public Inquiry should take 
place and if the Orders should be confirmed.  This possibility has been taken 
into account in the scheme’s programme. 

Blight and Discretionary Purchase 
 
64. ‘Blight’ in this context refers to the reduction in value of a property asset as a 

consequence of large scale or major public work and the inability of an owner to 
sell their property at market value as a result.  Statutory blight is normally 
triggered following the announcement of a Preferred Route by a Highway 
Authority, which in this case took place on 11 June 2018.  It affects those 
properties which are required for the road scheme either in their entirety or may 
be affected to the extent that they are unsaleable (i.e. it can include property 
other than that directly required to construct the route).  The owners must show 
that they have made reasonable attempts to sell but are unable to, or unable to 
do so except at a price substantially below market value.     

 
65. The risk of blight has been assessed as low in this instance, in part due to 

efforts made to limit the impact of the scheme on properties.  The land the 
proposed route runs through is agricultural and its viability will be sustained by 
ensuring access to severed fields.  The line of the MMDR between Nottingham 
Road and Melton Spinney Road runs largely along the northern boundary of the 
Northern Sustainable Neighbourhood (NSN) housing allocation area set out in 
the Melton Local Plan.  The MMDR helps to remove constraints to growth in 
Melton Mowbray and is therefore of benefit to landowners wishing to develop 
their land for housing. For this reason and because of the ongoing 
communication with developers of the NSN it is considered that blight will be 
avoided at this location. 
 

66. The Council may accept a blight notice or reject it and serve a counter-notice. If 
the Authority and landowner cannot agree, the issue will be considered in an 
‘Upper Tribunal’ (a court) and, if necessary the Tribunal will make a judgement.     

 

67. Although the risk is relatively low, blight notices may be submitted before the 
funding is in place, in which case the cost of successful claims would initially be 
borne by the Authority.  
 

68. In the event that a property owner cannot legally qualify for the protection of the 
blight provisions but may still suffer hardship because the enjoyment of the 
property is seriously affected, the Authority may in certain circumstances use 
discretionary purchase powers given by the Highways Act 1980 to acquire 
property by agreement.  

 

Procurement for Design and Construction 
 
69. As is usual with major projects, the Council will engage professional services to 

progress design and environmental and planning work.  This will continue to be 
delivered in collaboration with the County Council, and AECOM (the consultants 
assisting with the project) leading through the Professional Services Partnership 

41



 

2 (PSP2), a framework contract available to local authority members of the 
Midland Highways Alliance.  It is intended to deliver the construction phase 
through the MHA Medium Scheme Framework.  

 
Delivery and Funding 
 
70. The total cost of the north and east section of the MMDR scheme is 

approximately £63.5m, including further development costs, of which circa 
£49.5m will be met from DFT funding; meaning that in broad terms the financial 
commitment from the County Council will be in the region of £14m.  A 
breakdown of costs estimate produced in December 2017 is available in the 
Outline Business Case presented on the Scheme webpage at 
https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/roads-and-travel/road-maintenance/melton-
mowbray-distributor-road-scheme.  It is expected that the £49.5m from the DfT 
would be provided following its approval of the Full Business Case, 
programmed for early 2020.  

 
71. As referenced in Part A of this report, £4.2m further funding is required to 

complete scheme design/preparatory work, including discharging planning 
conditions, continuing with detailed design, dealing with land issues and Side 
Road orders, liaising with partner/stakeholder organisations, and project-
managing the ongoing development of the scheme to ‘shovel ready’ stage.  

 

Timetable 

72. The current timetable for further work is set out below:- 

 Detailed design (May 2018 onwards);  

 Preparation of CPO and Side Roads Orders (begin summer 2018); 

 Submission of planning application (September 2018); 

 Determination period for planning application (16 weeks); 

 MOU is signed by LCC and MBC (Winter 2018) 

 Making of CPO and Side Roads Orders (November/December 2018); and, 

 Possible objection and public inquiry period (December 2018 to early 2020). 
 

And, subject to the above and all other necessary processes:- 
 

 Procurement begins - June 2019; 

 Approval of Full Business Case by the DfT, and release of funding (Spring 
2020 

 Land acquisition March 2020; 

 Contract award May 2020; 

 Construction begins (summer 2020); and, 

 Construction end (summer 2022). 
 
73. Further reports will be submitted as necessary and members will be kept 

informed of progress with the project.  
 

42

https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/roads-and-travel/road-maintenance/melton-mowbray-distributor-road-scheme
https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/roads-and-travel/road-maintenance/melton-mowbray-distributor-road-scheme


 

Environmental Impact and Proposed Mitigation 
 

74. The Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act (2006) sets out local 
authorities’ duty to give regard to conserving biodiversity as part of policy or 
decision-making.  This includes identifying ways to integrate biodiversity when 
developing infrastructure such as roads.  Additionally, there is a statutory basis 
for planning to seek to minimise impacts on biodiversity through the National 
Planning Policy Framework.  The Framework is clear that pursuing sustainable 
development includes a core principle for planning that it should contribute to 
conserving and enhancing the natural environment and reducing pollution. 

 
75. The Council’s Environment Strategy (the subject of a separate report on the 

agenda for this meeting) sets out the vision, aims, objectives and targets which 
will be used to drive improved environmental performance.  The Strategy 
introduces key areas on which to focus, including biodiversity and habitats, 
climate change, and community and well-being.   

 

76. The environmental impacts of the MMDR and mitigation of these will be 
considered in detail as part of the planning application, in an Environmental 
Statement . The paragraphs below set out the proposed approach to minimising 
negative impacts and ensuring any opportunities for positive effects on the 
environment are promoted. This work is supported by substantial survey and 
investigation work conducted on behalf of the Council.  A map showing 
environmental constraints is presented in Appendix B and a full appraisal of 
potential impacts and associated mitigation can be found at Appendix C. 

 
Ecology  
 
77. In 2017, AECOM (consultants engaged by the Council for the project) 

conducted phase 1 habitat surveys which have informed the Preliminary 
Ecological Appraisal.  Detailed species surveys have taken place over the past 
few months, the results of which will inform the Environmental Statement and 
proposed mitigations.  

 
78. As the proposed route would have to cross the River Eye SSSI and because of 

flooding issues in the vicinity, the Environment Agency and Natural England 
have been engaged as statutory consultees. 
 

79. In addition to the SSSI, there are also a number of protected species, non-
statutory wildlife sites, and a range of habitats of interest.  Melton Country Park 
is a site of particular importance for both wildlife and the local community and 
although the alignment of the road has moved further away from the Country 
Park, mitigation will need to be given careful consideration. 
 

80. Potential negative impacts have been identified as the loss, fragmentation and 
degradation of habitats along the proposed route as well as direct impact on 
specific species.  The design of the route may also however offer opportunities 
such as improvements to existing habitat and the introduction of natural flood 
management techniques. 

 

43



 

81. Detailed mitigation, compensation and enhancement will be delivered across 
the wider River Eye SSSI, including restoration to promote natural river 
processes, habitat creation to improve quality status and species assemblages 
and wider control of management processes where possible.  A River 
Restoration Plan produced by the Trent Rivers Trust already exists for the River 
Eye giving a sound basis for consideration of mitigation. . 

 
82. For other designated sites such as Melton Country Park and Scalford Brook 

Local Wildlife Site, best practice measures will be used to minimise impacts on 
connectivity or shading effects on river habitat, such as –  

 
(a) Creation of artificial roost or nesting sites; 
(b) Well-designed soft landscaping that maintains habitat connectivity and 

incorporates native plant species; 
(c) Restoration of connecting freshwater habitats to enhance and secure long 

term viability of fish populations; 
(d) Management and creation of hedgerows to promote biodiversity; and, 
(e) Sensitive lighting to avoid illuminating foraging areas or light spill into 

habitats used by bats.   
 
Archaeology 
 
83. A methodology for archaeological surveys of the proposed route was agreed 

with Council’s Principal Planning Archaeologist in 2017.  Ground investigation 
works have also been monitored by an archaeologist. 

 
84. Initial results from the geophysical survey have shown a high potential for 

Romano-British activity, particularly in the northern section of the route.  The 
archaeological potential of the route will be considered and appropriate 
evaluation and mitigation measures developed.  A meeting has taken place with 
Historic England and LCC planning archaeology to discuss The initial survey 
results and further survey work necessary has been discussed with Historic 
England and the Council’s archaeology team. 

 
85. Three scheduled monuments lie within the study area -St Mary and St Lazarus 

Hospital, the Moated Grange at Spinney, and Sysonby Grange.  However, 
these are all located more than 300m outside the line of the road and are not 
expected to experience any significant effect. 

 
86. There is the potential for the development to negatively affect the setting of 

designated heritage assets. .  A photomontage has been requested of the view 
to the St Mary and St Lazarus Hospital from the location of roundabout 6 
(shown on fig. 2 above). 
 

87. Consideration will be given to detailed design elements such as signage and 
street furniture along the route with a view to the setting of designated assets. 
 

88. Potential mitigation measures to address the possible effect on 
palaeoecological (floodplain) deposits relating to the palaeochannels that may 
be lost as part of the river realignment, have been discussed  In the first 

44



 

instance, existing data will be used to build up a picture of the known deposits 
and establish how large an area may be lost.  The need for specialist boreholes 
and deposit modelling will then be determined and  recording of the deposits 
and analysis of the palaeoecology will be undertaken at an appropriate time, 
likely post-planning consent. 

 
Noise and air quality 
 
89. Air quality and noise investigations have taken place with particular regard to 

the impacts on residents living within 500m of the proposed route.  Current 
noise levels and likely changes in noise post-construction will inform any 
proposed mitigations.  Mapping has been produced and further monitoring will 
take place as the scheme progresses. 

 
90. Air quality monitoring has taken place on arterial roads and at locations near 

residential properties close to the route from July 2017 to January 2018.  This, 
in addition to MBC's NO2 monitoring data within Melton Mowbray town centre 
and arterial routes, will be used in the air quality impact assessment and will be 
reported in the Environmental Statement.  This information will also add to the 
body of existing baseline Air Quality data that MBC currently holds. 

 
91. There are potentially negative and positive impacts on air quality and noise of 

the scheme, including reduction in pollutant concentrations and noise through 
the centre of Melton Mowbray but an increase along the extent of the scheme. 

 
92. During construction of the standard best practice dust protection measures will 

be employed  Consideration will be given to the use of low noise surfacing 
within the scheme extents and noise barriers will be employed at certain 
locations, subject to engineering and landscape constraints.  The use of noise 
barriers will need to be weighed against the potential visual intrusion in the rural 
landscape. 

 
Community Severance and Sustainable Travel  
 
93. The scheme will involve some changes to existing public rights of way with 

potential diversions and loss of amenity during both construction and operation 
stages.  The proposed route severs five Public Rights of Way (Footpaths) and 
mitigation measures are being explored.  

 
94. The road would also sever agricultural land parcels, access to which is being 

considered in consultation with landowners and tenants.  Farm Impact 
Assessments have been conducted by the Council’s agricultural consultants.  

 
95. The effects on the local community will vary throughout the different phases of 

the road’s delivery.  For example, during construction there is likely to be 
increased traffic congestion and more visual intrusion but after this journey 
times are predicted to improve. 

 
96. The scheme design includes a 3m-wide combined cycle and footway along the 

entire length of the proposed route.  Where Rights of Way have been severed, 

45



 

the design will include provision for pedestrians to cross such as pedestrian 
refuges. 

 
97. It is intended to stop up Lag Lane and Sawgate Road to vehicular traffic, with 

the exception of use by landowners who currently have field access.  Access 
will remain for non-motorised users.  The exact point at which these routes will 
be stopped up is to be determined in discussion with landowners and farmers.  
Environment Agency access to Brentingby Dam will be gained directly from a 
new access on the MMDR, through a locked gate. 

 
98. Any open spaces which are permanently lost will be replaced; whilst any which 

are temporarily required during construction will be enhanced.  Where 
community or private assets are permanently lost, re-provision will be made or 
appropriate compensation considered. 

 
Water Quality and Flood Risk 
 
99. The route crosses several watercourses including the River Eye SSSI.  Each 

crossing requires assessment for compliance with the objectives of the Water 
Framework Directive (WFD) which aims to protect and enhance the quality of 
the water environment.  A WFD assessment conducted in consultation with the 
Environment Agency and Natural England has been undertaken in order to 
identify whether the proposed scheme has the potential to:- 

 

(a) Cause deterioration of any waterbodies from their current status or 
potential; and/ or, 

(b) Prevent future attainment of good status or potential where not already 
achieved. 

 
100. At this stage, there is not sufficient design information to rule out risks to WFD 

objectives or SSSI classification, so recommendations are made for scheme 
designs and further (more detailed) assessments. 

 
101. The scheme presents opportunities to improve watercourses through amending 

undersized culverts and to introduce natural flood management.   However it 
may also result in new discharges of highway runoff to watercourses that may 
include dissolved and particulate pollutants (e.g. metals, hydrocarbons, 
particulates, de-icant salts etc.), and there may be an increase in volume and 
rate of surface water runoff (arising from a larger impervious surface) and raised 
flood risk. 

 
102. Phased mitigation measures will be taken to avoid, minimise and reduce the 

risk of water pollution or the physical damage to water bodies.  The proposed 
highway drainage network and attenuation ponds will be designed to provide 
treatment of runoff and retain large chemical spillages within the network.  

 
103. Any loss of floodplain will be compensated for, flood relief culverts will be 

employed and attenuation ponds will be designed so as to not increase surface 
water flood risk. 

 

46



 

Health  
 
104. Impact on health has been assessed through desktop study.  Potential impacts 

include improvements to accessibility and active travel, better access to work 
and training, and enhanced linkages between communities improving social 
cohesion (noise and air impacts are covered in paragraphs 112-113). 

 
105.  Options to enhance the benefits of the scheme in relation to human health will 

be explored and outlined within the Health Assessment. 
 
Landscape and Visual 
 
106. Landscape and visual impacts have been assessed through site and desk 

study.  The study has identified potential positive and negative impacts, e.g. the 
loss of rural characteristics, reduction in perceived tranquillity within the rural 
fringe, and reduced traffic within the centre of Melton Mowbray that will improve 
local views. 

 
107. Where possible, hedgerows will be reinstated with a view to maintaining and 

reinforcing the existing field patterns.  Lighting will be minimised to that which is 
absolutely necessary and designed so as to reduce light spill.  Where 
appropriate, screening planting will be employed. 

 
Geology and Soils 
 
108. A comprehensive study including field survey work has been conducted into the 

geology and soils along the route.  Potential risks include disturbance and 
release of contaminated soil, pollution of groundwater and surface 
watercourses. 

 
109. A site-specific Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) will 

minimise potential impacts, following current good practice guidance.  . 
 

110. Surface water run-off will be controlled using appropriate drainage measures, 
including Sustainable Drainage options. 

 
Climate Change Adaptation and Mitigation 
 
111. A greenhouse gas (GHG) assessment, sometimes referred to as ‘carbon 

footprinting’, has been undertaken to help identify climate change impacts.  
GHG assessments outline credible and robust methodologies for calculating 
GHG emissions and can inform the development of reduction improvement 
programmes.  Potential impacts include a reduction in GHG emissions from 
vehicles on the traffic model area in the operational stage, production of GHG 
emissions embodied in construction products and disposal of any waste 
generated by the construction processes. 

 
112. Mitigation measures include controlling surface water run-off using appropriate 

drainage, effective vegetation maintenance, and emergency preparedness 

47



 

plans.  Alternative materials with lower embodied GHG emissions will be 
specified and locally sourced where feasible. 

 
113. Low carbon design specifications such as energy-efficient lighting and durable 

construction materials will be employed to reduce maintenance and 
replacement cycles. 

 
114. A Construction Environmental Management Plan will be required from the 

selected construction contractor, to include a range of best practice construction 
measures. 

 
Equality and Human Rights Implications 
 
114. An Equality and Human Rights Screening Report has been produced in order to 

understand the potential impacts, both negative and positive, on protected 
characteristic groups. AECOM are in the process of producing the full 
assessment.  An early draft of the full EHRIA report has been submitted for 
comment from the Environment and Transport Departmental Equalities Group.  
The final full report will form part of the Environmental Statement that will be 
included in the submission of the planning application. 

 
115. Initial assessment of impacts concluded there are potential impacts on younger 

people, older people, people with disabilities and low income/deprived groups.  
The full Equality and Human Rights Impact Assessment will be presented as 
part of the planning submission package 

 
116. The screening highlighted a number of potential impacts both positive and 

negative for further investigation and these are highlighted in Appendix B. 
 
117. Once further evidence has been collected, mitigation measures will be 

suggested to minimise or avoid potential negative impacts, in addition to 
recommendations for advancing equality of opportunity for those with protected 
characteristics.  A monitoring plan will also be developed to ensure that impacts 
are monitored throughout the design and development of the proposed scheme, 
as well as through construction and operation stages. 

 
118. Protocol 1, Article 1 of the Human Rights Act (the First Protocol) is associated 

with the protection of property/peaceful enjoyment of possessions and property. 
This has three elements to it:- 

 
(a) A person has the right to the peaceful enjoyment of their property; 
(b) A public authority cannot take away what someone owns; and, 
(c) A public authority cannot impose restrictions on a person’s use of their 

property.  
 
119. A public authority will not breach this right if a law says that it can interfere with, 

deprive, or restrict the use of a person’s possessions, and that it is necessary 
for it to do so in the public interest, for example the making of Compulsory 
Purchase Orders .  As such it is important that the Council provides evidence to 
show that any land or property taken or any disruption to any person’s peaceful 

48



 

enjoyment of their property is within the public interest and that the correct 
procedures are followed to ensure compatibility with Protocol 1 Article 1 of the 
Human Rights Act. 
 

120. It is not considered that the proposed scheme will have any impact on human 
rights and freedoms under the Convention rights listed under schedule 1 of the 
Human Rights Act. 
 

Environmental Implications 
 

121. The environmental implications of the scheme have been outlined above. 
 
Partnership Working and Associated Issues 
 
122. The County Council is the promoter of the project and has sought the expertise 

and assistance from others to develop and deliver the project.  Melton Borough 
Council has been a partner in the development of the Melton Mowbray 
Transport Strategy and is supportive of the principle of a distributor road to the 
north and east of the town.  Indeed, a financial agreement intended to facilitate 
risk sharing with respect to the OBC is being developed to reflect this joint 
approach. 

 
123. An officer Project Board was established in May 2017 with representatives from 

the County Council, Melton Borough Council and relevant consultants working 
on the scheme.  

 
124. In order to meet the timescales suggested by the DfT, consultants have been 

engaged to deliver many elements of the necessary design and environmental 
work.  This has, however, been conducted collaboratively with local authorities. 

 

Risk Assessment 
 
125. A Quantified Risk Assessment has been produced on both the design and 

construction phases of the scheme which highlights the project risks at both the 
design and construction stage and the potential impact costs of those risks.  If a 
risk is not realised then it will be closed and the cost removed from the overall 
scheme cost. The current total value of design and construction risk is 
approximately £3.3m. At this time, there are the following high-level risks to 
scheme delivery:- 

 

(a) Failure to realise levels of anticipated funding contributions from other 
sources, including from developers; 

 

(b) Scheme costs increase as a result of further work undertaken to develop 
the scheme post-submission of the OBC; 

 

(c) Compressed development and delivery timescales resulting in possible 
abortive work and/or lack of ‘contingency’ time to offset any programme 
delays that might arise; and, 

 

49



 

(d) The requirement for consultation on a diversion of the River Eye SSSI 
could delay programme. Natural England is in discussion about the most 
appropriate method of delivering a diversion. 

 

126. All risks will be reviewed regularly and reported to the Project Board and to the 
Cabinet Lead Member.       

 
Conclusion 
 

 

127. The award of the DfT Large Local Majors Funding of £49.5m was key to 
enabling the  construction of the north and east sections of the MMDR in the 
immediate future.  The success of the bid reflects the continued commitment to 
the project from both the County and Melton Borough Councils which will 
commit an additional £14m to the scheme. 

 
128. The proposed scheme will support economic growth in Melton Mowbray and 

improve the environment for local residents, cutting congestion in the town and 
supporting the ambitions set out in the Melton Local Plan - for the construction 
of over 6,000 new homes and development of 51 hectares of employment land 
around the town in the period up to 2036. 

 
129. The Preferred Route to be taken forward for planning has been developed 

following many months of consultation and engagement with interested parties, 
landowners, and developers and further opportunities for consultation will be 
provided through the planning application process.  

 
130. The DfT timescales for the project remain challenging and, as indicated in the 

report, there are a number of risks and issues to be addressed.  These will 
continue to be monitored and any significant issues would be the subject of 
further reports to the Cabinet.   

 

 

Background Papers  
 
11 September 2015 Cabinet - ‘Development of a Melton Mowbray Transport 
Strategy’ 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=4230&Ver=4  
 
9 May 2016 - Cabinet - ‘Progress with the Development of a Melton Mowbray 
Transport Strategy’ 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=4602&Ver=4  
 
10 March 2017 – Cabinet - ‘Melton Mowbray Transport Strategy and Distributor Road 
– Development of a Business Case and Identification of a Preferred Route’ 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=4859&Ver=4 
 
10 March 2017 – Cabinet - ‘Environment and Transport Interim Commissioning 
Strategy 2017/18 Refresh’ 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=4859&Ver=4 
12 December 2017 – Cabinet – ‘Melton Mowbray Distributor Road Proposals’ 

50

http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=4230&Ver=4
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=4602&Ver=4
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=4859&Ver=4
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=4859&Ver=4


 

http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=4866&Ver=4  
 
Options Assessment Report  
http://ow.ly/X4Pa30gVpsV  
 
Consultation Report 
http://ow.ly/SxQi30gVpBV  
 
Outline Business Case and Preferred Route 
https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/roads-and-travel/road-maintenance/melton-
mowbray-distributor-road-scheme  
 
Appendices 
 
Appendix A  Recommended route, Preferred Route, MMDR sections and typical 

cross sections (60 and 40mph sections) 
Appendix B Table outlining the potential equality impacts of the proposed MMDR 

(Extract from Equalities and Human Rights Impact Assessment 
Screening Report) 

Appendix C Environmental constraints  
Appendix D Potential environmental impacts and proposed mitigations 
 

 

 

51

http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=4866&Ver=4
http://ow.ly/X4Pa30gVpsV
http://ow.ly/SxQi30gVpBV
https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/roads-and-travel/road-maintenance/melton-mowbray-distributor-road-scheme
https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/roads-and-travel/road-maintenance/melton-mowbray-distributor-road-scheme


This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix A 

 Recommended Route (Sept/Oct 17)  

 Preferred Route (May 18) and  

 Enlarged Preferred Route Plans 

 Typical Cross Sections (60mph and 40mph) 

53



Melton Mowbray Distributor Road  recommended route presented at consultation 

September-October 2017 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

54



Melton Mowbray Distributor Road Preferred Route with approximate location of 

sections set out below 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

55



Melton Mowbray Distributor Road Preferred Route  

1. Roundabout 1 (Nottingham Road A606) to Roundabout  2 (Scalford Road) 

2. West of dismantled railway to Roundabout 3 (Melton Spinney Road) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1 

2 

56



Melton Mowbray Distributor Road Preferred Route  

3. Roundabout 3 (Melton Spinney Road) to cut line south of Roundabout 4 (Melton Road A607) 

4. Area north and south of Roundabout 5 (Saxby Road A676) 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3 

4 4 

57



Melton Mowbray Distributor Road Preferred Route  

5. South of Railway (Brentingby Junction) to Roundabout 6 (Burton Road A606) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

58



Melton Mowbray Distributor Road Preferred Route Typical Cross Section (60mph) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

59



Melton Mowbray Distributor Road Preferred Route Typical Cross Section (40mph) 

 

60



Appendix B 

Table outlining the potential equality impacts of 

the proposed MMDR 

61



 

Potential 
impact of 
proposed 
scheme 

Potential differential or 
disproportionate effects on groups 

with protected characteristics 

Direction and 
type of Impact 

Scoped in or Scoped Out Further evidence 
required 

A
g

e
 

S
e
x

 

E
th

n
ic

it
y

 

R
e
li

g
io

n
 

D
is

a
b

il
it

y
 

S
e
x
u

a
l 

O
ri

e
n

ta
ti

o
n

 

G
e
n

d
e
r 

R
e
a
s

s
ig

n
m

e
n

t 

P
re

g
n

a
n

c
y

/ 

m
a
te

rn
it

y
 

S
o

c
io

-e
c

o
n

o
m

ic
 

s
ta

tu
s

 

M
a
rr

ia
g

e
/ 

C
iv

il
 

P
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 

Access to housing  

Enabling of 
residential 
development 
which will 
potentially 
create 
opportunities for 
affordable 
homes 

        x  Residual impact 
of the proposed 
scheme, 
providing 
potential positive 

impacts if 
affordable homes 
are developed as 
a result of the 
proposed 
scheme. 

Melton Mowbray has a 
higher than national 
average rate of homeless 
households and also has a 
high level of deprivation in 
terms housing and 
services in more rural 
areas of the borough. 
Providing affordable 
housing advances equality 
of opportunity for people 
with lower incomes and 
therefore this issue is 
scoped in. 

Further information on 

types of housing to 

be provided where 

available, on 

proposed 

development sites.  

Details on 

percentage of 

affordable homes 

allocated on new 

sites. 

Transport and Accessibility  

Changes in 
road safety for 
non-motorised 
users as a 
consequence of 
reduced traffic 
in the town 
centre and 
along key 
corridors 

x    x    x  Potential positive 

impacts if 
reduction in 
accidents is 
predicted. 
Negative impacts 

if higher rate of 
accidents occur 
as a 
consequence of 
faster journey 
times. 

Changes in road safety will 
have the most effect on 
vulnerable road users. 
This issue is scoped in to 

the full impact assessment 
for older and younger 
people, people with 
disabilities and people 
from deprived 
backgrounds. 

Traffic modelling 

outputs 

Accident appraisal 

 

Improvements 
in accessibility 
for non-car 
drivers  

x        x  Potential positive 

impacts if walking 
and cycling 
improvements are 
enabled in the 
town and 
included as part 
of the proposed 
scheme. 

Improving accessibility 
advances equality of 
opportunity for non-car 
drivers. Non-car drivers 
are most likely to be 
younger people, older 
people and people from 
deprived or disadvantaged 
communities.  This issue is 
scoped in to the full 

assessment for these 
groups. 

Traffic modelling 

outputs.  

Information on 

proposed town 

centre 

improvements 

Information on 

sustainable travel 

components of 

scheme. 

Living environment, health and wellbeing 

Changes to 
existing public 
rights of way 

          This will be a 
direct impact of 
the scheme 
resulting in a 
potential 
negative impact 

for people using 
the current public 
rights of way 
network. 

The scheme will involve 
some changes to existing 
public rights of way with 
potential diversions and 
loss of amenity during both 
construction and operation 
stages. 
Data was collected 
through preliminary NMU 
surveys in July 2017. 
These surveys found that 
there was not a 
disproportionate amount of 

 

62



Potential 
impact of 
proposed 
scheme 

Potential differential or 
disproportionate effects on groups 

with protected characteristics 

Direction and 
type of Impact 

Scoped in or Scoped Out Further evidence 
required 

A
g

e
 

S
e
x

 

E
th

n
ic

it
y

 

R
e
li

g
io

n
 

D
is

a
b

il
it

y
 

S
e
x
u

a
l 

O
ri

e
n

ta
ti

o
n

 

G
e
n

d
e
r 

R
e
a
s

s
ig

n
m

e
n

t 

P
re

g
n

a
n

c
y

/ 

m
a
te

rn
it

y
 

S
o

c
io

-e
c

o
n

o
m

ic
 

s
ta

tu
s

 

M
a
rr

ia
g

e
/ 

C
iv

il
 

P
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 

users with protected 
characteristics and 
therefore is not considered 
to be an equality issue. 
Mitigation measures for 
the disruption to the public 
rights of way access are 
also being developed. Due 
to the above reasons this 
issue is now scoped out 

of this assessment  

Construction of 
proposed 
scheme  

x          Negative impact 

for households 
within close 
proximity to 
scheme 
associated with 
visual amenity, 
dust, air pollution, 
noise and 
vibration. 

Construction may cause 
disruption for residents 
living in the area especially 
those who are most likely 
to be at home during the 
day such as older people. 
It is not yet known the 
extent to which 
construction will impact on 
households and therefore 
further data is required on 
construction impacts and 
demographic data on 
affected households. 
Scoped in. 

Assessment of 

households likely to 

experience impact 

Changes in air 
quality 

x    x      Negative for 

households and 
relevant receptors 
within close 
proximity to the 
scheme. 
 
Positive for 

areas where 
traffic is expected 
to be reduced. 

Evidence
1
 has shown that 

children are particularly 
vulnerable to poor air 
quality and as such any 
changes in air quality that 
could affect children need 
to be assessed. Older 
people and people with 
respiratory diseases are 
also more likely to be 
affected by air quality 
changes. This is has been 
scoped in to the full 

impact assessment.  

Air quality modelling 

outputs 

Distributional impact 

appraisal 

Changes in 
noise  
during 
Construction 
and  
Operation 

x          Negative for 

households and 
relevant receptors 
within close 
proximity to the 
scheme. 
 
Positive for 

areas where 
traffic is expected 
to be reduced. 

Evidence
2
 has shown that 

children are particularly 
vulnerable to noise and as 
such any changes in noise 
that could affect children 
need to be assessed. 
Specifically, noise has an 
effect on concentration 
levels and as such this 
impact has been scoped 
in to identify the impact on 

schools and children in the 
area. 

Noise assessment 

outputs 

Distributional impact 

appraisal 

                                                           
1
 Department for Transport TAG unit A4.2 Distributional Impact Appraisal January 2014 

2
 Department for Transport TAG unit A4.2 Distributional Impact Appraisal January 2014 

63



Potential 
impact of 
proposed 
scheme 

Potential differential or 
disproportionate effects on groups 

with protected characteristics 

Direction and 
type of Impact 

Scoped in or Scoped Out Further evidence 
required 

A
g

e
 

S
e
x

 

E
th

n
ic

it
y

 

R
e
li

g
io

n
 

D
is

a
b

il
it

y
 

S
e
x
u

a
l 

O
ri

e
n

ta
ti

o
n

 

G
e
n

d
e
r 

R
e
a
s

s
ig

n
m

e
n

t 

P
re

g
n

a
n

c
y

/ 

m
a
te

rn
it

y
 

S
o

c
io

-e
c

o
n

o
m

ic
 

s
ta

tu
s

 

M
a
rr

ia
g

e
/ 

C
iv

il
 

P
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 

Community Cohesion 

Changes in 
levels of 
severance 

x    x    x  Positive where 

traffic has been 
reduced. 
Potential 
negative impacts 

for households 
within close 
proximity to the 
proposed 
scheme. 

Traffic can be key cause of 
community severance and 
as such any changes to 
traffic flow can result in 
reduced/increased 
severance and community 
cohesion. This issue is 
scoped in to the full 

assessment for younger 
people, older people, 
people with disabilities and 
people from deprived 
backgrounds. 

Severance assessment 

results 

Traffic model outputs 

Equalities demographic 

analysis of affected 

communities 

Access to jobs, education and training 

Scheme 
enables 
residential 
development 
which will 
potentially 
create 
opportunities for 
employment 

x        x  Positive if 

proposed scheme 
enables 
employment 
opportunities 
aimed at people 
with protected 
characteristics. 

The scheme could 
advance equality of 
opportunity to employment 
should it increase the 
number and type of jobs in 
the area. This issue is 
scoped in to the full 

assessment for younger 
people and people with 
lower 
incomes/unemployed. 

Information on types of 

employment 

allocated for 

proposed 

development sites  

 

64



Appendix C 

Environmental Constraints 

 Ecology and Rights of Way 

 Heritage 

 Noise and Air Quality 

 Water 

 

65



 

 

Ecology and Rights of Way 

66



 

 

 

Heritage Constraints 
67



 

68



 

69



 

70



Noise and Air Quality Constraints 

71



 

 

Water Constraints 

72



Appendix D
Potential Environmental Impacts and 
Proposed Mitigations

73



Discipline Sensitive Receptors Key Impacts Proposed Mitigation
(positive and negative)

Nature
Conservation

Statutorily Protected 
species and habitats 
Hedgerows

Himalayan Balsam

Freshwater Invertebrates 
(TBC)

Fish (TBC) – including 
Bullhead

Great Crested Newt (to 
date confirmed in Ponds 
4, 22, 24 and 29)

Grass Snake

Wintering Birds

Breeding Birds

Barn Owl

Bats – roosting (TBC) 

Bats – foraging (TBC

Badger

- Severance of over 50 hedgerows,
including at least three which are 
considered important under the Hedgerow 
Regulations.

- Himalayan Balsam present along 
Scalford Brook and Thorpe Brook, with 
the potential to be spread to other 
watercourses, through construction 
activities.

- Loss of and degradation to habitats 
supporting notable species and 
assemblages.

- Loss of and degradation to habitats 
supporting notable species and 
assemblages.

- Habitat loss, fragmentation, loss of 
foraging and resting habitat, impact on 
pond water levels, potential injury and 
killing of a European protected species

- Loss and degradation of habitats to the 
north of Melton Mowbray Country Park.

- Possibility of injury during construction 
works to the north of Melton Mowbray 
Country Park.

- Loss of overwintering foraging habitats 
for farmland passerines, e.g. stubble/set- 
aside.

- Loss of hedgerow and arable farmland 
nesting and foraging habitats.

- Loss of non-breeding roost site.

- Loss of roost sites (recorded within the 
main farm building at Sysonbury Farm) 
- Severance and loss of foraging and 
commuting routes and habitats.
- Increased risk of predation through
lighting.
- Risk of mortality at points where 
commuting routes cross the new road

Creation of new species rich
hedgerows.

Restoration of existing hedgerows 
by filling gaps and promoting 
suitable management techniques.

Implementation of strict biosecurity 
protocols.

Best practice measures to minimise 
habitat degradation, e.g. through 
pollution or shading.

Creation and restoration of 
connecting freshwater habitats to 
enhance freshwater invertebrate 
assemblages.

Best practice measures to minimise 
habitat degradation, e.g. through 
pollution or shading.

Creation and restoration of 
connecting freshwater habitats to 
enhance and secure long term 
viability of fish populations.

EPSM licence for great crested 
newts, habitat restoration 
measures, creation of new 
terrestrial habitat and ponds, 
hibernacula, log piles, 
enhancement of existing habitat, 
maintain habitat connectivity 
creation of new terrestrial habitat 
and ponds, hibernacula, log piles, 
enhancement of existing habitat, 
maintain habitat connectivity.

Management of redundant 
agricultural areas within the redline 
boundary to allow for creation of 
suitable overwinter foraging 
opportunities, such as game cover 
strips, set-aside margins, etc.

74



Water Vole

Otter

- Possible loss of two setts within the
footprint scheme.
- Creation of a barrier within existing 
territories, leading to the potential for 
mortality from traffic collisions.

- Possible loss of and degradation to 
habitats used by Water Vole.
- Potential disturbance to resting/breeding
site.

- Potential disturbance to resting sites, 
habitat modification, habitat loss, impact 
on water levels/cause of flooding and 
subsequently causing killing and injury to 
otter.

management and creation of
hedgerows to promote biodiversity.

Management of redundant 
agricultural areas to allow creation 
of floristically diverse grasslands, to 
provide invertebrate prey during
spring/summer.

Creation of artificial roost site, e.g. 
box located within suitable buildings 
or tree.

EPSM license for bats, creation of 
new roosts.

Potential green infrastructure and
well-designed soft landscaping to 
maintain connectivity and steer bats 
away from zones where traffic 
collisions are possible.

Sensitive lighting to avoid 
illuminating foraging areas or light 
spill into habitats used by bats.

Avoidance and retention of setts in 
the first instance, but if this cannot 
be avoided then sett closure under 
license, with the creation of artificial 
setts at suitable locations away 
from the scheme.

Habitat restoration, habitat creation 
and enhancement.

Habitat restoration (EPSM 
disturbance licence), habitat 
creation and enhancement, otter 
ledges in culverts/bridges.

Statutorily Protected
Sites
(SSSI)

River Eye SSSI

-Direct loss of habitat, habitat degradation
and detrimental changes in river 
hydrology.

Detailed mitigation, compensation
and enhancement delivered across 
the wider SSSI, including 
restoration to promote natural river 
processes, habitat creation to 
improve quality status and species 
assemblages and wider control of 
management processes where 
possible.

Other designated sites
(Wildlife Sites, nature 
reserves, BAP)

Melton Mowbray Country 
Park LWS

- Potential for degradation to habitats
within the LWS.

- Potential for degradation to habitats

Best practice measures to minimise
habitat degradation, e.g. through 
pollution or shading.

Best practice measures to minimise

75



Scalford Brook LWS
within the LWS. habitat degradation, e.g. through

pollution or shading.

Air Quality Residential properties and
other non-residential 
potentially sensitive 
receptors including 
educational buildings and 
the River Eye SSSI

+ Reduction in pollutant concentrations
through the centre of Melton Mowbray

- Increase in pollutant concentrations 
along the extent of the scheme

No overall significant effect anticipated for 
air quality

None proposed for operational
phase.

Standard best practice dust 
mitigation measures proposed for 
the construction phase.

Cultural
Heritage

Designated heritage
assets (Scheduled 
Monuments and listed 
buildings)

Buried archaeological 
features

Buried paleo- 
archaeological/environme 
ntal deposits in the River 
Eye valley.

-Negative impacts on the setting of
designated heritage assets.

- Direct physical impacts on buried 
archaeological features.

- Loss of paleo-
archaeological/environmental deposits.

Consideration of detailed design
elements (eg signage and street 
furniture) to limit potential impacts 
on the setting of designated assets.

Archaeological evaluation to 
identify the potential for 
archaeological features along the 
route. Detailed archaeological 
excavation will be required in areas 
were archaeological features are 
identified.

Use of Ground Investigation results 
and specialist paleo- archaeological/
environmental analysis to record the 
deposits prior to any impact.

Landscape &
Visual

Landscape Character
Area (LCA) 6: Ridge and 
Valley; LCA 11: Pastoral 
Farmland; LCA 13: Eye 
Valley; LCA 16: Farmland 
Patchwork; and LCA 17: 
Open Arable; LCA 20: 
Melton Fringe / LCA 21: 
Melton (taken from Melton 
Landscape Character 
Assessment)

Residential properties in 
Melton Mowbray (approx. 
600m west);

Residential properties in 
Thorpe Arnold (approx. 
200m west);

Residential properties in 
Burton Lazars (approx. 
500m south);

Residential properties in 
Brentingby and Wyfordby 
(nearest approx. 1km 
east); Other individual

Loss of rural characteristics such as
agricultural land and hedgerows – 
negative impact

Addition of highway, moving traffic and 
urbanising infrastructure within rural fringe 
of Melton Mowbray – negative impact

Reduction of perceived tranquillity within 
rural fringe of Melton Mowbray – negative 
impact

Effect of additional lighting in the rural 
environment – negative impact

Addition of the proposed development 
and moving traffic to residential views 
across rural countryside in Burton Lazars 
and Thorpe Arnold as well as the northern 
and eastern edges of Melton Mowbray – 
negative impact

Addition of the proposed development 
and moving traffic to recreational views 
across rural countryside from within 
Melton Country Park, on National Cycle

Reinstatement or realignment of
hedgerows where possible, with a 
view to maintaining and reinforcing 
the existing field pattern. 
Landscape mitigation design to 
consider landscape character within 
design decisions.

Limit lighting to that which is 
absolutely necessary, particularly in 
the more rural parts of the study 
area. Design lighting so that there 
is minimal light spill.

Screening planting where 
appropriate in terms of visual 
mitigation and landscape character 
(ie not planting screening 
vegetation in a wide open 
landscape).

76



isolated residential
properties;

Users of National Cycle 
Route 64 (crosses the 
proposed development); 
Users of various local 
rights of way; Users of 
Twinlakes Park (approx. 
200m north-east); Users 
of Melton Country Park 
(approx. 200m north- 
east); Transitional 
receptors on the A606 
(crosses the proposed 
development); 
Transitional receptors on 
the A607 (crosses the 
proposed development); 
Transitional receptors on 
the B676 (crosses the 
proposed development); 
Transitional receptors on 
the Leicester- 
Peterborough railway line 
(crosses the proposed 
development); 
Transitional receptors on 
minor roads; and Workers 
on and users of the Saxby 
Road Industrial Estate 
(approx. 1km west).

Route 64, and on various local public
rights of way – negative impact

Reduced traffic levels within views in the 
centre of Melton Mowbray – positive 
impact

Geology &
Soils

Human Receptors (future
road users, residents and 
workers of nearby 
properties);

Controlled Waters 
(underlying groundwater 
aquifers, Surface 
watercourses e.g. River 
Eye and Scalford Brook);

Development 
Infrastructure (MMDR, 
bridges and other 
associated structures);

Agricultural Land and Soil 
Quality

(-) Low likelihood of disturbance and
release of potentially contaminated soil;

(-) Low risk of pollution to groundwater 
and surface watercourses;

(-) Low risk of chemical attack on 
foundations by potential aggressive 
ground conditions;

(-) Loss of minimal Best and Most
Versatile agricultural land

Carrying out an intrusive
investigation to assess the potential 
contamination risk;

Developing and complying with a 
site specific Construction 
Environmental Management Plan 
(CEMP);

Complying with the following 
guidance documents:

DEFRA’s 2009 Code of Practice for 
sustainable use and management 
of soils on construction sites;

CIRIA C692 (2010) Environmental 
Good Practice on Site; and

Pollution Prevention measures;

Controlling surface water run-off 
using appropriate drainage 
measures.

77



Climate
Change 
Adaptation  1

Social receptors (i.e. local
communities/business or 
road users)

Road assets and their 
operation, maintenance 
and refurbishment (i.e. 
pavements, structures, 
technology etc.)

+ Reduced pavement deterioration from 
less exposure to freezing, snow and ice2

Update winter maintenance plans

Regular monitoring and 
maintenance of pavement materials

Social receptors (i.e. local
communities/business or 
road users)

Road assets and their 
operation, maintenance 
and refurbishment (i.e. 
pavements, structures, 
technology etc.)

+ Reduced need for snow clearing Update winter maintenance plans

Social receptors (i.e. local
communities/business or 
road users)

- Health and safety risks to road users
(e.g. from brake failure) and employees

Suitable Personal Protective
Equipment

Education of road users regarding 
appropriate vehicle maintenance

Social receptors (i.e. local
communities/business or 
road users)

Road assets and their 
operation, maintenance 
and refurbishment (i.e. 
pavements, structures, 
technology etc.)

- Inaccessible networks and assets Identification of suitable network
redundancies

Strategic deployment of critical 
resources with suitable training

River Eye

Surrounding ecosystems 
and biodiversity

Social receptors (i.e. local 
communities/business or 
road users)

Road assets and their 
operation, maintenance 
and refurbishment (i.e. 
pavements, structures, 
technology etc.)

- ‘Summer Ice’: After a prolonged period
of no rain when dirt and oil residue builds 
up on the road. When the first rain event 
occurs this material becomes incredibly 
slippery and dangerous (similar to ice on 
the road)

Road user warning systems in
place

Regular maintenance of drainage 
systems

Cleansing of the network where 
appropriate.

Surrounding ecosystems
and biodiversity

Social receptors (i.e. local 
communities/business or 
road users)

- Signs, tall structures and high-sided
vehicles at risk from increasing wind 
speeds

Road user warning systems in
place

Effective vegetation maintenance 

Regular surveys, management and

1 Key impacts have been chosen to be the ones assessed with “High” Magnitude (Likelihood x Severity) 
during any of the 30-year period (2020s, 2050s or 2080s).
2 Positive impacts have been marked with “+” as well as negative impacts have been marked with “-“.

78



Road assets and their
operation, maintenance 
and refurbishment (i.e. 
pavements, structures, 
technology etc.)

monitoring of street furniture such
as street lighting to ensure asset 
stability.

Social receptors (i.e. local 
communities/business or 
road users)

Road assets and their 
operation, maintenance 
and refurbishment (i.e. 
pavements, structures, 
technology etc.)

- Reduced safety as a result of standing
water

Road user warning systems in
place

Regular maintenance of drainage 
systems

Emergency preparedness plans to 
be in place.

River Eye

Surrounding ecosystems 
and biodiversity
Social receptors (i.e. local
communities/business or 
road users)

Road assets and their 
operation, maintenance 
and refurbishment (i.e. 
pavements, structures, 
technology etc.)

- Increasing ice/snow melt leading to
flooding

Road user warning systems in
place

Ensure effective, essential winter 
maintenance.

Emergency preparedness plans to 
be in place.

Social receptors (i.e. local
communities/business or 
road users)

- Safety risks due to snow and ice

Social receptors (i.e. local
communities/business or 
road users)

Road assets and their 
operation, maintenance 
and refurbishment (i.e. 
pavements, structures, 
technology etc.)

- Reduced pavement friction coefficient Road user warning systems in
place

A high friction surface coating will 
likely be required on lengths of 
carriageway leading up to junctions 
and pedestrian crossings.

River Eye

Surrounding ecosystems 
and biodiversity

Social receptors (i.e. local 
communities/business or 
road users)

Road assets and their 
operation, maintenance 
and refurbishment (i.e. 
pavements, structures, 
technology etc.)

- Increased debris and mud flow onto
roads

Road user warning systems in
place

Regular maintenance of drainage 
systems

Regular road sweeping and 
cleansing.

79



River Eye

Surrounding ecosystems 
and biodiversity

Social receptors (i.e. local 
communities/business or 
road users)

Road assets and their 
operation, maintenance 
and refurbishment (i.e. 
pavements, structures, 
technology etc.)

- Increased slope instability and landslides
leading to subsidence

Road user warning systems in
place

Requirement for regular slope 
stability/ geotechnical surveys

Emergency preparedness plans to 
be in place

Identification of suitable network 
redundancies

River Eye

Surrounding ecosystems 
and biodiversity

Social receptors (i.e. local 
communities/business or 
road users)

Road assets and their 
operation, maintenance 
and refurbishment (i.e. 
pavements, structures, 
technology etc.)

- Damage to roads and drainage systems
due to flooding

Regular monitoring of drainage
systems (potential use for CCTV 
etc.)

Regular maintenance of drainage 
systems

Emergency preparedness plans to 
be in place

Climate
Change
Mitigation 
(GHG 
Assessment)

Global Climate (UK 
carbon inventory and 
Carbon Budgets used as 
proxy)

+ Reduction in GHG emissions from
vehicles on traffic model area in 
operational stage

Emissions from:

-Vehicles and fuel use for generators on 
site in enabling works and construction 
activity

-Workers travelling to and from the site of 
the Proposed Scheme

-Loss of carbon sink from land clearance

-Embodied GHG emissions in 
construction products

- Disposal of any waste generated by the 
construction processes

- Embodied emissions associated with 
maintenance and re-surfacing materials

A CEMP (construction
environmental management plan) 
prepared and implemented by the 
selected construction contractor to 
include a range of best practice 
construction measures

Specification of alternative 
materials with lower embodied 
GHG emissions and locally sourced 
where feasible

Low carbon design specifications 
such as energy-efficient lighting 
and durable construction materials 
to reduce maintenance and 
replacement cycles

Sustainable
Travel

Local residents
Motorised Travellers (road 
users)
Non-Motorised Users

- Journey times and traffic congestion
(construction)
- Diversions or closures to footpaths and 
Public Rights of Way (construction)

+ Journey times and traffic congestion 
(operation)

Use of clear signposting for 
Motorised Travellers and Non- 
Motorised Users both during 
construction (to inform of 
diversions) and operation (to 
identify new routes).

80



- Temporary closures to footpaths
and Public Rights of Way 
(operation)

Community
Severance

Local residents
Motorised Travellers (road 
users)
Non-Motorised Users
(NMUs)
Community and Private 
Assets (e.g. community 
facilities, services, 
dwellings)
Open Spaces and
Agricultural Lands

- Journey times and traffic congestion
(construction)

- Views and visual impacts (construction)

- Diversions or closures to footpaths and 
Public Rights of Way (construction)

- Air Quality and Noise effects on NMUs 
(construction)

- Disruption to / Loss of Open Spaces 
(construction)

- Disruption to / Loss of Agricultural Land 
(construction)

+ Journey times and traffic congestion 
(operation)

0 Views and visual impacts (operation)

0 Closures to footpaths and Public Rights 
of Way (operation)

0 Air Quality and Noise effects on NMUs 
(operation)

0 Disruption to / Loss of Open Spaces 
(operation)

- Disruption to / Loss of Agricultural Land 
(operation)

Use of clear signposting for
Motorised Travellers and Non- 
Motorised Users both during 
construction (to inform of 
diversions) and operation (to 
identify new routes).

Replacement of any open spaces 
which are permanently lost and 
enhancement of any which are 
temporarily required during 
construction.

Use of appropriate Air Quality and 
Noise measures. Mitigation in
relation to effects experienced in
relation to Air Quality and Noise is 
expected to be incorporated within 
the scheme as far as possible.

Re-provision of any community or 
private assets which are 
permanently lost, or appropriate 
compensation measures (to be 
determined by the applicant)

Health Human Health and
Wellbeing, as 
experienced by Local 
Residents

0 Access to open space and nature

0 Air Quality, Noise, and Neighbourhood 
Amenity

+ Accessibility and Active Travel

0 Crime Reduction and Community Safety 

+ Access to Work and Training

+ Social Cohesion and Lifetime
Neighbourhoods

0 Minimising the use of Resources

0 Climate Change

Use of appropriate Air Quality and
Noise measures. Mitigation in 
relation to effects experienced in 
relation to Air Quality and Noise will 
be incorporated within the scheme 
as far as possible.

No further mitigation required.

Options to enhance the benefits of 
the scheme in relation to human 
health will be explored and outlined 
within the Health Assessment.

Water
Resources 
(inc flood 
risk)

River Eye SSSI (Very
high importance)

+ Re-meandering of the River Eye where
it had been historically straightened for 
the abandoned canal.

• Consultation with
regulators and landowners.

• Environmental surveys,
designs and assessment.

81



Scalford Brook, lakes in
Melton Mowbray Country 
Park, and Thorpe Brook 
(High importance)

Minor watercourses, lakes 
and ponds, and 
groundwater (Medium to 
low importance)

Areas of fluvial flood risk 
either side of major 
watercourses

+ Improved river and floodplain habitats,
for biodiversity and amenity, in keeping 
with meeting WFD objectives and 
supporting meeting favourable 
conservation status of the SSSI.

+ Natural flood management.

+ Realignment and daylighting of ordinary 
watercourse adjacent to Lag Lane and 
upsizing of the existing undersized culvert 
known to cause highway flooding.

+ The proposed River Eye realignment is 
unlikely to adversely impact flood risk to 
any residential properties since there are 
none located in the immediate vicinity. 
The river section to be realigned is 
currently surrounded by greenfield.

- Potential impacts on water quality, both 
surface and groundwater, due to 
deposition or spillage of soils, sediments, 
oils, fuels, or other construction 
chemicals, or through mobilisation of 
contamination following disturbance of 
contaminated ground or groundwater, or 
through uncontrolled site run-off.

- New discharges of highway runoff to 
watercourses that may include dissolved 
and particulate pollutants (e.g. metals, 
hydrocarbons, particulates, de-icant salts 
etc.).

- Potential increase in volume and rate of 
surface water runoff from new impervious 
areas leading to an impact on flood risk.

- The construction of a new bridge across 
the River Eye, although offset by the 
removal of the shorter existing Lag Lane 
structure, will result in land take within the 
floodplain due to new embankments, 
potential changes in flood levels and 
flows, shading of the channel, loss of 
habitat, and a risk of scouring of the river 
bed and banks.

- The construction of two new bridges 
across the Scalford Brook and the Thorpe 
Brook will result in land take within the 
floodplain due to new embankments, 
potential changes in flood levels and

• Increased habitat areas.
• Improved flood storage.
• Removal of the Lag Lane

bridge which currently acts
as a constriction to offset 
impact of new larger span 
structure.

• Brentingby Dam defends
Melton Mowbray against
flooding from River Eye. 
The proposed MMDR is 
located downstream of 
Brentingby Dam.

• Provision of flood relief
culverts under the
proposed highway 
embankment to reduce 
afflux upstream of the 
proposed bridge on River 
Eye.

• Flood compensation
storage for loss of flood
plain.

• Proposed highway
drainage network and
attenuation ponds will be 
designed so as to not 
increase surface water 
flood risk from the 
proposed scheme to 
adjacent areas.

• Construction phase
mitigation measures to
manage works to avoid, 
minimise and reduce the 
risk of water pollution or the 
physical damage to water 
bodies.

• Proposed highway
drainage network and
attenuation ponds will be 
designed to provide 
treatment of runoff and to 
provide a way that large 
chemical spillages can be 
retained within the highway 
drainage network.

82



flows, shading of the channel, loss of
habitat, and a risk of scouring of the river 
bed and banks.

- Permanent loss of channel from three 
new culverts across Ordinary 
Watercourses.

Noise &
Vibration

Residential properties and
other non-residential 
potentially sensitive 
receptors including 
educational, medical and 
community buildings.

+ reduction in traffic noise levels through
the centre of Melton Mowbray

- increase in traffic noise levels along the 
extent of the scheme, significant adverse 
effects anticipated at a number of 
individual properties, parts of Thorpe 
Arnold and edges of Melton Mowbray.

Low noise surfacing within the
scheme extents

Noise barriers where feasible; 
subject to engineering and 
landscape constraints.

Limitations

• The assessment presented in the table is based on information currently available
at the time at writing. A full assessment of the proposed scheme will be undertaken 
and reported in the Environmental Statement.

• In-use emissions impacts have been taken from the WebTag air quality modelling
that was produced for the Business Case.

• As construction data is yet to be finalised, GHG emissions from construction
phases are in pre-assessment stage. Therefore, potential impacts and general 
mitigation measures have been estimated on a qualitative basis using professional 
judgement

• We have not had a decision from LCC on operational noise mitigation.
• Unable to say anything specific beyond normal best practice for construction noise;

need contractor input.
• Work is ongoing and decisions need to be made which will influence the scheme

design, assess impacts and inform mitigation measures.

83



This page is intentionally left blank



   

 

 
 

ENVIRONMENT AND TRANSPORT OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE – 28 JUNE 2018 

 
ASH DIEBACK ACTION PLAN 

 
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF ENVIRONMENT AND TRANSPORT  

 
 
Purpose of the Report 
 
1. The purpose of this report is to seek the views of the Environment and Transport 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee on the proposed approach to the management of 
ash dieback and the draft Ash Dieback Action Plan, which is being presented to 
Cabinet on 6 July 2018 and is appended to this report.  
 

Policy Framework and Previous Decisions 
 
2. The Tree Management Strategy was adopted by the Cabinet on 8 March 2011 and 

identifies a standard for the management of the tree resource under the stewardship of 
the County Council.  The Strategy has been evaluated and is considered to be fit for 
purpose for the management of ash dieback.  

 
Background 
 
3. Ash dieback, sometimes known as ‘Chalara’, affects ash and other Fraxinus species of 

trees and is caused by a fungal pathogen. 
 
4. The fungus arrived from Asia into Europe during the 1990’s and has spread rapidly.  

Although the first official record in Britain was in 2012, anecdotal evidence now 
suggests it may have arrived here over a decade earlier.  

 
5. The fungus causes a range of symptoms from leaf and branch dieback to death of ash 

trees.  Once infected, a high proportion of trees will die.  A few ash trees may survive 
the infection because of genetic factors which give them tolerance of, or resistance to, 
the disease but the percentage of the UK’s ash trees that are likely to be resistant to 
the fungus is unknown.  

 
6. Ash dieback was first identified in Leicestershire in 2012 at the Park and Ride car park 

in Birstall.  The disease is thought to have been brought to the site on infected nursery 
stock. 
 

7. Ash dieback is now present throughout Leicestershire.  Surveys undertaken in 2017 
identified ash dieback in a number of younger plantations, landscape plots and self-set 
saplings, mainly in the north-west of the county. At present, there is very little evidence 
of the disease affecting mature trees.  However, experience from other areas suggests 
that symptoms of ash dieback may be more subtle in mature trees than in younger 
specimens.   

 

85 Agenda Item 11



   

 

8. Existing tree inspection procedures for Leicestershire County Council trees (and those 
in private ownership impacting the highway) provide for annual routine inspections by 
accredited operational staff (e.g. highways inspectors) and specialist inspections by 
qualified tree inspectors every three years.  Additionally, tree inspectors provide 
ongoing advice to operational staff to ensure one off / emergency situations are dealt 
with appropriately. 

 
9. There are no exact figures of the number of ash trees in Leicestershire.  However, it is 

estimated that there may be over 500,000 ash trees in the county.  In terms of County 
Council controlled land, there are 6,020 recorded ash trees on adopted highway 
verges with a further 120,000-plus ash trees in private ownership within falling 
distance of the highway.  In addition, there are 2,014 recorded ash trees on school and 
other County Council sites.  It is prudent to assume that the disease may result in the 
loss of between 75% and 90% of ash trees in Leicestershire.  However, the levels of 
decline and mortality that will result are matters of considerable uncertainty.  

 
Ash Dieback Action Plan 

 
10. A cross departmental project team has been set up to co-ordinate the Council’s 

approach to ash dieback.   
 
11. In line with the best practice approach advocated by Defra and the Tree Council, a 

draft Ash Dieback Action Plan, appended, has been developed to outline how the 
Council plans to manage the anticipated risks and issues associated with the spread 
of ash dieback across the county.  The action plan is a live document and will continue 
to evolve over time.   

 
12. The Tree Management Strategy (approved by Cabinet on 8 March 2011) has been 

evaluated in light of ash dieback and is considered to be fit for purpose for the 
management of this disease.  It has, therefore, been used as the basis of the 
approach outlined in the action plan.   

 
13. In line with the Tree Management Strategy, the County Council will take a risk based 

approach to the management of ash dieback.  The emphasis will be on maintaining 
the highest levels of health and safety for the public while aiming to minimise the 
impacts on landscape, ecology and the environment.  High risk areas are considered 
to be highways, schools, country parks, and other areas where the public has access.   

 
14. Examples of key areas of work covered by the action plan include:- 

 
a) Policy and Strategy 

 Ensure ash dieback actions are included in relevant team plans and 
Performance and Development Reviews (PDRs) 

 Carry out an audit of relevant highways and other policies and processes 
that may need to be reviewed in light of ash dieback 

b) Communication 

 Development of a comprehensive communications and engagement plan 
c) Training 

 Investigate training requirements and produce a training plan 
d) Operational 

 Develop a matrix for the assessment, reporting and management of 
infected trees 

86



   

 

 Investigate opportunities for the development of a free/low cost tree 
replacement scheme 

e) Commercial Opportunities 

 Produce an outline business case for commercial opportunities linked to the 
spread of ash dieback (e.g. tree inspection / management service, 
production of wood chip for biomass boilers etc.) 

 
Resource Implications 

 
15. Ash dieback has been identified in the Medium Term Financial Strategy as a future 

potential financial development/pressure.  
 

16. The financial implications of the spread of ash dieback will be more fully understood as 
individual business cases are produced as part of the implementation of the Ash 
Dieback Action Plan. 

 
Timetable for Decisions 
 
17. The draft Ash Dieback Action Plan is to be considered by the Cabinet, alongside any 

views of the Environment and Transport Overview and Scrutiny Committee, at its 
meeting on 6 July 2018. 

 
Conclusion 
 
18. It is not clear to what extent and over what time period ash dieback may affect ash 

trees in Leicestershire.  The proposed Ash Dieback Action Plan will allow the Council 
to proactively manage the risks and issues that may be associated with the spread of 
the disease across the County over time.   

 
Background papers 
 
8 March 2011 – Cabinet – Tree Management Strategy 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/s52039/K%20-
%20Tree%20Management%20Strategy%20March%202011.pdf 
 
Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) 2018 
https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/about-the-council/council-spending/medium-term-
financial-strategy-mtfs 
 
Circulation under Local Issues Alert Procedure 
 
19. This report is being circulated to all Members of the Council via the Members' News in 

Brief Service. 
 
  

87

http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/s52039/K%20-%20Tree%20Management%20Strategy%20March%202011.pdf
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/s52039/K%20-%20Tree%20Management%20Strategy%20March%202011.pdf
https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/about-the-council/council-spending/medium-term-financial-strategy-mtfs
https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/about-the-council/council-spending/medium-term-financial-strategy-mtfs


   

 

Officers to Contact 
 
Ann Carruthers 
Director, Environment and Transport Department 
Tel: (0116) 305 7000 
Email: Ann.Carruthers@leics.gov.uk  
       
Joanna Guyll 
Assistant Director, Environment and Waste 
Tel:    (0116) 305 8101 
Email: Joanna.Guyll@leics.gov.uk 
 
Appendix 
 
Draft Ash Dieback Action Plan 
 
Equalities and Human Rights Implications  
 
20. There are no equality or human rights implications directly arising from this report.  An 

Equality and Human Rights Impact Assessment (EHRIA) screening has been completed 
but this concluded that a full impact assessment was not required. 

 
 
 

88

mailto:Ann.Carruthers@leics.gov.uk
mailto:Joanna.Guyll@leics.gov.uk


 

1 

Proposed Ash Die Back Action Plan v19 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ash Dieback Action 

Plan 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

July 2018 

89



 

2 

Proposed Ash Die Back Action Plan v19 

Table of Contents 

 

1. Summary ................................................................................................... 3 

2. About Ash Dieback .................................................................................... 4 

3. Ash in Leicestershire ................................................................................. 6 

4. Ash Dieback in Leicestershire ................................................................... 7 

5. Potential Financial Impacts of Ash Dieback .............................................. 9 

6. Action Plan .............................................................................................. 10 

7. Risks and Issues ..................................................................................... 14 

8. Governance ............................................................................................. 18 

9. Dependencies ......................................................................................... 18 

10. Links to Other Strategies and Policies ................................................. 18 

Appendix 1: Ash Dieback – Indicative Cost Estimates ................................... 20 

 

90



 

3 

Proposed Ash Die Back Action Plan v19 

1. Summary 

 

1.1. In line with the best practice approach advocated by Defra and the 
Tree Council, Leicestershire County Council have developed this action 
plan to outline how we plan to manage the anticipated risks and issues 
associated with the spread of ash dieback across the county. 
 

1.2. This action plan has been prepared to help ensure that the necessary 
work streams are put in place to ensure that the county is ready and 
adequately resourced both to respond to the effects of the disease and to 
minimise long term adverse impacts through promoting resilience. During 
the next 5 to 15 years the disease is likely to become prevalent across the 
county and we should use this time wisely.  
 

1.3. Based on experience from other northern European countries, it is 
prudent to assume that ash dieback may result in the loss of between 75% 
and 90% of ash trees in Leicestershire. However, the levels of decline and 
mortality that will result are matters of considerable uncertainty.  
 

1.4. The Tree Management Strategy (approved by Cabinet on 8 March 
2011) identifies a standard for the management of the tree resource under 
the stewardship of the County Council.  The Strategy has been evaluated 
and is considered to be fit for purpose for the management of ash dieback 
and will therefore be used as the basis of the approach.   
 

1.5. In line with the Tree Management Strategy, the County Council will 
take a risk based approach to the management of ash dieback.  The 
emphasis will be on maintaining the highest levels of health and safety for 
the public while aiming to minimise the impacts on landscape, ecology and 
the environment.  High risk areas are considered to be highways, schools, 
country parks, and other areas where the public has access.  

 
1.6. At present, the disease appears to only be prevalent in immature ash 

stock in Leicestershire which presents a low risk in terms of health and 
safety.  Current tree inspection procedures for LCC trees (and those in 
private ownership impacting the highway) provide for annual routine 
inspections by accredited operational staff (e.g. highways inspectors) and 
specialist inspections by qualified tree inspectors every 3 years. 
Additionally tree inspectors provide ongoing advice to operational staff to 
ensure one off / emergency situations are dealt with appropriately. 

 

1.7. Examples of key areas of work covered by the action plan include: 
 

a) Policy and Strategy 

 Ensure ash dieback actions are included in relevant team plans and 
performance and development reviews (PDRs) 

91



 

4 

Proposed Ash Die Back Action Plan v19 

 Carry out an audit of the relevant policies and processes that may 
need to be reviewed in light of ash dieback 
 

b) Communication 

 Development of a comprehensive communications and 
engagement plan 
 

c) Training 

 Investigate training requirements and produce a training plan 
 

d) Operational  

 Develop a matrix for the assessment, reporting and management of 
infected trees 

 Investigate opportunities for the development of a free/low cost tree 
replacement scheme 
 

e) Commercial Opportunities 

 Produce an outline business case for commercial opportunities 
linked to the spread of ash dieback (e.g. tree inspection / 
management service, production of wood chip for biomass boilers 
etc) 

 

2. About Ash Dieback 

 

2.1. Ash dieback, sometimes known as ‘Chalara’, affects ash and other 
Fraxinus species of trees and is caused by a fungal pathogen. 
 

2.2. The fungus, Hymenoscyphus fraxineus (anamorph - Chalara fraxinea), 
arrived from Asia into Europe during the 1990’s and has spread rapidly.  
Although the first official record in Britain was only as recently as 2012, 
anecdotal evidence now suggests it may have arrived here over a decade 
earlier.  
 

2.3. This invasive fungus causes a range of symptoms from leaf and branch 
dieback to death of Fraxinus excelsior (Ash) trees and other Fraxinus 
species. Once infected, a high proportion of trees will die. A few ash trees 
may survive the infection because of genetic factors which give them 
tolerance of, or resistance to, the disease but the percentage of the UK’s 
ash trees that are likely to be resistant to the fungus is unknown (as at the 
middle of 2018). Evidence from mainland Europe suggested that only 10% 
of trees were found to be moderately resistant to the disease, with 1-2% 
having high levels of resistance. 
 

2.4. The rate of decline of any individual tree varies with age, young trees 
dying quickly and mature trees declining more slowly. As an example, the 
photographs show the change in one tree in Devon over a one year period 
(photographs taken 06/07/16 and 07/07/17 respectively). The pictures 

92



 

5 

Proposed Ash Die Back Action Plan v19 

show a 10 -15% decline in the canopy in a single year and anecdotal 
reports from areas of the UK currently infected by ash dieback support this 
as a typical rate of decline. However, some individual trees (depending on 
their health and condition) could decline much more rapidly. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2.5. Related to the concern about ash dieback, Defra’s Chief Scientific 
Adviser established an expert group in 2012 which reported that evidence 
from the continent suggested that trees with ash dieback older than 10 
years and less than 40 years old will die in 3-5 years, particularly if they 
are also infected with other pathogens such as honey fungus, and likely 
more rapidly if they are already debilitated1.  

 

 

                                                           
1
 https://www.forestry.gov.uk/forestry/infd-8zss7u 

93



 

6 

Proposed Ash Die Back Action Plan v19 

2.6. Infection mostly occurs through sexually produced ascospores landing 
on leaves or twigs but can also occur at the base of trunks (the root collar) 
and through root infection. Each spore has the potential to grow within, 
and colonise, parts of the ash tree.  The windborne ascospores are 
produced from fruiting bodies (small white mushrooms) on the central 
stem (the rachis) of last year’s fallen ash leaves. 
  

2.7. As it grows, the fungus causes the conducting vessels of the infected 
tree, the phloem2 and xylem3, to produce gums and tyloses4 in an attempt 
to restrict the growth of the fungus.  These gums and tyloses block the 
vessels and prevent the movement of water and nutrients up and down 
the tree. This causes the leaves to wilt and eventually, this lack of water 
and nutrient movement will cause the branches of the tree to die back.  
This die back of the branches can allow the invasion of secondary 
pathogens (e.g. honey fungus), cause the tree to become unstable, shed 
branches and eventually succumb to the disease. 
 

2.8. Where root collar infection occurs, the affected trees may become 
infected by another pathogen such as honey fungus.  This can cause the 
tree to become unstable and dangerous over a relatively short period of 
timewithout any obvious dieback symptoms in the canopy. This makes 
identifying ‘dangerous’ ash trees considerably harder.  Basal infection has 
been seen extensively across Europe but seems to occur mainly in areas 
of denser ash populations such as woodlands. 
 

2.9. For more detailed information on the biology of ash dieback see: 
https://www.forestry.gov.uk/fr/INFD-9KCHLT 

 

 

3. Ash in Leicestershire 

 

3.1. There are no exact figures as to the number of ash trees in 
Leicestershire. However, it is estimated that there are over 500,000 ash 
trees in Leicestershire of which: 

 6,020 are recorded as being located on adopted highway verges 

 1,546 are recorded as being located on school sites 

 468 are recorded as being located on other LCC sites 

 5,500 are estimated (non-recorded) as being located in LCC 
woodlands adjacent to areas of public use 

 120,000+ are estimated as being in private ownership within falling 
distance of the highway 

 83% of recorded ash trees are 6 metres plus in height 

                                                           
2
 Phloem vessels transport nutrients from the leaves to the rest of the plant. 

3
 Xylem vessels transport water from the roots to the leaves.  

4
 Tyloses are balloon like outgrowths in the conducting vessels. 

94

https://www.forestry.gov.uk/fr/INFD-9KCHLT


 

7 

Proposed Ash Die Back Action Plan v19 

 600 ash trees are currently identified as veteran (or near veteran) 
trees.  Veteran trees have cultural, historical, landscape and nature 
conservation value because of their age, size, or condition  

 It is possible that there may be 6,000 over mature ash trees in 
Leicestershire (i.e. trees that are no longer growing). 

 

3.2. Leicestershire County Council is responsible for the inspection and 
maintenance of all trees on land it owns and manages, including the 
adopted highway.  LCC is also responsible, as highway authority, for the 
safety of all road users and as such, has measures in place which 
identifies hazardous trees in private ownership adjacent to the highway.  
Such measures include procedures to contact tree owners and ensure 
that the necessary remedial work is undertaken. 

 

4. Ash Dieback in Leicestershire 

 

4.1. Currently, ash dieback is present throughout Leicestershire and is 
particularly evident on young trees, new shoots (e.g. trimmed hedgerows) 
and in young plantations.  Sample survey areas on main routes 
throughout Leicestershire and on selected school sites have been 
identified and inspections of mature trees taken place.  These inspections 
have been undertaken in mid to late summer when the symptoms of the 
disease are likely to be most evident. These inspections will continue 
during the summer months each year to monitor the development of 
symptoms on mature trees.    
 

4.2. At present there is very little evidence of the disease affecting mature 
trees which is a pattern reported in many areas of the country.  This 
suggests that young growth, particularly close to ground level where the 
fungus over-winters (i.e. on discarded leaf stalks) is highly susceptible 
whereas young shoots in the canopy of mature trees are affected less.  
This may indicate a degree of resistance in our mature trees but may also 
reflect that fungal spores are currently being distributed close to ground 
level, with consequent infection of young shoots on younger stock. 
 

4.3. Ash dieback was first identified in Leicestershire in 2012 within newly 
planted landscape plots at the Park and Ride car park in Birstall.  The 
disease is thought to have been brought to the site on infected nursery 
stock. 
 

4.4. The Tree Management Strategy recognises the tree resource under 
the stewardship of the County Council and identifies a standard for its 
management.  This standard includes the frequency and level of specialist 
tree inspections based on the extent of risk posed to site users.  The 
strategy criteria remain the same regardless of the particular 
disease/disorder affecting the condition of the tree and consequently there 

95



 

8 

Proposed Ash Die Back Action Plan v19 

is no need to amend the strategy to accommodate ash dieback.  However, 
there will potentially be a need to increase resources to achieve the 
inspection targets specified in the strategy.   
 

4.5. The County Council’s approach to ash dieback should accord with the 
Tree Management Strategy and as with other trees on its sites, inspection 
and maintenance regimes should be based on levels of site usage and the 
associated risk posed.  
 

4.6. As previously mentioned, it is difficult to predict at this stage how ash 
dieback will affect the mature ash population within Leicestershire.  The 
levels of mortality and the extent of crown die-back may be less or similar 
to those experienced in continental Europe.  As with any defective tree, 
any action specified should be based on the minimum work required to 
remove the identified hazard to the highway or site user.  Trees in low risk 
areas should, where possible be left to conserve their ecological and 
landscape value.  In high risk areas however, where a progressive decline 
is noted, it may be prudent to consider the removal of the tree and 
appropriate replacement planting. 
 

4.7. The potential loss of trees in Leicestershire and the adverse effect on 
the county’s landscape is a significant consideration.  It is essential that a 
robust replanting programme forms a major part of the authority’s 
approach to managing ash dieback.  Although the authority currently runs 
a suite of schemes to encourage landowners to plant trees, a much wider 
ranging approach with significantly increased targets is required.  A range 
of suitable native and naturalised tree species, appropriate to the planting 
location should be made available to encourage early replacement 
planting to mitigate ash dieback. 
 

4.8. As part of this action plan, the County Council will approach suppliers 
of nursery stock to ensure that appropriate quantities of suitable stock are 
available.  In order to maintain bio-security and ecological integrity, such 
stock will be specified as originating from British provenance seed which 
has been germinated and grown in Britain for the full extent of the tree’s 
life 
 

4.9. Trials have been established in East Anglia to measure resistance to 
ash dieback from young ash stock which has been grown from a range of 
seed provenances collected from throughout the British Isles.  The 
purpose of the trials is to identify provenances which exhibit high levels of 
resistance to ash dieback.  Additionally, mature ash trees throughout 
Britain exhibiting resistance will also be identified through normal 
inspection procedures. When suitably resistant sources have been 
identified, it is anticipated that the nursery industry will eventually be able 
to start producing resistant ash stock through appropriate propagation 
techniques. 

 

 

96



 

9 

Proposed Ash Die Back Action Plan v19 

5. Potential Financial Impacts of Ash Dieback 

 

5.1. Ash dieback has been identified in the Medium Term Financial Strategy 
as a future potential financial development/pressure.  
 

5.2. The financial implications of the spread of ash dieback will be more 
fully understood as individual business cases are produced as part of the 
implementation of this Ash Dieback Action Plan.   
 

5.3. Current knowledge suggests that there is little immediate resource 
requirement.  As individual business cases are produced appropriate 
funding profiles and resources will be identified in conjunction with 
Corporate Resources. 
 

5.4. Appendix 1 contains some initial, and very indicative, cost projections 
with regard to the management of ash dieback over a 15 year period. The 
costs cover the areas of: 

 Adopted highway verges 

 Schools 

 Other LCC sites 
 

5.5. The current projections do not include information on providing ash 
dieback related tree management services to private landowners as 
further work is required in this area as detailed in Section 6 below. 
 

5.6. With regard to the re-planting of trees there is the potential of external 
funding from a scheme run by the Woodland Trust to help in this area. 
Further work is required to investigate this possibility as detailed in Section 
6 below. 

 

97



 

10 

Proposed Ash Die Back Action Plan v19 

 

6. Action Plan  

Policy & Strategy 

Ref Task Lead 
Discipline 

Delivery 
Date 

Others Involved 

A1 Develop a performance reporting process / 
schedule.  

Environment September 18  

A2 Ensure that ash dieback actions are included in 
relevant team plans and performance and 
development reviews (PDRs) 

Board 
members 

September 18 
(and ongoing) 

 

A3 Ensure that additional costs associated with ash 
dieback are coded to specific ash dieback budget 
code 

Board 
members 

July 18 Finance 

A4a Carry out an audit of the relevant highways and 
other policies and processes that may need to be 
reviewed in light of ash dieback e.g. process for 
reporting tree issues, road closures policy, etc. 
This needs to be aligned with the BAU risk based 
approach being implemented by Highways 

Highways 
Delivery 

December 18 Countryside 
Services 

A4b Agree and sign off policy changes Highways 
Delivery 

t.b.c. Countryside Services 

A4c Resource profiling – model the potential resource 
implications of proposed policy / process changes 

Highways 
Delivery 

t.b.c. Countryside Services 

 

Communication 

98



 

11 

Proposed Ash Die Back Action Plan v19 

Ref Task Lead Discipline Delivery 
Date 

Others Involved 

A5a Produce and deliver a comprehensive 
communication & engagement plan – both 
internal and external (including information 
targeted at private landowners; general public, 
district councils, parish councils; schools / 
academies, Woodland Trust, National Forest, 
Tree Council, DEFRA, and voluntary groups). 
This plan must also link into other relevant local 
and national initiatives 

Communications July 18 Board Members 
Appropriate 
External Bodies 
Trading Standards 

A5b Produce ash dieback FAQ’s and publish on the 
LCC website 

Communications t.b.c. Countryside 
Services 
Environment 
Highways Delivery 
Trading Standards 

A5c Design advertising materials targeted at private 
landowners to provide them with information 
about the disease and how to recognise it, their 
legal responsibilities, and, if appropriate, our 
service offering and how to contact us about our 
service offering  

Communications t.b.c. Commercial 
Services 
Environment 
Countryside 
Services 

A6 Alert Trading Standards to any reports of rogue 
tree contractors linked to ash dieback and work 
together to resolve/ minimise issues as 
appropriate 

Communications ongoing Trading Standards 
Environment 
Countryside 
Services 

 

Training 

99



 

12 

Proposed Ash Die Back Action Plan v19 

Ref Task Lead 
Discipline 

Delivery 
Date 

Others Involved 

A7a Investigate training requirements & produce a 
training plan – including who is to be trained in 
what e.g. highway inspectors, tree wardens, 
volunteers, etc. 

Learning and 
Development 

September 
18 

Highways Delivery 

A7b Follow up basic tree inspection training with ash 
dieback training for highways inspectors 

Highways 
Delivery 

t.b.c. Countryside 
Services 

A7c Investigate what training materials are available 
from external bodies such as the Woodland Trust 

Learning and 
Development 

September 
18 (and 
ongoing) 

 

A8 Liaise with further education colleges on the 
provision of suitable arboriculture courses 

Learning and 
Development 

t.b.c  

A9 Trading standards officers to provide awareness 
raising session for tree inspectors regarding the 
remit of the trading standards section and the likely 
types of offences that may occur linked to ash 
dieback 

Trading 
Standards 

t.b.c. Countryside 
Services 

 

Operational 

Ref Task Lead 
Discipline 

Delivery 
Date 

Others Involved 

A10 Develop a matrix for the assessment, reporting 
and management of infected trees 

Countryside 
Services 

September 
18 

Tree Officers 
Tree Inspectors 
Highways Delivery 
Insurance 

A11 Produce ash dieback survey / inspection plan Countryside July 2018 Highways Delivery 

100



 

13 

Proposed Ash Die Back Action Plan v19 

Ref Task Lead 
Discipline 

Delivery 
Date 

Others Involved 

outlining methodology, frequency and reporting.  
Include consideration of innovative surveying 
methods e.g. photography, video and whether 
statistical significance can / should be achieved.  
 

Services 

A12 Sample surveys to be repeated on an annual 
basis. Sample areas to be reviewed and 
expanded as and when appropriate. 

Countryside 
Services 

Ongoing, 
annual 

 

A13a Investigate opportunities for the development of a 
tree replacement scheme to provide free / low 
cost trees to landowners to mitigate tree loss due 
to ash dieback 

Countryside 
Services 
Environment 

December 
2018 

 

A13b Subject to business case, implement new free / 
low cost tree scheme 

Countryside 
Services 
Environment 

April 2019  

A14 Develop a tree purchasing standard to ensure 
high levels of biosecurity / provenance in trees 
purchased by LCC 

Environment December 
2018 

Commissioning  
Support Unit 

A15 Investigate the implementation of a voluntary 
Register of Ash trees that are perceived as being 
important so as to protect any resistant ash trees. 
(Note: this is not legally enforceable) 

Ecology October 2018  

A16a Monitor developments in techniques for testing / 
identifying individual trees that are resistant to ash 
dieback  

Environment Ongoing Countryside Services 

A16b As / when testing techniques become available, 
identify individual trees in LCC ownership that are 
resistant to ash dieback 

Countryside 
Services 

t.b.c.  

101



 

14 

Proposed Ash Die Back Action Plan v19 

 

 

Commercial Opportunities 

Ref Task Lead 
Discipline 

Delivery 
Date 

Others Involved 

A17a Produce an outline business case (OBC) for 
commercial opportunities linked to the spread of 
ash dieback (e.g. tree inspection / management 
service, production of wood chip for biomass 
boilers etc.) 

Commercial 
Services 

September 
2018 

Countryside 
Services 
Facilities 
Management 
Highways Delivery 
Legal Services 

A17b Depending on the outcome of the OBC, produce 
full business case(s) for identified opportunities 

Commercial 
Services 

t.b.c. Legal Services 

 

7. Risks and Issues  

a. Risks 

The owner for all the risks is the Ash Dieback Project Board with responsibility delegated to the representative of the 

agreed Lead Discipline 

 

Ref. Detail Mitigation 
Lead 

Discipline 
Impact Likelihood 

Risk 
Rating 

R1 
Health and safety risk to life, services and 
transport networks caused by diseased 

Inspection and management of ash 
trees in line with policies in the Tree 

Highways 
Delivery 

5 3 15 
Red 

102



 

15 

Proposed Ash Die Back Action Plan v19 

Ref. Detail Mitigation 
Lead 

Discipline 
Impact Likelihood 

Risk 
Rating 

trees falling down / shedding branches Management Strategy 

R2 

Threats to the local landscape character, 
land use or biodiversity in terms of 
changes in the landscape characteristics 
of Leicestershire 

Leave standing dead wood in place 
where the health and safety risks 
are considered to be acceptable 
based on current best practice and 
minimum legal requirements. 
 
Tree planting / replanting scheme.  

Environment  3 4 12 
Amber 

R3 

Reputational risk to LCC of ash dieback 
not being appropriately managed in 
Leicestershire  
 

Preparation and delivery of ash 
dieback action plan 

Project Board 5 2 10  
Amber 

R4 

Climate impacts in terms of reduced 
ecosystem services; Increased pollution 
or flooding as a result of ash tree decline; 
Reduced shading and cooling in hot 
weather 

Tree planting / replanting scheme. Environment  3 4 12 
Amber 

R5 
Lack of accurate data on ash stocks and 
their condition 

Ongoing inspection of ash trees in 
line with policies in the Tree 
Management Strategy 

Countryside 
Services  

3 2 6 
Green 

R6 

Insufficient resource with the relevant 
skills in specialist tree inspection and 
management , collection of tree data, etc. 
(identification, removal and replacement) 

Assessment of required resources 
 
Training  

Countryside 
Services 

4 3 12 
Amber 

R7 
Disjointed approach to the management 
of Ash Dieback 

The Project Board will ensure that 
all ash dieback management 
processes and related systems are 

Project Board 4 3 12 
Amber 

103



 

16 

Proposed Ash Die Back Action Plan v19 

Ref. Detail Mitigation 
Lead 

Discipline 
Impact Likelihood 

Risk 
Rating 

joined up with all other relevant inter 
and cross departmental processes 
and systems to ensure that this 
action plan is implemented in a 
consistent and joined up fashion. 
 
Opportunities for information sharing 
and collaboration with external 
partners (e.g. districts, National 
Forest etc) around the management 
of ash dieback will be explored 
where advantageous to do so. 
 

R8 

Lack of communication with non-LCC 
landowners about the extent and impact 
of ash dieback e.g. advice on tree 
legislation with reference to things such 
as Tree Preservation Orders and Felling 
Licences 

Preparation of comprehensive 
communications plan. 

Communicati
ons 
 

3 2 6 
Green 

R9 

Lack of or insufficient service offered to 
local landowners in the identification, 
removal and replacement of infected ash 
trees 

Preparation of business case for 
commercial opportunities 

Countryside 
Services 

2 3 6 
Green 

R10 

Insufficient resource to implement the 
action plan e.g. lack of funding to replace 
non-woodland trees, carry out sufficient 
survey work etc.  

Funding is provisionally earmarked 
within the Council’s Future 
developments. As plans develop the 
financial implications will become 

Finance  5 2 10 
Amber 

104



 

17 

Proposed Ash Die Back Action Plan v19 

Ref. Detail Mitigation 
Lead 

Discipline 
Impact Likelihood 

Risk 
Rating 

clearer and appropriate funding 
levels will be defined and explicitly 
identified through the MTFS refresh 
process.   
Training 
 

R11 

Risk that landowners will refuse / be 
unable to meet costs of undertaking 
works to affected trees.  Legal costs to 
reclaim costs may be prohibitively high.  

Tolerate Highways 
Delivery 

4 3 12 
Amber 

 

b. Issues 

 

Ref. Detail Resolution Lead 
Discipline 

Resolution 
Date 

Progress 

I1 Lack of national information regarding 
Chalara and potential spread and 

infectious potential in the non‐woodland 
ash population 

Keep up to date with national 
position and latest research 

Countryside 
Services 

ongoing  

I2 Rogue traders falsely using ash dieback 
as a reason to persuade residents to 
undertake unnecessary / inappropriate 
works to trees 

Communications plan 
 
Cross departmental working 

Trading 
Standards  

ongoing  

105



 

18 

Proposed Ash Die Back Action Plan v19 

 

8. Governance 

 

8.1. The ongoing development and delivery of the Ash Dieback Action Plan will be 
monitored by the Ash Dieback Board which will in turn report progress to the 
Environment Strategy Delivery Board.  Delivery of the Environment Strategy is 
overseen by chief officers sitting as the Corporate Management Team (CMT).  

 

9. Dependencies 

 

9.1. The service is currently investigating the need for increased tree inspections 
to deal with a current backlog. The outcome of this will have an impact on the 
frequency and approach to inspections. 
 

9.2. In order to ensure that there is a consistent and joined up approach to tree 
inspection and the reporting of any issues it is essential that joined up processes 
and systems are put in place. 
 

9.3. The Highways service is currently going through a process of defining a risk 
based approach to highways maintenance activities. This work will need to be 
aligned to the work undertaken on producing a risk matrix as detailed in Section 
6 above. 

 

10. Links to Other Strategies and Policies 

10.1. This ash dieback action plan supports the following aims within the LCC 
Environment Strategy: 

 Conserve and enhance the character, diversity and local distinctiveness of 
Leicestershire landscapes and towns, and provide opportunities for public 
access and enjoyment of green spaces  

 Protect people from harm caused by climate change and the deteriorating 
condition of the environment and climate change  

 Demonstrate and promote environmental good practice to show community 
leadership  
 

10.2. Ash dieback presents both a threat and an opportunity to the Council’s 
Environment Strategy. It threatens the council’s ambition to protect and enhance 
the environment of Leicestershire and to support biodiversity improvements. But 
it also presents an opportunity for the council to take action which will improve 
the biodiversity value of its own land and that of the wider county and to create, 
protect and enhance sustainable green infrastructure. It also provides an 
opportunity for the council to respond to the impacts of climate change, protect 
people from harm caused by climate change and the deteriorating condition of 

106



 

19 

Proposed Ash Die Back Action Plan v19 

the environment as well as protecting the local distinctiveness of the 
Leicestershire landscape. 

 
10.3. As previously discussed, the Tree Management Strategy (approved by 

Cabinet on 8 March 2011) identifies a standard for the management of the tree 
resource under the stewardship of the County Council.  The Strategy has been 
evaluated and is considered to be fit for purpose for the management of ash 
dieback and will therefore be used as the basis of the approach.   

 
  

107



 

20 

Proposed Ash Die Back Action Plan v19 

Appendix 1: Ash Dieback – Indicative Cost Estimates 

 
 
Adopted Highway Verges 
 
Felling Costs 

Anticipated cost is between £1.875m - £2.625m 
 

Anticipated annual cost spread over 15 years is £125k - £175k p.a. 
 

Replanting Costs  
The cost of replacing felled trees is approx. £225k - £300k   

 
Annual cost over 15 years is between £15k - £20k p.a. 

 
Additional Inspection Costs 

 £30k p.a. 
 

 Anticipated total annual cost over 15 years is between £170k & £225k 
 
Schools 

 
Felling Costs 

Anticipated cost is between £525k - £675k 
 
Anticipated annual cost spread over 15 years is £35k - £45k p.a. 

 
Replanting Costs  

The cost of replacing felled trees is between £45k - £75k 
 

Annual cost over 15 years is approximately £5K 
 

Additional Inspection Costs   
£15k p.a. 

 
 Anticipated annual cost over 15 years is between £55k & £65k   

Other LCC sites 
 
Felling Costs 

Anticipated cost is between £1.875m - £2.625m 
 

Anticipated annual cost over 15 years is between £125k - £175k p.a. 
 

Replanting Costs  
The cost of replacing felled trees is between £225k - £300k 
Annual cost over 15 years is between £15k - £20k 

 
Additional Inspection Costs –   

108



 

21 

Proposed Ash Die Back Action Plan v19 

£15k p.a. 
 

Anticipated annual cost over 15 years is between £155k - £210k  

Summary 

 Adopted 

Highway 

Schools Other LCC 

Sites 

Total 

Total Cost 

over 15 year 

period 

£2.55m - 

£3.375m 

£825k - £975K £2.325m - 

£3.150m 

£5.7m -£7.5m 

Annual Costs £170k - £225k £55k - £65k £155k - £210k £380k - £500k 

 
 

109



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 
 
 

ENVIRONMENT AND TRANSPORT OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE - 28 JUNE 2018 

 
ENVIRONMENT STRATEGY 

 
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF ENVIRONMENT AND 

TRANSPORT 

Purpose of Report 

 
1. The purpose of this report is to seek the views of the Environment and 

Transport Overview and Scrutiny Committee on the proposed Environment 
Strategy 2018-2030, which is being presented to Cabinet on 6th July 2018 
and is appended to this report (Appendix A).  

 
Policy Framework and Previous Decisions 
 
2. The previous Environment Strategy was approved by Leicestershire County 

Council on 28 September 2011. 
 
3. The Cabinet approved the Carbon Reduction Strategy and Implementation 

Plan on 15 July 2014. 

 
4. It was agreed on 2nd March 2017 that the new Environment Strategy would 

be brought back to the Environment and Transport Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee for comment once it was prepared. 

 
5. The new Environment Strategy is to be considered by the Cabinet for 

approval, alongside any views of the Environment and Transport Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee at its meeting on 6th July 2018. 

 
Background 

 
6. The Corporate Management Team (CMT) agreed in November 2016 that a 

review of the Environment Strategy should be carried out. In May 2017 CMT 
agreed an approach to carrying out the review which included incorporating 
the Carbon Reduction Strategy into the new Environment Strategy. 

 
7. The overall purpose of carrying out the review of the Environment Strategy 

was to provide a more coherent and comprehensive policy position regarding 
LCC’s strategic approach and response to the environment and climate 
change in a single document. The new strategy needed to take account of 
the significant change that had taken place since the previous strategy was 
developed in 2011 and also the ongoing public sector austerity. The Strategy 
will be supported by a prioritised and flexible Action Plan (see Appendix B) as 
well as an effective governance structure and reporting mechanisms. 

111 Agenda Item 12



 

 

 
8. In January 2018, the CMT approved a new governance structure for the 

Strategy in the form of the Environment Strategy Delivery Board (ESDB).  
 
9. Consultants AMEC Foster Wheeler were appointed to carry out the review. 

The review was carried out as part of a 5 stage process (see figure 1 for 
details).  

 
Figure 1: Review 5 Stage Process  
 

 
 

Engagement 
 

10. An important part of the agreed approach to carrying out the review was to 

use the review itself as a means of strengthening the cross departmental 

ownership of the Environment Strategy. The consultants prepared a 

Consultation and Engagement Plan and two stages of consultation were 

conducted.  Stage 1 consisted of three facilitated half-day workshops with 

internal stakeholders, while stage 2 consisted of an online survey which was 

sent to both internal and external stakeholders asking their views on a 

working draft of the Environment Strategy. Appendix C provides a list of the 

external Stakeholders consulted with as part of the review.  

11. A total of 29 key staff attended the stage 1 workshops, representing all 

departments and priority service areas relevant to the Environment Strategy. 

The feedback from the workshops showed that there was cross departmental 

support for the council to take action on climate change and on protecting the 

environment. While there was recognition that there was much the Council 

could control within its own operations there were concerns about how much 

112



 

 

control and influence the council had across the wider county. The solution to 

this was acknowledged to be greater collaborative working with a range of 

partners both inside and outside the county.  

12. While there was a desire to be ambitious, it was acknowledged that the on-

going budgetary constraints would inevitably restrain environmental action. 

This could be mitigated by greater joined up thinking and working across 

service areas which identified the net benefit case for action for the council 

as a whole, rather than service areas working in isolation. 

13. The second stage of consultation presented a Working Draft Environment 

Strategy to stakeholders, both internal and external, to allow them to provide 

feedback.  

14. A total of 35 responses were received, some of which were group responses 

from service areas and organisations. The key headline results of the 

consultation were as follows: 

 64% of respondents agreed that the supporting text provided sufficient 

content and evidence to give them an understanding of the key drivers, 

benefits, purpose and scope of the Environment Strategy. 

 64% of respondents agreed that the Vision Statement adequately and 

clearly set out the aspirations for the Environment Strategy. 

15. Stakeholders were specifically asked to comment on the aims, objectives, 

targets and indicators set out in the draft strategy. The County Council 

received a range of useful comments and these were incorporated and 

expanded upon where possible in preparing the final Environment Strategy 

document.  

Environment Strategy Key Points 
 

16. The development of the Strategy has been informed by an evidence base 

which identified the key global, national and local drivers for action on the 

environment and climate change. In particular, it highlights the Paris 

Agreement, the Climate Change Act 2008, the Clean Growth Strategy and 

the 25 year Environment Plan. 

17. This exercise highlighted that the County Council is going through a period of 

change as the Government sets out its policy position on the environment 

and provides increasing detail on how it expects its policy position to be 

delivered. In doing this, the Government is expected to clarify what the roles 

and responsibilities will be for local government.  As a result, it has been 

necessary to build in flexibility into the Council’s 12-year Environment 

Strategy so the County Council can respond to any developments. 

113



 

 

 

18. It also highlighted that several environmental issues are very much in the 

public consciousness and that there are increasing calls for action on areas 

such as single use plastics, local air quality, energy consumption, 

biodiversity, use of electric vehicles etc. The Environment Strategy needs to 

be able to respond to public calls for action also. 

19. The Strategy demonstrates how it will contribute to meeting the outcomes set 

out in the Council’s Strategic Plan 2018-22. It also shows how the activities of 

the council impact on the environment and sets out the rationale for taking 

action on environmental issues.  

20. The Strategy sets out its scope as: 

 the legal and statutory duties that LCC must fulfil regarding the 

environment and the national response to climate change; 

 what LCC needs to do to embed environmental sustainability into the 

effective and efficient running of council services; 

 what LCC needs to do to fulfil its leadership role in a way that 

recognises and minimises the environmental impact, improves the 

health and wellbeing of people and contributes to the sustainable 

economic development of the County. 

21. The vision of the Strategy is as follows: 

‘Leicestershire County Council will minimise the environmental impacts of 

its own activities and will contribute to the improvement of the wider 

environment through local action. We will continue to play a significant role 

in protecting and enhancing the environment of Leicestershire, meeting the 

challenges and opportunities of climate change, and seeking to embed 

environmental sustainability into both social and economic development in 

the county.’ 

22. The Strategy consists of 15 aims set across the following themes: 

 Carbon and Climate Change Impacts 

 Resource Use and Low/Zero Carbon Energy 

 Travel and Transport 

 Biodiversity, Habitats and Local Environment 

 Community and Wellbeing 

 Local Economy 

114



 

 

 

23. For each aim there are a range of internal and external objectives which 

provide more detail on how the aims will be delivered both within the Council 

and by the Council, where it has control and influence within Leicestershire. 

The aims and objectives have been written in such a way as to give the 

Strategy longevity and to provide scope for the Strategy to respond to and 

flex with the evolving position on the environment and climate change. 

24. The Strategy will be supported by a live three year Action Plan designed to 

accommodate changing policies and priorities. The Action Plan will set out 

the priority actions for the forthcoming period building on the evidence base 

produced as part of the review of the Environment Strategy and further 

discussions with action owners and delivery partners. 

25. A suite of high-level targets have been set within the Strategy covering 

climate change, waste, water, energy, transportation and environmental 

performance. The climate change target has been informed by the 

Government’s target to achieve an 80% reduction in greenhouse gas 

emissions (GHG) emissions by 2050 as set out in the Climate Change Act 

2008. This equates to a 38% reduction in GHG emissions from LCC 

operation by 2030 (compared to 2016-17 baseline). The Strategy includes 

the target of 100% clean energy by 2050 following the signing of the UK 100 

Pledge by the Cabinet on the 22 May 2018. 

26. Further work is needed to develop all targets to 2030 and to establish all the 

appropriate key performance indicators (KPIs). This will be done through the 

ESDB and the action planning process. Targets will also be periodically 

reviewed to consider any relevant changes in government policy or 

legislation and to ensure the targets represent a continuous improvement in 

performance. 

27. Performance monitoring of the Strategy and the Action Plan will continue to 

be managed through the Councils Environmental Management System. 

Performance reporting will be provided to a number of corporate groups as 

well as the Environment and Transport Overview and Scrutiny Committee, 

and an annual environmental performance summary report will be published 

on the Council’s website each year. 

Governance 
 

28. The new governance structure for overseeing the implementation of the 

Strategy; the Environment Strategy Delivery Board (ESDB) will be chaired by 

the Assistant Director (Environment & Waste). The ESDB will be able to 

establish Task and Finish Groups to work on particular projects as required 

enabling progress to be maintained. 

115



 

 

29. The Environment Strategy which will both contribute to and be impacted by 

the Council’s strategic outcomes will be embedded into the new governance 

structures for the Strategic Plan as well as into the corporate performance 

management framework. 

Resource Implications 

30. Utilising an evidence based approach the Council will continue to identify 

opportunities where both financial savings and improvements to the 

environment can be achieved. To date over £21 million has been invested in 

significant projects which directly and indirectly have environmental benefits 

including the street lighting LED project, the installation of solar panels and 

the biomass boiler projects. 

31. Going forward there is the potential to draw in private investment and 

external grant funding to support the implementation of the new Environment 

Strategy. 

32. However, no additional County Council funding has been committed to 

implementing the Environment Strategy specifically. Projects will be 

supported on a case by case basis and business cases produced where 

necessary. 

Equal Opportunities Implications 
 
33. An outline Equality and Human Rights Impact Assessment indicated that 

overall the Strategy is likely to have a positive impact. However, individual 

projects will be assessed for equal opportunities implications as they are 

developed as part of the Strategy implementation process. 

Background Papers 
 
None. 
 
Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure 
 
None. 
 
Officers to Contact 
 
Ann Carruthers 
Director, Environment & Transport 
 
Joanna Guyll 

Tel : 0116 305 7000 
Email : ann.carruthers@leics.gov.uk 
 
Tel: 0116 305 7079 

Assistant Director, Environment & 
Transport 

Email: joanna.guyll@leics.gov.uk 

  
James O’Brien Tel: 0116 305 7319 
Team Manager – Environment Policy & 
Strategy 

Email: james.obrien@leics.gov.uk 

116

mailto:ann.carruthers@leics.gov.uk
mailto:joanna.guyll@leics.gov.uk
mailto:hannah.moss@leics.gov.uk


 

 

 
 
List of Appendices  
 
Appendix A - Environment Strategy 
Appendix B - Working High Level Action Plan 
Appendix C - List of External Stakeholders consulted 

 

117



This page is intentionally left blank



Environment 
Strategy  
2018 – 2030: 
delivering a 
better future

119



2 3

Contents

Contents  2

Foreword  3

Executive summary  5

Introduction  7

Environment Strategy key drivers  9

The environmental issues and their context  13

Purpose of this document  15

Scope 15

Our Vision 17

Our Aims 18

Our Objectives 19

Environment Strategy Targets  23

Monitoring and managing change  25

How the Environment Strategy contributes to the                           

Council’s Strategic Plan   26

Governance  29

Appendix 1 Summary of Council’s rationale for  

taking action on environmental issues  31

Glossary  35

Acronyms  37

120



2 3

Foreword

Cllr Blake Pain, Lead Member for Environment & Transport

Leicestershire County Council has an established commitment to the environment, 
being a signatory to both the Nottingham Declaration and Climate Local.  We have 
achieved much in recent years to improve our environmental performance including 
reducing our greenhouse gas emissions 4 years ahead of target and significantly 
increasing the generation of renewable energy on our council buildings and land.

However, we are becoming 

increasingly aware of the 

existing and future impacts 

of climate change and the 

significant decline in the 

natural environment, and we 

acknowledge that it is the 

activities of humankind that are 

contributing significantly to this 

situation.  As a local authority 

we must take a leadership role 

in building on the global and 

national commitments made 

to address the situation by 

working with partners to take 

action within Leicestershire. 

In recent years there have 

been increasing public calls 

for action on climate change 

and the environment, be that 

in terms of reducing the use of 

single use plastics, improving 

air quality, encouraging the use 

of low emissions vehicles and 

improving energy efficiency.

Our new Environment Strategy 

takes account of the latest 

information and key drivers 

for action on the environment 

and recognises that if we are 

to make a positive difference 

to the lives of Leicestershire 

people we need to protect 

and enhance the environment 

and meet the challenges 

and opportunities of climate 

change. 

This Strategy provides a 

framework for action up to 

2030 for what we can do 

as a council within our own 

operations and also where we 

have control and influence 

within the County. It also 

allows us to respond to any 

changes in circumstances 

such as the evolving national 

policy and legislative position 

and the improving scientific 

evidence base.

Delivery of this Strategy will 

require significant collaborative 

working within Leicestershire 

County Council, with the 

communities of Leicestershire 

and with partner organisations.

I look forward to supporting 

this collaborative effort to 

meet the challenges and 

opportunities of climate 

change and our deteriorating 

natural environment to ensure 

a better future for the people 

of Leicestershire for future 

generations.

121



4 5

122



4 5

There are clear drivers for action to protect and improve the environment and to tackle 
climate change at a global, national and local level. Leicestershire County Council 
(LCC) is building on its longstanding commitment to the environment and taking 
action to reduce: the impact of its operations on the environment, its contribution to 
climate change and to ensure its assets are resilient to the effects of climate change. 
The Council will also work with partners to protect and enhance the Leicestershire 
environment and help to deliver sustainable development by recognising and fostering 
the links between the environment, people and the economy.

These key drivers are 

highlighted in this Strategy and 

are informed by an evidence 

base from which the Strategy 

was developed. The UK 

Government recognises the 

need for international action 

and has committed to:  

• The Paris Agreement of 2015 

which requires signatory 

countries to work together in 

limiting global temperature 

rise to below 1.5 to 2°C;

• The 2030 Agenda for 

Sustainable Development 

which emphasises the 

interconnection between 

economic development, 

social equity and inclusion 

and environmental impacts. 

It sets out 17 Sustainable 

Development Goals (SDGs) 

that Governments are 

expected to translate into 

national action plans, 

policies and initiatives. 

In addition to these global 

initiatives, the UK Government 

has a number of strategies to 

support changes in the way 

we use and manage energy, 

water, resources, land and 

transport including:

• The Clean Growth Strategy 

which underlines the role 

that local government has 

in delivering and supporting 

an evolution to a low carbon 

society;

• The 25-year Environment 

Plan which recognises that 

‘natural capital’ (the air we 

breathe, water we drink, 

soil we cultivate and the 

ecosystem we rely on), is 

essential to economic growth 

and long-term productivity.

Executive summary

123



6 7

This Environment Strategy 

has been developed based 

on a review of the global, 

national and local key drivers. 

This has highlighted that the 

policy and legislative position 

in relation to the environment 

is currently going through a 

period of evolution, change and 

uncertainty as the Government 

provides more detail on how 

the Paris Agreement will be 

applied, what the 25 year 

Environment Plan will mean 

for local government and how 

environmental legislation 

will be affected by the UK’s 

departure from the EU. 

We have also sought to better 

understand the environmental 

issues of the Council and the 

County and identified both how 

we as a council impact on the 

environment and why we as 

a local authority need to take 

action on environmental issues.

The approach to developing 

this strategy seeks to ensure 

that the vision, aims, objectives 

and targets defined here allow 

action to be effectively taken 

both by the Council and within  

Leicestershire to protect and 

enhance the environment 

and to tackle and respond to 

climate change but also to 

be able to flex and respond 

to the expected changing 

circumstances. 

The Strategy runs up to 

2030 and covers both the 

Council’s own operations and 

also where it has control and 

influence within the county of 

Leicestershire. The Strategy 

identifies the legal and 

statutory duties we must fulfil 

regarding the environment 

and climate change, provides 

opportunities for how to 

embed environmental 

sustainability into the Council 

and sets out what the Council 

needs to do to fulfil its 

leadership role in this area. 

The Strategy focuses on six 

key areas:

• Carbon and Climate Change 

Impacts;

• Resource Use and Low/Zero 

Carbon Energy;

• Travel and Transport;

• Biodiversity, Habitats and 

Local Environment;

• Community and Wellbeing; 

and

• Local Economy.

For each it sets out a series of 

aims and objectives covering 

both our internal services 

and operations and where we 

have control and influence 

externally within Leicestershire 

with consideration for how 

we can also support wider 

national and global actions on 

the environment and climate 

change.

The Strategy also sets out 

an initial range of targets 

particularly for how we 

can reduce the Council’s 

greenhouse gas emissions. 

Further work will be needed 

to develop these and other 

targets to 2030 and this will be 

done through the Environment 

Strategy Delivery Board which 

will be established to oversee 

the implementation of the 

Strategy.

The performance monitoring 

of the Strategy will be 

managed through the Council’s 

Environmental Management 

System (EMS) and existing 

reporting mechanisms. 

An annual environmental 

performance summary report 

will be published on the 

Council’s website each year.

An initial Action Plan has 

been developed to support the 

delivery of the Strategy. Whilst 

not forming part of the Strategy 

document itself, it identifies the 

key areas of activity over the 

next 1-3 years where known 

and will be further developed 

by the Environment Strategy 

Delivery Board in consultation 

with both internal and external 

stakeholders and in response 

to any updates to  government 

policy and legislation or 

changes in local circumstances.

124



6 7

Introduction

There is increasing recognition of and commitment to the need to protect, 
promote and improve the environment at a local, national and global level.  
The Council is committed to minimising its environmental impacts, protecting 
and enhancing the Leicestershire environment and helping to deliver sustainable 
development by recognising and fostering the links between the environment, 
people and our economy.

This Strategy sets out our 

vision, aims, objectives and 

targets which will be used to 

drive improved environmental 

performance.

The scope of the Strategy 

covers both the Council’s own 

operations and also where it 

has control and influence within 

the county of Leicestershire.  It 

includes the legal and statutory 

duties we must fulfil regarding 

the environment, what we need 

to do to embed environmental 

sustainability into the effective 

and efficient running of the 

Council and what we need to 

do to fulfil our leadership role in 

creating a better environment, 

improving the health and 

wellbeing of people and 

contributing to the sustainable 

economic development of the 

county. 

Leicestershire County Council 

(LCC) has a longstanding 

commitment to the 

environment. This includes: 

• 2006: LCC signed up to the 

Nottingham Declaration on 

Climate Change;

• 2008: LCC was accepted 

into the Carbon Trust’s 

Local Authorities Carbon 

Management Programme; 

• 2009: The first 

comprehensive Council-wide 

Environment Strategy and 

Action Plan was approved; 

• 2011: LCC established 

a robust Environmental 

Management System working 

to the ISO 14001 standard; 

• 2012: LCC signed up 

to Climate Local, an 

Environment Agency 

supported initiative;  

• 2014: The Council approved 

the Carbon Reduction 

Strategy and Implementation 

Plan focusing on reducing 

carbon emissions in the 

County; and

• 2018: LCC signs up to  UK 

100 Pledge.

125



8 9

With the making of these 

commitments, the development 

of these documents and 

systems, combined with the 

hard work of Council staff 

and partners, we have made 

visible progress in reducing 

the Council’s environmental 

impact. Of particular note has 

been:

• 37% reduction in the 

Council’s own greenhouse 

gas emissions (GHG) since 

2008-09, 4 years ahead of 

target;

• Significant increase in 

low/zero carbon energy 

generation on Council 

buildings and land. It is 

currently 11% of all Council 

building energy consumption 

(from zero in 2008-09);

• Reduction in business 

mileage of 1.5 million miles 

since 2012. This is a saving 

of more than 400 tonnes of 

CO2e; and

• Within the County, domestic 

GHG emissions have reduced 

by 20% (against 2005 

baseline), with electricity 

emissions reduced by 40%. 

Non-domestic (Industrial 

and commercial) electricity-

related GHG emissions have 

been reduced by 40%, gas 

emissions reduced by 30% 

and other fuels also reduced 

by 30%.

These achievements have 

been made at a time of 

considerable financial 

challenge for the Council, 

though many of them have 

contributed to significant 

financial savings including:

• £1.1m saved on electricity 

bills through the LED street-

lighting project;  

• £505,000 saved through 

reduced business mileage; 

and

• £78,000 saved through 

reduced residual waste 

and increased recycling 

performance from Council 

buildings.

This Strategy replaces 

the Council’s previous 

Environment Strategy and the 

Carbon Reduction Strategy; 

it extends the scope to 2030 

and takes into account the 

latest environmental evidence 

and developments. It will 

provide strong guidance for 

the Council’s future actions 

and enable it to continue its 

leadership role in this area 

and help deliver an improved 

environment for both the 

people of Leicestershire and 

those living further afield 

affected by our actions.

126



8 9

Environment Strategy key drivers

In preparing this Strategy an evidence base was produced which showed that the 
key drivers for action on the environment come from global, national and local 
levels. While this has long been the case, events in recent years have strengthened 
and brought into clearer focus the need for action.

It sets out 17 Sustainable 

Development Goals (SDGs) 

that Governments are 

expected to translate into 

national action plans, policies 

and initiatives.

The UK Government has 

committed to action under 

both the Paris Agreement 

and the 2030 Agenda for 

Sustainable Development. 

Its prioritisation of action on 

climate change can be seen 

in the Climate Change Act 
of 2008. This sets legally 

binding greenhouse gas 

emission reductions targets of 

at least 80% by 2050 (with 

an interim target of 26% 

by 2020) against a 1990 

baseline. If this target is to 

be achieved transformational 

action is required.

In support of this there are 

a range of policy initiatives 

designed to change the way we 

use and manage energy, water, 

resources, land and transport. 

This means contributions 

from everyone, including local 

government.

The UK Government’s recent 

Clean Growth Strategy 

underlines the role that local 

government has in delivering 

and supporting our evolution 

to a low carbon society as we 

respond to these national and 

international commitments. 

The urgent need for concerted 

international action on climate 

change has been recognised 

by over 170 countries globally. 

The Paris Agreement of 2015 

requires countries to work 

together in limiting global 

temperature rise to below 

1.5 to 2°C, the recognised 

level established by the 

Intergovernmental Panel on 

Climate Change to limit the 

risks and impacts of climate 

change. 

The interconnection between 

economic development, social 

equity and inclusion and 

environmental impacts has also 

been recognised internationally 

via the 2030 Agenda for 
Sustainable Development. 

127



10 11

In recognition of this LCC has 

recently signed up to UK 100 

which commits the Council to 

achieving 100% clean energy 

by 2050.

The UK Government’s 25-year 
Environment Plan recognises 

that ‘natural capital’ – the air 

we breathe, water we drink, soil 

we cultivate and the ecosystem 

we rely on – is essential to 

economic growth and long-term 

productivity. It links to many of 

the themes in the Clean Growth 

Strategy. It acknowledges that 

delivery of the plan will require 

contributions from everyone, 

including Local Government. 

Its six goals are relevant to the 

impacts that we need to assess 

as a council in providing our 

services and fulfilling our broad 

range of environmental duties 

and responsibilities:

Goals of the 25 Year 
Environment Plan

• Clean air;

• Reducing the risks of harm 

from environmental hazards;

• Clean and plentiful water;

• Using resources from nature 

more sustainably and 

efficiently;

• Thriving plants and wildlife; 

and

• Enhanced beauty, heritage 

and engagement with the 

natural environment.

“Clean growth is not an option, but a 

duty we owe to the next generation, and 

economic growth has to go hand-in-hand 

with greater protection for our forests 

and beaches, clean air and places of 

outstanding natural beauty.” 
[Clean Growth Strategy, Theresa May, 2017]

“We hold our natural environment in trust 

for the next generation. By implementing 

the measures in this ambitious plan, 

ours can become the first generation to 

leave that environment in a better state 

than we found it and pass on to the 

next generation a natural environment 

protected and enhanced for the future.” 
[A Green Future: Our 25 Year Plan to Improve the Environment, Theresa 

May, 2018]

128



10 11

The Government’s 25-year 

Environment Plan promotes the 

use and management of land 

in a sustainable manner, the 

enhancement and recovery of 

landscapes and the connection 

of people with the environment 

to promote health and 

wellbeing. It also promotes an 

increase in resource efficiency 

and a reduction in pollution 

and waste, securing a clean, 

productive and biologically 

diverse sea and ocean and 

protection and improvement 

of the global environment. It 

identifies that one of the key 

ways this will be implemented 

and achieved is through better 

local planning and more 

effective partnerships.

The Government continues to 

work on a national Clean Air 
Strategy. This is anticipated 

to be completed during 

2018. A UK plan for tackling 

roadside nitrogen dioxide 

(NO2) concentrations was 

published in July 2017. The 

document notes the impact of 

poor air quality, not only on life 

expectancy but also in terms 

of wider health, productivity 

and wellbeing. It also notes the 

wider impact of pollution on the 

environment.

“Escalating pressures, such as climate 

change and modern land management, 

mean that we continue to lose the 

precious wildlife that enriches our lives 

and is essential to the health and well-

being of those who live in the UK.”  
[State of Nature Report 2016, David Attenborough]

In the specific case of NO2 it 

is noted that impacts relate 

to relative concentrations 

and therefore are very 

localised. It is therefore up to 

local authorities to develop 

local plans to manage and 

reduce NO2 levels where it is 

determined to be an issue.

The 2016 State of Nature 
report pools data and 

expertise from over 50 nature 

conservation and research 

organisations and gives a 

cutting edge overview of the 

state of nature in the UK. Its 

conclusions include:

• Between 1970 and 2013, 

56% of species declined, 

with 40% showing strong or 

moderate declines;

• Of the nearly 8,000 species 

assessed using modern Red 

List criteria, 15% are extinct 

or threatened with extinction 

from Great Britain;

• An index describing the 

population trends of species 

of special conservation 

concern in the UK has fallen 

by 67% since 1970; and

• The UK has lost significantly 

more nature over the long 

term than the global average 

and is now one of the most 

nature-depleted countries in 

the world.

129



12 13

The global scientific community 
is increasingly reporting on 
biodiversity loss of such a 
scale that it is considered 
that we are on the edge of 
the sixth mass extinction in 
Earth’s history. The Zoological 
Society of London analysed 
3,000 species and found that 
50% of individual animals 
have been lost since 1970. 
The International Union for 
Conservation of Nature report 
that one in four mammals 
and one in eight birds face a 
high risk of extinction in the 
near future and that the rapid 
loss of species we are seeing 
today is estimated by experts 
to be between 1,000 and 
10,000 times higher than 
the “background” or expected 
natural extinction rate.

There are a number of pieces of 
legislation that place particular 
duties on local authorities 
regarding the conservation, 
management and access 
to the natural environment,  
for example the Wildlife 
& Countryside Act 1981, 
Countryside & Rights of Way 
Act 2000 (CRoW) and the 
Natural Environment & Rural 
Communities Act (NERC) 
2006. 

At a local level, the Leicester, 
Leicestershire & Rutland 
Biodiversity Action Plan 
sets out the commitment to 
biodiversity and habitats from 
2016 to 2026 and provides 
a framework for action for the 
county as a whole. 

In the context of these 
drivers, the increasing societal 
movement to protect and 
improve the environment 
and to take action on climate 
change as well as the 
Council’s leadership role, it 
is critical that we understand 
the environmental impacts of 
our activities and the benefits 
of having an Environment 
Strategy.

This Strategy allows us 
to demonstrate to all our 
stakeholders that we are 
an environmentally aware, 
responsible and committed 
Council. It allows us to 
communicate our strategic 
environmental direction and 
our environmental aims and 
objectives to all stakeholders. 

Having an Environment 
Strategy benefits us as a 
Council by: 

• Assisting us to comply with 
all relevant legislation and 
environmental laws;

• Supporting our staff in 
making more sustainable 
choices, keeping them 
informed about their 
environmental roles and 
responsibilities;

• Allowing us to identify 
opportunities to invest in 
initiatives that reduce our 
environmental impact and, 
in the longer term, save us 
money;

• Reducing the risk of 
environmental incidents 
that result in negative local 
impacts;

• Supporting national and 
international efforts to reduce 
resource consumption and 
the generation of waste 
and to address the loss of 
biodiversity;

• Improving our reputation;

• Supporting national and 
international efforts in 
combatting the impacts of 
and adapting to climate 
change;

• Improving the tracking of our 
environmental performance 
so we can identify both 
progress and problems and 
seek to continually improve;

• Improving the way in which 
we deliver services to 
reduce our impact on the 
environment;

• Reducing the public 
health impacts of climate 
change and a deteriorating 
environment; and

• Supporting efforts to develop 
a more sustainable economy 
for Leicestershire.

The Council’s overall strategic 
vision is to ‘work together 
for the benefit of everyone’ 
and to make a positive 
difference in the lives of the 
people of Leicestershire. 
The development of this 
Environment Strategy and its 
subsequent implementation will 
contribute significantly to the 
achievement of this vision. 

130



12 13

The environmental issues and their context

As a County Council we are responsible for:

• Complying with legislation relating to the 
environmental impacts arising from our day to day 
activities, such as heating and powering our offices, 
using vehicles and generating waste;

• Carrying out statutory and non-statutory duties to 
enable effective management of  certain environmental 
impacts arising from the activities of Leicestershire 
residents and businesses, such as air pollution from 
local transport and the reduction, recycling and 
disposal of household waste; and

• Enforcing environmental legislation on businesses, 
such as in relation to product packaging, banned 
substances and energy certificates. 

In Figure 1 we illustrate how 

our use of resources and energy 

in the delivery of some of our 

Council activities has both 

environmental outputs and 

impacts.

In addition to these 

responsibilities our actions 

are influenced by our wish to 

improve the efficiency of the 

Council, meet the financial 

challenges we are facing, be 

responsive to governmental 

policies and show leadership 

and provide a good example to 

the community.

131



14 15

Fuel WaterEnergy
Raw & 
Processed 
Materials

Activities
• Policy decisions
• Use of goods & services
• Use of fleet & contractor vehicles
• Staff commuting
• Business mileage travelled by staff

• Greenhouse gas emissions
• Air pollution & reduced air quality
• Congestion
• Noise pollution
• Light pollution
• Water pollution
• Contaminated land
• Climate change

• Public health issues
• Resource depletion
• Extreme weather
• Flooding
• Changes in ecology & landscape
• Loss of heritage sites
• Waste
• Biodiversity loss

Outputs & Impacts

• Energy use in buildings
• Energy use for street & traffic lighting
• Building & maintaining roads
• Use of water
• Land management
• Managing Council’s waste

Inputs

Figure 1 Illustrative diagram of some of the adverse environmental impacts of council 
activities

We have carried out an assessment of the rationale for us to take action on environmental issues, 

taking into account our duties and responsibilities and the threats that environmental issues pose to 

the effective delivery of our services. This rationale is set out in Appendix 1.

132



14 15

Purpose of this document

The Council recognises the inter-dependency between environmental,  
social and economic well-being and the essential role it plays in balancing this 
inter-dependency through service delivery and in our wider leadership role.  This 
Environment Strategy sets out the scope of our roles and responsibilities and states 
our vision, aims, objectives and targets. These will drive action to ensure we are 
meeting our environmental obligations, embedding environmental sustainability into 
the effective running of council services and fulfilling our leadership role in a way 
that recognises and minimises our environmental impact, improves the wellbeing of 
people and contributes to sustainable economic development.

The scope includes:

• The legal and statutory 

duties that we must fulfil 

regarding the environment 

and the national response to 

climate change;

• What we need to do to 

embed environmental 

sustainability into the 

effective and efficient 

running of council services; 

and

• What we need to do to 

fulfil our leadership role in 

a way that recognises and 

minimises environmental 

impacts, improves the health 

and wellbeing of people and 

contributes to the sustainable 

economic development of the 

county.

The Strategy also recognises 

the environmental issues 

that affect the Council and 

its ability to provide services 

and meet its obligations. The 

most significant issue is that 

of climate change and the 

related impacts such as an 

increase in the frequency and 

intensity of storms, flooding 

and heatwaves, prolonged cold 

periods and changes in pests 

and diseases. 

Scope

The Environment Strategy 

recognises that the Council 

has different levels of control 

and influence in managing and 

protecting the environment, 

minimising its global 

environmental impacts and 

meeting the challenges and 

opportunities of climate change. 

The scope of the Strategy 

covers both the Council’s own 

operations and also where it 

has control and influence within 

the county of Leicestershire. 

133



16 17

These impacts are expected 

to include; damage to 

infrastructure and property, 

making the movement of 

people and goods more 

difficult, an increase in human 

death, disability and injury, 

and greater food shortages and 

rising food prices.

This Strategy coordinates the 

Council’s overall approach to 

environmental management, 

recognising that there are a 

number of separate strategies 

and plans that deliver 

aspects of our environmental 

duties, responsibilities and 

commitments.

This Strategy is not a static 

document and it will be 

updated every five years. 

This five year timeframe is 

consistent with ‘stocktakes’ as 

agreed in the Paris Agreement 

and the timeframes used for 

the UK Government’s carbon 

budgets. It will allow the 

Strategy to respond to changes 

in environmental policies 

and the wider context and 

circumstances in which it 

operates.

134



16 17

“Leicestershire County Council will 

minimise the environmental impacts of its 

own activities and will contribute to the 

improvement of the wider environment 

through local action. We will continue 

to play a significant role in protecting 

and enhancing the environment of 

Leicestershire, meeting the challenges 

and opportunities of climate change, 

and seeking to embed environmental 

sustainability into both social and 

economic development in the county.” 
[Leicestershire County Council]

Our Vision

135



18 19

Our Aims

Our aims define what we as Leicestershire County Council want 

to achieve through the Environment Strategy. 

Carbon and Climate Change 
Impacts

A. Reduce our own greenhouse 

gas emissions and those of 

the wider county where we 

have influence; and

B. Take action to adapt to 

climate change and to 

minimise the impacts of 

extreme weather events 

across the county.

Resource Use and Low/Zero 
Carbon Energy

C. Reduce resource 

requirements and make 

more sustainable use of the 

resources consumed;

D. Reduce the amount of waste 

produced and minimise its 

environmental impact by 

applying the waste hierarchy 

in the priority order of: 

prevention, preparation 

for reuse, recycling, other  

recovery and disposal; and

E. Increase and support wider 

use and generation of low/

zero carbon energy.

Travel and Transport 

F. Reduce the environmental 

impacts of travel and 

transport.

Biodiversity, Habitats and 
Local Environment

G. Have due regard for 

biodiversity throughout all 

our activities and seek to 

improve the biodiversity 

value of our own land and 

influence improvements in 

the wider county;

H. Support the creation, 

protection, enhancement 

and management of 

sustainable green 

infrastructure;

I. Reduce pollution and 

contamination; and

J. Conserve and enhance the 

character, diversity and 

local distinctiveness of 

Leicestershire landscapes 

and towns, and provide 

opportunities for public 

access and the enjoyment 

of green spaces.

Community and Wellbeing

K. Support the Leicestershire 

community in reducing 

environmental impacts 

and in enhancing green 

infrastructure for health and 

wellbeing benefits;

L. Protect people from harm 

caused by climate change 

and the deteriorating 

condition of the 

environment; and 

M. Demonstrate and promote 

environmental good practice 

to show community 

leadership.

Local Economy 

N. Support action for the 

development of a low carbon 

circular economy; and

O. Support action for 

sustainable development and 

growth. 

136



18 19

Our Objectives

The objectives support and 

expand upon the aims set out 

previously, and have been set 

by:

i. Considering the 

environmental impacts of our 

actions when carrying out our 

responsibilities and duties 

and when delivering our 

services (internal objectives);

ii. Considering how our 

actions, within the limits of 

our control and influence, 

impact on the wider 

environment (external 

objectives); and

iii. Considering the 

contributions that we can 

provide in supporting wider 

national and global actions.

Our overall objectives are listed in Table 2. 

Table 2 Internal and external objectives for each aim:

Aims Internal Objectives External Objectives

Carbon and Climate Change Impacts

A. Reduce our own 
greenhouse gas emissions 
and those in the wider 
county where we have 
influence  

A1. The Council’s greenhouse 

gas emissions are 

reduced.

A2. Contribute to the 

reduction of greenhouse 

gas emissions across the 

County.

B. Take action to adapt to 
climate change and to 
minimise the impacts of 
extreme weather events 
across the county

B1. The Council increases its 

resilience to the existing 

and predicted changes in 

climate.

B2. The Council contributes to 

increasing the resilience of 

the County to the existing 

and predicted changes in 

climate.

Resource Use and Renewable Energy

C. Reduce resource 
requirements and make 
more sustainable use of 
resources consumed

C1. The Council’s procurement 

of goods, works and 

services is environmentally 

sustainable.

C3. Seek opportunities and 

work with partners to 

encourage resource 

efficiency across the 

county.C2. The Council improves the 

efficiency of the resources 

it uses.

137



20 21

Aims Internal Objectives External Objectives

Resource Use and Renewable Energy (continued)

D. Reduce the amount of 
waste produced and 
minimise its environmental 
impact by applying 
the waste hierarchy in 
the priority order of: 
prevention, preparation 
for reuse, recycling, other  
recovery, disposal

D1. The amount of waste 

produced from Council 

sites and services is 

minimised.

D3. Residual waste per 

household is reduced.

D2. The percentage of Council 

waste sent for reuse, 

recycling and composting 

is increased.

D4. The percentage of 

household waste sent 

for reuse, recycling and 

composting is increased.

E. Increase and support wider 
use and generation of low/
zero carbon energy 

E1. The Council increases its 

own use and generation of 

low/zero carbon energy.

E2. Work with partners to 

support the wider use of 

low/zero carbon energy in 

the County.

Travel and Transport

F. Reduce the environmental 
impacts of travel and 
transport

F1. Reduce the mileage 

travelled in delivering 

Council operations and 

services.

F4. Work with partners to 

reduce greenhouse gas 

and other pollutant 

emissions from the local 

transport network.

F2. Increase the proportion 

of the Council’s fleet that 

consists of less polluting 

and more efficient 

vehicles.

F3. Support sustainable travel 

options for Council staff 

commuting to work.

Biodiversity, Habitats and Local Environment

138



20 21

Aims Internal Objectives External Objectives

G. Have due regard for 
biodiversity throughout all 
our activities and seek to 
improve the biodiversity 
value of our own land and 
influence improvements in 
the wider county

G1. Improve the biodiversity of 

Council managed land and 

assets.

G4. Work with partners to 

support wider biodiversity 

improvements across 

Leicestershire.

G2. The Council will manage 

its land with nature 

conservation designations 

(SSSIs and LWS) to 

maintain their biodiversity 

value.

   

G3. The Council seeks 

to demonstrate and 

support environmentally 

sustainable farming 

practices on its farms.

H. Support the creation, 
protection, enhancement 
and management of 
sustainable green 
infrastructure

H1. The Council will create, 

protect, enhance and 

manage sustainable green 

infrastructure on its estate.

H2. The Council will 

support the creation 

protection, enhancement 

and management of 

sustainable green 

infrastructure in 

Leicestershire.

I. Reduce pollution and 
contamination 

I1. The Council reduces 

polluting emissions and 

contamination from its 

operations.

I2. The Council reduces 

pollution and 

contamination in 

Leicestershire through its 

Trading Standards service 

and other areas of control 

and influence.

J. Conserve and enhance the 
character, diversity and 
local distinctiveness of 
Leicestershire landscapes 
and towns, and provide 
opportunities for public 
access and enjoyment of 
green spaces

J1. The Council will respect, 

conserve and enhance 

the character, heritage 

and accessibility of the 

Leicestershire landscape 

on its estate.

J2. The Council will work 

with partners to support 

action that respects, 

conserves and enhances 

the character, heritage 

and accessibility of the 

Leicestershire landscape 

and towns.

Community and Wellbeing

139



22 23

Aims Internal Objectives External Objectives

K. Support the Leicestershire 
community in reducing 
environmental impacts 
and in enhancing green 
infrastructure for health 
and wellbeing benefits

K1. Utilise opportunities 

through the development 

and delivery of council 

services to reduce 

environmental impacts 

and enhance green 

infrastructure for health 

and wellbeing benefits.

K2. Work with partners 

and communities in 

Leicestershire to reduce 

environmental impacts 

and enhance green 

infrastructure for health 

and wellbeing benefits.

L. Protect people from harm 
caused by climate change 
and the deteriorating 
condition of the 
environment 

L1. Utilise our statutory and 

non-statutory duties as 

appropriate, to protect 

people from harm caused 

by climate change and the 

deteriorating condition of 

the environment.

L2. Work with partners to 

protect people from harm 

caused by climate change 

and the deteriorating 

condition of the 

environment. 

M. Demonstrate and 
promote environmental 
good practice to show 
community leadership

M1. Embed environmental 

good practice into the 

procurement and delivery 

of council services.

M2. Make others aware 

of our environmental 

performance and share 

good practice.

Local Economy

N. Support action for the 
development of a low 
carbon circular economy

N1. Support a low carbon 

circular economy through 

the procurement and 

delivery of council goods 

and services.

N2. Work with partners to 

advance opportunities 

that support a low carbon 

circular economy in 

Leicestershire.

O. Support action for 
sustainable development 
and growth

O1. Support sustainable 

development and growth 

through the procurement 

and delivery of council 

goods and services.

O2. Work with partners to 

advance opportunities 

that support sustainable 

development and growth 

in Leicestershire.

140



22 23

Environment Strategy Targets

Here we set out the high-level environmental targets of the Council for the next 12 
years where possible. Where this has not been done we will work with colleagues 
and partners to develop targets up to 2030 and to develop additional targets for the 
range of environmental aspects such as resource use, biodiversity, pollution, health 
and wellbeing and the local economy. It is important that any targets are ambitious 
yet realistic and this will take further discussions, analysis and agreement to 
accomplish. 

As a minimum, we aim 

to reduce our own GHG 

emissions in line with the UK 

Government’s carbon budgets, 

as vital steps towards 

supporting the government’s 

long-term target of an 80% 

reduction in GHG emissions 

by 2050 (measured against a 

1990 baseline). 

Achievement of these targets 

will be supported by a 

prioritised Action Plan. We 

will also establish a suite 

of supporting targets where 

appropriate. These will be set 

out within the Action Plan. 

Where possible, when setting 

the targets, a baseline of our 

performance as at 2016-17 

has been established.

• 30% reduction in greenhouse gas emissions from LCC operations by 2025*
• 38% reduction in greenhouse gas emissions from LCC operations by 2030*
• Continuous improvement in reducing the number of climate change risks with a high-risk 

score (15 or more)

* compared to 2016-17 baseline levels

Climate Change

To support the government targets, we commit to:

141



24 25

• Monitor the agreed KPIs and provide regular performance 
reports to internal stakeholders

• Produce an annual report on the Council’s overall 
environmental performance

Environmental Performance

Energy
• 15% of energy 

consumed to be from 
low/zero carbon 
energy generated on 
Council land and 
properties by 2021

• 100% clean energy 
by 2050

• Increased low/zero 
carbon energy 
generating capacity in 
Leicestershire (target 
TBD)

Transportation
• 11% reduction in total business mileage claimed by 

2023*
• Improvement in greenhouse gas emissions from 

transport (A Roads, Minor roads and other) 

Waste
• 10% reduction in waste produced from LCC 

sites by 2021*
• 70% of source-separated office waste from LCC sites 

reused, recycled or composted by 2030 
• 50% of household waste sent for reuse or recycling by 

2020

• 10% reduction in 
consumption of 
potable water by 
2021

Water

* compared to 2016-17 baseline levels

In order to achieve these overall GHG emissions targets, initial 

supporting targets have been set for specific council operations 

where these emissions arise. We have also set initial additional 

targets that will contribute to reducing the level of GHG 

emissions from within Leicestershire where we have a level of 

control and influence to do so. As these and other targets are 

further developed and refined the suite of targets will be updated 

accordingly.

We will periodically review 

these targets to consider 

relevant updates provided 

by the UK Government, 

and ensure that the targets 

represent a continuous 

improvement in our 

performance.

142



24 25

Monitoring and managing change

Performance monitoring of the Strategy will continue to be managed through the 
Council’s Environmental Management System, (which has been developed in line 
with ISO 14001 requirements), together with a number of supporting performance 
management systems. This will include performance monitoring of the high level 
targets set out in the Strategy and the additional supporting targets and KPIs which 
form part of the Action Plan. 

Progress towards the targets 

using the KPI data will be 

regularly reported to a range 

of internal stakeholders. In 

addition, an environmental 

performance summary report 

will be published on the 

Council’s website each year.

Where targets, KPIs or 

monitoring systems have yet 

to be established these will be 

developed through the Action 

Plan process in consultation 

with relevant officers and 

partners. In particular we will 

develop additional targets and 

KPIs to support environmental 

aspects such as resource use, 

biodiversity, pollution, health 

and wellbeing and the local 

economy. This will allow the 

targets to be measurable and 

monitored throughout the life 

of the strategy to demonstrate 

progress and achievement.

143



26 27

How the Environment Strategy contributes to the                           
Council’s Strategic Plan 

Leicestershire County Council recently launched its 
Strategic Plan 2018-22 entitled ‘Working together 
for the benefit of everyone’.  The Strategic Plan takes 
an outcome based approach which focusses on the 
difference the Council wants to make. In doing so 
it has developed five strategic outcomes essential 
for achieving the vision of a good quality of life in 
Leicestershire. 

144



26 27

The Environment Strategy will cut across each of the strategic outcomes and will contribute to the 

achievement of the outcomes. The table below summarises some of the key strategy contributions:

Table 1 Key contributions of  the Environment Strategy to the Strategic Plan 2018-22  
outcomes.

Strategic Plan  
Outcome

How Environment Strategy contributes

Strong 
Economy

Leicestershire’s 

economy is 

growing and 

resilient so 

that people 

and businesses 

can fulfil their 

potential.

By contributing to a reduction in carbon emissions and helping to mitigate and 

adapt to the impacts of climate change which are predicted to have significant 

negative impacts on the economy.

By identifying local business opportunities that will arise from the move 

towards a low carbon future e.g. renewable energy, sustainable transport, smart 

technologies, research and development.

By seeking to address concerns around energy security and energy costs by 

identifying opportunities for local energy generation and distribution.

By supporting the more sustainable use of resources and greater resource 

efficiency and enabling reductions in costs for businesses.

By supporting efforts that recognise the valuable contribution that the natural 

environment makes to the economy particularly the rural, leisure and tourism 

economies.

By supporting work to reduce biodiversity loss and increase biodiversity where 

possible and therefore supporting the local agriculture and food industries that 

depend on biodiversity.

By identifying business opportunities that will arise from the move towards a 

circular economy.

Wellbeing and 
Opportunity 

The people of 

Leicestershire 

have the 

opportunities 

and support 

they need to 

take control of 

their health and 

wellbeing.

By supporting the creation, protection, enhancement and accessibility of 

sustainable green infrastructure which provides natural environments for people 

to enjoy and contribute towards their health and wellbeing.

By taking action to mitigate and adapt to climate change and therefore 

contribute to reducing the risks from climate change on people’s health and 

wellbeing particularly from severe weather events and disease.

By supporting action to improve air quality and therefore reducing the health 

impacts associated with poor air quality.

By taking action which will reduce biodiversity loss and help mitigate the 

consequences of food shortages and related health effects.

145



28 29

Strategic Plan  
Outcome

How Environment Strategy contributes

Keeping People 
Safe

People in 

Leicestershire 

are safe and 

protected from 

harm.

By taking action to mitigate and adapt to climate change and therefore 

contribute to reducing the risk of harm to people from climate change for 

example flooding and heatwaves.

By supporting action to improve air quality and therefore contributing to 

reducing the number of deaths associated with poor air quality.

By taking action to reduce pollution and contamination where possible and to 

mitigate their impact therefore reducing the risk of harm to people.

Great 
Communities 
Leicestershire 

communities 

are thriving 

and integrated 

places where 

people help and 

support each 

other and take 

pride in their 

local area.

By supporting communities to reduce their environmental impacts.

By identifying opportunities for communities to support each other in mitigating 

and adapting to climate change.

By working with communities to create, protect, enhance and manage local 

green infrastructure and biodiversity.

By supporting communities with the move towards low emissions vehicles and 

technologies.

By supporting opportunities for communities to be more self-sufficient and 

sustainable.

By working with partners to support action that respects, conserves and 

enhances the character, heritage and accessibility of the Leicestershire 

landscape and towns.

Affordable and 
Quality Homes 
Leicestershire 

has a choice of 

quality homes 

that people can 

afford.

By encouraging the provision of low carbon housing which can be cheaper to 

build and run.

By encouraging the construction of more sustainable and lifelong housing.

By supporting residents to be more resource efficient in terms of energy and 

water use therefore reducing the cost of running a home.

By encouraging the provision of housing that enables more sustainable access 

to local services, green spaces, transport and employment and minimises and/

or mitigates the impact of developments on the natural environment.

In order to achieve its overall strategic vision of ‘Working together for the benefit of everyone’ the 

Council has committed to a set of guiding principles which will shape its approach and define 

how it works as an organisation to achieve this vision.  These principles include a commitment 

to contribute positively to the environment. This Strategy provides a framework for how this 

commitment will be achieved.

146



28 29

Governance

Ongoing delivery of the Environment Strategy will 
be overseen by chief officers sitting as the Corporate 
Management Team (CMT).

The Environment Strategy 

Delivery Board will establish 

project-specific task & finish 

groups to drive progress 

which will be reported to 

the Environment & Transport 

Lead Member and to CMT, 

while the Environment 

and Transport Overview 

and Scrutiny Committee 

will review performance 

periodically.

With CMT’s support, specific 

activities and programmes 

of work supporting the 

aims and objectives of the 

Environment Strategy will be 

the responsibility of relevant 

service area leads. This will 

reflect specific actions within 

the different service areas and 

wider initiatives with strategic 

partners and others. 

The Environment Strategy 

will be implemented by the 

Environment Strategy Delivery 

Board, chaired by the Assistant 

Director for Environment & 

Waste. Board members will 

be drawn from relevant Heads 

of Service, Team Managers 

or officers involved directly in 

specific projects/initiatives set 

out in the Action Plan. The 

board will engage with external 

partners to support the delivery 

of the Strategy and Action Plan 

and will promote partnership 

working where appropriate. 

Membership therefore remains 

flexible to the priorities outlined 

in the Action Plan which will be 

reviewed on an annual basis.

147



30 31

148



30 31

Appendix 1 Summary of Council’s rationale for taking action on 
environmental issues

Environmental 
Issue

Description Rationale for Action

Greenhouse Gas 
Emissions & 
Climate Change

The release of GHG into the 

atmosphere, mainly from the 

use of fossil fuels, results 

in them acting as a thermal 

blanket around the Earth. 

This in turn is causing an 

increase in average global 

temperatures and resulting in 

changes to the climate.

• Increased risk of disruption to our critical 

services from extreme weather events;

• Vulnerable people in the community are 

particularly susceptible to the effects of 

climate change;

• Increased risk of damage to the Council’s 

highway assets;

• Support our responsibilities as the Lead 

Local Flood Authority;

• Responsibility to play an active role in 

helping to meet national and international 

carbon reduction targets; and

• Need to support the local economy in 

moving to a low carbon future and minimise 

the financial and reputational costs that 

would otherwise occur.

149



32 33

Environmental 
Issue

Description Rationale for Action

Air Pollution Increasing level of pollutants 

in the air that we breathe 

from road traffic, industrial 

processes and combustion 

of fuels for heating and 

electricity generation, 

resulting in serious public 

health impacts. Air pollution 

emanating in Leicestershire 

also affects people across a 

much wider area.

• Increased costs for Public Health due to rise 

in illnesses caused by air pollution.

• Increased costs for Social Services 

supporting people living with debilitating 

diseases caused by air pollution.

• Increase in deaths linked to air pollution.

• The Council, in its role as the Highway 

Authority, has a statutory duty to address 

air pollution from traffic.

• The Council contributes to local air pollution 

through the operation of its buildings and 

vehicles.

• Responsibility to prevent harm.

Waste & 
Resources

The economy and society 

consume resources (e.g. 

energy, water, land, materials) 

in order to meet the needs 

of an increasing growing 

population. This consumption 

causes a reduction in finite 

resources and a loss of, and 

damage to, natural resources. 

It also results in the 

production of an increasing 

amount of waste throughout 

the whole system. This largely 

linear economic model has 

significant environmental 

impacts.

• The Council is the statutory Waste Disposal 

Authority responsible for the recycling and 

disposal of the county’s household waste;

• The Council is responsible for preparing a 

Minerals and Waste Local Plan to control 

the development of waste and minerals 

sites in the county;

• The Council’s Trading Standards service 

is responsible for enforcing some waste 

regulations eg. Packaging Regulations;

• The Council uses a significant amount of 

resources and produces waste both from its 

offices and through its operations;

• It costs an increasing amount of money to 

manage the Council’s and County’s waste; 

and

• Need to support the move to a circular 

economy that maximises the value of 

resources and minimises the environmental 

costs.

150



32 33

Environmental 
Issue

Description Rationale for Action

Water & Land 
Pollution and 
Nuisance 
(noise, dust, 
vibrations, 
odour)

The release of pollutants 

and contaminants into water 

and land can pose a major 

health threat to humans 

and biodiversity. The use of 

machinery, equipment and 

products can also cause a 

nuisance by creating noise, 

dust and other impacts.

• The Council carries out activities that carry 

a risk of spillages and subsequent pollution;

• The Council is legally required to ensure the 

safe use of fuels and chemicals, to prevent 

pollution events and to have procedures in 

place for dealing with spillages;

• Reputational and financial cost of dealing 

with a pollution event; and

• The Council has a responsibility to avoid 

or minimise the nuisance caused to local 

people by its actions.

Biodiversity 
Loss

There has been a major 

increase in the scale of 

biodiversity loss caused 

mainly by climate change, 

deforestation and habitat 

loss, overexploitation, invasive 

species, pesticides and 

pollution. 

This is also leading to 

a decline in ecosystem 

functioning and stability 

- resulting in reduced 

crop yields, increased soil 

erosion, loss of dependable 

water supplies, a decline in 

pollinators and ever more 

serious assaults by pests. 

This in turn leads to increased 

air pollution, reduced food 

production and a lowering of 

human life expectancy. 

• The Council has a statutory responsibility to 

take due regard of biodiversity in all of its 

decisions and activities;

• The Council has specific responsibilities 

to care for its land where it has been 

designated as important for wildlife;

• As a significant landowner in Leicestershire, 

the Council has an opportunity to make 

a positive contribution to biodiversity 

protection and improvement;

• Leicestershire is a rural county and the food 

sector is one of the county’s main industries 

so will be affected by any reductions in crop 

yields and difficulties in food production;

• Leicestershire has a number of significant 

natural assets such as the National Forest 

and Charnwood Forest which contribute 

to the local rural, leisure and tourism 

economy. These need to be protected and 

enhanced; and

• To protect Leicestershire residents from the 

consequences of food shortages and the 

health effects of biodiversity loss.

151



34 35

Environmental 
Issue

Description Rationale for Action

Landscape & 
Heritage

The quality of the local 

landscape and the built 

environment are major 

contributors to health, 

wellbeing and quality of life.  

• The Council has a responsibility to provide 

a quality environment for Leicestershire 

residents through its role as the Highways 

Authority, its responsibility to control waste 

and minerals sites and management of its 

own land and buildings etc; and

• The Council manages several Country Parks 

that provide important accessible green 

spaces for leisure and contact with nature.

152



34 35

Glossary

Term Definition

Carbon Dioxide 

Equivalent (CO2e)

Is a standard unit for measuring carbon footprints.  It expresses the impact 

of each different greenhouse gas in terms of the amount of CO2 that would 

create the same amount of warming.

Circular Economy A more resource efficient alternative to a traditional linear economy (make, 

use, dispose) where resources are used for as long as possible, the maximum 

value is extracted whilst in use, then products and materials are recovered, 

regenerated or recycled at the end of their service life.

Clean Growth 

Strategy

The UK’s strategy for clean growth including opportunities for the UK and 

next steps to meet the future carbon budgets. 

Climate Change 

Act 2008

The Act ensures that the net UK carbon account for all six Kyoto greenhouse 

gases for the year 2050 is at least 80% lower than the 1990 baseline. The 

Act aims to enable the United Kingdom to become a low-carbon economy 

and gave ministers powers to introduce the measures necessary to achieve a 

range of greenhouse gas reduction targets. 

Climate Change 

Risk Register 

Score

All Council services and operations are subject to a Climate Change Risk 

Assessment based on a number of factors including criticality of the service, 

direct impacts from severe weather and vulnerable service users. The 

Climate Change Risk Resister score is used to highlight any high risks to be 

reviewed further. 

Climate Local Climate Local was an LGA initiative launched in 2012 which was supported 

by the Environment Agency Climate Ready service. The aim was to drive, 

inspire and support council action on climate change. 

Environmental 

Management 

System

Refers to the management of an organisations environmental programmes in 

a comprehensive, systematic, planned and documented manner. In the UK, 

the Environmental Management Systems standard is based on ISO 14001. 

153



36 37

Term Definition

Euro VI standard The most recent vehicle emissions standard which sets the level of emissions 

of carbon dioxide and a range of other pollutants that all new cars must meet.

Greenhouse Gases Constitute a group of gases which contribute to global warming and 

climate change. Includes carbon dioxide, methane, nitrous oxide, 

hydrofluorocarbons, sulphur hexafluoride, perfluorocarbons, and nitrogen 

trifluoride.

Green 

Infrastructure

The network of multi-functional green space, both new and existing, both 

rural and urban, which supports the natural and ecological processes and is 

integral to the health and quality of life of sustainable communities. We also 

include ‘blue infrastructure’ (landscape elements linked to water) within our 

use of this phrase.

International 

Union for 

Conservation of 

Nature

A membership Union uniquely composed of both government and civil 

society organisations. It provides public, private and non-governmental 

organisations with the knowledge and tools that enable human progress, 

economic development and nature conservation to take place together.

ISO 14001 Is the international standard that specifies requirements for an effective 

environmental management system. It provides a framework that an 

organisation can follow, rather than establishing environmental performance 

requirements.

Low Carbon 

Economy

An economy based on low carbon power sources that therefore has a 

minimal output of greenhouse gas emissions into the biosphere, reducing the 

principle cause of man-made climate change.

Natural Capital The world’s stock of natural assets which includes geology, soil, air, water 

and all living things. 

Nottingham 

Declaration on 

Climate Change

A declaration signed by over 300 councils in the year 2000 signalling their 

political commitment to tackling climate change. 

Paris Agreement Is an agreement within the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate 

Change (UNFCCC) dealing with greenhouse gas emissions mitigation, 

adaptation and finance starting in 2020. It aims to respond to the global 

climate change threat by keeping a global temperature rise this century well 

below 2 degrees Celsius above pre-industrial levels and to pursue efforts to 

limit the temperature increase even further to 1.5 degrees Celsius.

Potable Water Water that is safe to drink or to use for food preparation. 

Sustainable 

Development 

Goals

In 2015, countries adopted a set of goals to end poverty, protect the planet 

and ensure prosperity for all as part of a new sustainable development 

agenda. Each goal has specific targets to be achieved over the next 15 years.  

These goals are known as the Sustainable Development Goals. 

154



36 37

Acronyms

CMT Corporate Management Team

CO2 Carbon Dioxide

CO2e Carbon Dioxide Equivalent

CRoW Countryside & Rights of Way Act 2000

EMS Environmental Management System

GHG Greenhouse Gas

KPI Key Performance Indicator

LCC Leicestershire County Council

LED Light Emitting Diode

LWS Local Wildlife Sites

NERC Natural Environment & Rural Communities Act

SSSI Site of Special Scientific Interest

TBD To Be Developed

155



Designed and produced by Wood plc S0201 Environment Strategy 39931-Lon02e 04.indd

156



Start End

Engage with Departments to understand what actions they are taking to 

ensure the development of council projects take into account climate 

change impacts and resilience.

Env Team All Depts Jul-18 Mar-19 B1

Carry out a review of the current understanding within LCC of what is 

required in order to improve the resilience of Council services, and local 

communities against the predicted impacts of climate change.
Env Team

Business Continuity Team, 

Resilience Partnership, 

LCC,Partners

Jan-19 Mar-19 B1

Find out what work is taking place to support communities at risk of 

flooding to be more actively involved in the management of risk in their 

area.

Env Team Flood Team Sep-18 Oct-18 B1

Identify opportunities to further reduce polluting emissions and 

contamination from LCC operations.
Env Team All Depts Aug-18 Mar-21

A1

A2

I1

Continue to maintain and review the Council's Climate Change Risk 

Register.
Env Team All Depts Apr-18 Mar-21 B1

Sign up to the UK 100 Pledge. E&T Property May-18 May-18

A1

E1

E2

Develop plan for how LCC will meet UK100 Pledge. E&T Property, LLEP Jul-18 Dec-18

A1

E1

E2

Identify and implement renewable energy opportunities across public 

sector estates, partnering with communities and businesses as 

appropriate

Env Team Property, LLEP, Finance Jan-19 Mar-21

A2

B2

E2

I2

Resource Use & Renewable Energy

Timescale

Environment Strategy Working High Level 3 Year Action Plan 2018-2021

Theme / Action Lead Partners
Objectives 

Supported

Carbon & Climate Change Impacts

$kgbo21cw.xls
Action Plan

20/06/18 1 of 7

157



Start End

Timescale

Environment Strategy Working High Level 3 Year Action Plan 2018-2021

Theme / Action Lead Partners
Objectives 

Supported

Work with partners to support the wider use of low/zero carbon energy 

in the County following production of Energy Infrastructure Strategy.
LLEP LCC, LCityC Oct-18 Mar-21

A2

B2

E2

I2

Explore options to increase the number of low and zero carbon 

developments in the county.
E&T

Planning, Economic 

Development, Districts, 
Apr-19 Mar-20

A2

E2

E2

I2

Work with Procurement to progress efforts for LCC to adopt the 

Government's Sustainable Buying Standards.
Env Team Procurement Jun-18 Mar-19

C1

O1

N0

If adopted work with Procurement to ensure that the Government 

Sustainable Buying Standards mandatory requirements are used 

effectively in the procurement process.

E&T Procurement Mar-19 Mar-21

C1

O1

N1

Develop revised Municipal Waste Management Strategy for 

Leicestershire.
E&T Districts Sep-18 Mar-20

C3

D4

Carry out research into what could be done to encourage resource 

efficiency across the wider county.
Env Team All Depts, Partners Apr-19 Mar-20

C2

C3

D3

D4

Continue to deliver Council's Water Strategy. Property All Depts Jul-18 Mar-21 C2

Explore feasibility of developing and delivering a water efficiency 

programme of projects that delivers water reduction measures within 

the Council/County.

Env Team
Property, Economic 

Development, Water Companies
Apr-19 Mar-20 C2

Explore options for reducing the use of single use plastics within the 

Council.
Env Team Procurement, Catering Oct-18 Mar-19

C1

C2

C3

C4

$kgbo21cw.xls
Action Plan

20/06/18 2 of 7

158



Start End

Timescale

Environment Strategy Working High Level 3 Year Action Plan 2018-2021

Theme / Action Lead Partners
Objectives 

Supported

Continue to deliver in-house, waste management, recycling and 

composting services.
Property Env Team, All Depts Apr-18 Mar-21

C2

D1

D2

Continue to deliver Council's Energy Strategy. Property All Depts Apr-18 Mar-21

A1

A2

E1

E2

Continue efforts to reduce energy use for street lighting and traffic 

signals.
Highways Suppliers, Communities Apr-18 Mar-21

A1 

A2

Maximise opportunities to increase the use of recycled aggregates for 

highways works.
Highways Contractors, Procurement Apr-18 Mar-21

C1

C2

D1

Continue efforts to reduce business mileage across the Council. E&T All Depts Jul-18 Mar-21 F1

Identify opportunities for further reducing operational mileage within 

the Council.
Env Team All Depts Oct-18 Mar-21 F1

Continue to encourage and promote sustainable travel options for 

council staff commuting to work.
Sus Travel Team All Depts Jul-18 Mar-21 F3

Increase the proportion of the council’s fleet that meet Euro VI standard 

or above.
Fleet Team All Depts, Suppliers Jul-18 Mar-21

A1

F2

Work with Fleet Team to explore options for including Ultra Low 

Emissions Vehicles in the Council fleet.
E&T Fleet Team Jan-19 Mar-20

A1

F2

Implement E&T pilot Electric Vehicle Pool car Project. Env Team Fleet Team, Admin Team May-18 May-19
A1

F2

Support partners in improving air quality on the local transport network. E&T
LCityC, Districts, Private Bus 

Companies
Jul-18 Mar-21 F4

Transport & Travel

$kgbo21cw.xls
Action Plan

20/06/18 3 of 7

159



Start End

Timescale

Environment Strategy Working High Level 3 Year Action Plan 2018-2021

Theme / Action Lead Partners
Objectives 

Supported

Develop policy position on the LCC role in encouraging and enabling the 

take up of Ultra Low Emission Vehicles in the County.
E&T Districts Jul-18 Mar-19 F4

Explore options for encouraging the take up of Ultra Low Emissions 

Vehicles in the County.
E&T Districts, Partners Jan-19 Mar-20

A2

F4

Explore opportunities to demonstrate and support environmentally 

sustainable farming practices on county farms.
Env Team

County Farms Team, CFE, FWAG, 

NFU
Apr-19 Mar-20

G1

G2

J1

Develop and deliver the Ash Dieback Action Plan. E&T Property, Highways, Planning Apr-18 Mar-21 G4

Protect local trees by continuing to deliver Council's TPO function. Env Team Planning, Districts Apr-18 Mar-21
G1

G2

Protect and enhance the Leicestershire landscape by providing technical 

landscape design and advice.
Env Team

Planning, Highways, Districts, 

EMPF, Woodland Trust, Other 

Depts

Apr-18 Mar-21

G4

H2

J2

Support delivery of countywide Flytipping Campaign. Waste Team Districts Apr-18 Mar-19

K2

L1

L2

Complete the development phase of the Charnwood Forest HLF 

Landscape partnership bid.

National Forest 

Company

E&T, Country Parks, Economic 

Development, LRWT, NWLDC, 

CBC, HBBC

Apr-18 Oct-19
J1

J2

Participate in a range of Green Infrastructure Partnerships to support 

biodiversity improvement and sustainable green infrastructure projects 

in Leicestershire.

Env Team CFRP, RSGUCP, RSCP, GIP, Apr-18 Mar-21
H1

H2

Develop plan to maintain biodiversity of Local Wildlife Sites on the 

council estate.
Env Team Highways, Planning, Property Apr-18 Mar-19

G1

G2

Biodiversity, Habitats & Local Environment

$kgbo21cw.xls
Action Plan

20/06/18 4 of 7

160



Start End

Timescale

Environment Strategy Working High Level 3 Year Action Plan 2018-2021

Theme / Action Lead Partners
Objectives 

Supported

Continue to work with volunteers on projects that support biodiversity 

improvements and sustainable green infrastructure.
Env Team

Parish Councils, Districts, Tree 

Council
Apr-18 Mar-21

G4

H2

J2

K2

L2

Collate available data to improve biodiversity corridors in Leicestershire Env Team
Districts, LRWT, City Council, 

Planning
Jan-19 Mar-21

G1

G2

Examine potential of developing a countywide environmental volunteer 

scheme.
Env team

Waste Team, Communities 

Team
Oct-18 Mar-19 M2

Provide Environmental Awareness training course for LCC staff. Env Team L&D May-18 Mar-21 M1

Support the delivery of the Food Plan. PH & E&T All Depts Nov-17 Mar-21
B1

B2

Deliver Shire Climate Change Grant Scheme. Env Team Comms Apr-18 Mar-21

A1

A2

B1

B2

Develop understanding of how Council can work with partners and 

communities to reduce environmental impacts and enhance green 

infrastructure for health and wellbeing benefits.

Env team All Depts, Partners Oct-18 Mar-19

H2

J2

K2

L2

Identify and share environmental good practice in the development and 

delivery of council services.
Env team All Depts Jul-18 Mar-21 M2

Work with the LLEP to embed the low carbon and circular economy into 

the Local Industrial Strategy.
LLEP LCC, LCityC Jul-18 Mar-19

N2

O2

Identify opportunities to support a low carbon circular economy through 

the delivery and procurement of council goods and services.
E&T Procurement Apr-19 Mar-21 N1

Community & Wellbeing

Local Economy

$kgbo21cw.xls
Action Plan

20/06/18 5 of 7

161



Start End

Timescale

Environment Strategy Working High Level 3 Year Action Plan 2018-2021

Theme / Action Lead Partners
Objectives 

Supported

Identify key partners and available mechanisms for advancing 

opportunities that support a low carbon circular economy and support 

sustainable development and growth.

Env Team Economic Development, LLEP Oct-18 Mar-19
N2

O2

Work with the LLEP and Leicester City Council to develop Energy 

Infrastructure Strategy for the LLEP area.
LLEP LCC, LCityC Mar-18 Sep-18

A1

E1

E2

Continue to identify, seek and secure additional funding opportunities to 

develop and deliver the vision, aims and objectives of the Environment 

Strategy.

Env Team All Depts Jul-18 Mar-21 All

Deliver internal Go Green Scheme. Env Team Waste Team Apr-18 Mar-21
D1

D2

Continue to maintain and review the Council's Environment Risk 

Register.
Env Team All Depts Apr-18 Mar-21 M1

Maintain and operate the Council's EMS. Env Team All Depts Apr-18 Mar-21 M1

Support services to maintain or achieve ISO14001 accreditation. Env Team All Depts Apr-18 Mar-21 M1

Maintain and improve the environmental performance management 

system.
Env Team All Depts Apr-18 Mar-21 M1

Produce environmental performance dashboards. Env Team All Depts Apr-18 Mar-21
M1

M2

Carry out a review of all Environment Strategy KPIs. Env Team All Depts Jul-18 Mar-19
M1

M2

Continue to update and add new targets and KPIs as new evidence is 

gathered and agreement is reached with action owners.
Env Team All Depts Jul-18 Mar-21

M1

M2

Produce annual Environmental Performance Report. Env Team All Depts Dec-18 Dec-19 M2

Reporting

Crosscutting

Performance Monitoring

$kgbo21cw.xls
Action Plan

20/06/18 6 of 7

162



Start End

Timescale

Environment Strategy Working High Level 3 Year Action Plan 2018-2021

Theme / Action Lead Partners
Objectives 

Supported

Publish annual Environmental Performance Report on LCC website. Env Team Digital Team Dec-18 Dec-19 M2

Produce quarterly Environmental Performance Reports. Env Team All Depts Jul-18 Mar-20 M2

Produce annual Greenhouse Gas Report. Env Team All Depts Dec-18 Dec-19 M2

Provide reports as required to internal governance and oversight bodies. Env Team ESDB, CMT, ETOSC, LM Jul-18 Mar-20 M2

Establish Environment Strategy Delivery Board. Env Team All Depts Jul-18 Oct-18
M1

M2

Develop Terms of Reference for ESDB. Env Team ESDB Jul-18 Oct-18
M1

M2

Agree initial membership of ESDB. Env Team All Depts Jul-18 Oct-18
M1

M2

Hold First meeting of ESDB. Env Team All Depts Sep-18 Oct-18
M1

M2

Governance

Miscellaneous

$kgbo21cw.xls
Action Plan

20/06/18 7 of 7

163



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Organisation / Department Org Type

Blaby District Council 

Charnwood District Council

Harborough District Council

Hinckley and Bosworth District Council

Melton District Council

North West Leicestershire District Council

Oadby & Wigston District Council

LLEP Other Public Body

Leicester City Council Other Public Body

National Forest Other Public Body

Natural England Other Public Body

Public Health England East Midlands Other Public Body

Loughborough University Other Public Body

De Montford University Other Public Body

Leicester University Other Public Body

Sustainable Harborough Voluntary Community Sector

Voluntary Action Leicestershire (VAL) Voluntary Community Sector

Rural Community Council (RCC) Voluntary Community Sector

National Farmers Union Voluntary Community Sector

Green Fox Voluntary Community Sector

LR Wildlife Trust Voluntary Community Sector

Leicestershire Rural Partnership Voluntary Community Sector

Youth Council Voluntary Community Sector

165



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	1 Minutes of the meeting held on 31 May 2018.
	8 Response to Petition: Request to Improve Road Safety at Moira School.
	9 Additional Highways Maintenance Funding.
	10 Melton Mowbray Distributor Road.
	Appendix A - recommended route
	Appendix B EHRIA screening assessment
	Appendix C - Environmental Constraints
	Appendix D Environmental Impacts and Mitigations

	11 Ash Dieback Action Plan.
	Appendix - Ash Die Back Action Plan

	12 Environment Strategy 2018-2030.
	Appendix A Environment Strategy Final
	Appendix B Action Plan
	Appendix C List of External Stakeholders consulted


